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Today, in business, everything starts with consumers. How do they get 
their information? What do they do in their spare time? How do they 

make their purchases? New consumer habits and values are shaping 

the economy on a daily basis. 

Through its customer-centric culture, Transcontinental naturally 

keeps pace with evolving consumer demands. 

First, to better fulfill its role as marketing advisor to its 

business or advertising customers by helping them more effectively 

reach and keep their target consumers. But also by serving, every 

month, some 18 million readers of its magazines and newspapers 

across Canada, and six million unique visitors to its websites and 

portals. Through this daily interactive relationship with consumers 

and the attendant enrichment of our databases, we have developed 

expertise and ways to serve our customers better.

What do consumers want? Services that meet their needs and 

interests, on demand, on the media of their choice.

Along with its customers,  
Transcontinental is listening to consumers. 

“
“
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Printing of the San 
Francisco Chronicle 
starts in July. 

Two new six-year 
contracts with Rogers 
Communications take 
effect early in 2009.

Coup de pouce 
celebrates  
its 25th  
anniversary 
and Elle 
Québec its 
20th  
anniversary.  

Launch of weblocal.ca, a pan Canadian  

interactive web portal search site. 

Website revenues up 30% in 2009  

compared to 2008.

The Hockey News, Canadian Living, Métro, 

Les Affaires, Finance et Investissement, 

Investment Executive, can now be accessed 

via mobile technology.
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Modernization of the Transcontinental 
Transmag plant in Montreal.
The establishment of a unique Canada-wide 
newspaper and flyer printing network.

135

Number of employees  
per division

Custom Communications 

Premedia 

Digital Printing Solutions 

One-to-One Marketing Solutions 

Digital Promotions 

Creation, in November 2008, of the  

Marketing Communications Sector.

Acquisitions of Redwood Custom  

Communications and Conversys.

Appointment of Christian Trudeau as sector 

President.

In November 2009, the Canadian commercial 

printing and direct mail operations groups 

are transferred to the Printing Sector.

2009, at   a glance!
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2009, at   a glance!

Highlights

For fiscal years ended October 31 (Unaudited)
(in millions of dollars, except per share data)

   Variation
 2009 2008 (1) in % 

 Operations
  Revenues $2,294.6  $2,429.3  -6%
  Adjusted operating income before amortization (2) (3) 349.3  361.5  -3%
  Operating income (loss) (38.7)  14.3     n/a
  Adjusted operating income (2) (4) 211.9  233.8  -9%
  Net income (loss) (81.8)  6.6     n/a
  Net income (loss) applicable to participating shares (5) (82.3)  6.6     n/a
  Adjusted net income applicable to participating shares (2) (6) 130.2  140.3  -7%
  Cash flow from operating activities before changes  
   in non-cash operating items 247.5  296.9  -17%
  Cash flow related to operating activities 78.8  284.0  -72%

 Investments
  Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment 261.9  228.7  15%
  Business acquisitions (7) 14.4  67.3  -79%

 Financial condition
  Total assets 2,549.7  2,615.0  -2%
  Net indebtedness (2) (8) 792.1  705.7  12%
  Shareholders’ equity 1,115.2  1,103.0  1%
  Net indebtedness (including utilization of securitization program) /  
   adjusted operating income before amortization (3) 2.59  2.64  -2%
  Net indebtedness ratio 42% 39%  3%

 Per share data (basic)
  Net income (loss) applicable to participating shares (2) (5) (1.02) 0.08     n/a
  Adjusted net income applicable to participating shares (2) (6) 1.61  1.72  -6%
  Cash flow from operating activities before changes  
   in non-cash operating items 3.06  3.63  -16%
  Cash flow related to operating activities 0.97  3.48  -72%
  Dividends on participating shares 0.32  0.31  2%
  Shareholders’ equity 13.80  13.65  1%

 Average number of participating shares outstanding (in millions) 80.8  81.7 

 Number of participating shares at year-end (in millions)     80.8  80.8 

(1)  Balance sheet items as at October 31, 2008 were adjusted (See Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements).
(2)  Please refer to the section “Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures” on page 52 of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis.
(3)   Adjusted operating income before amortization refers to operating income before amortization, impairment of assets and restructuring costs and impairment  

    of goodwill and intangible assets.
(4)  Adjusted operating income refers to operating income before impairment of assets and restructuring costs and impairment of goodwill and intangible assets.
(5)  Net income (loss) applicable to participating shares refers to net income (loss) minus accumulated dividends on preferred shares.
(6)   Adjusted net income applicable to participating shares refers to net income (loss) applicable to participating shares before impairment of assets and restructuring  

    costs and impairment of goodwill and intangible assets less related income taxes and unusual adjustments to income taxes.
(7)  Total consideration in cash or otherwise for businesses acquired through the purchase of shares or assets.
(8)   Net indebtedness refers to long-term debt plus current portion of long-term debt plus bank overdraft less cash and temporary investments.
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We are all   this and much more
Printing

The Printing Sector comprises  
all printing activities (printing of 

marketing products, newspapers,  

flyers, books and catalogues, magazines 

and more). Transcontinental is the  

largest printer in Canada and in Mexico, 

and sixth-largest in North America.  

Following the most recent  

restructuring in November 2009,  

the Printing Sector has annualized  

revenues of $1.57 billion and  

8,600 employees.
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We are all   this and much more

Marketing
Communications

The Marketing Communications Sector 
provides advertising services and  

marketing products using new  

communications platforms (Internet and 

mobile, etc.). It covers database  

analytics, premedia, e-flyers,  

permission-based email marketing, and  

custom communications. Following the most 

recent restructuring in November 2009, 

the Marketing Communications Sector  

has annualized revenues of about 

$120 million and more than 800 employees.
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his year I address you after a fiscal year marked by a severe recession in North America. Few industries or companies 

made it through unscathed. The entire world economy was affected. 

This is the context that must be taken into account when judging our performance in 2009. What are the most important elements?

In general, Transcontinental did better than most of its competitors in revenues and earnings. It is particularly encouraging 

to note that our profitability improved each quarter and that we ended the year with a strong fourth quarter. Our adjusted operating 

income before amortization, excluding unusual items, grew steadily and culminated in 15% growth in the fourth quarter despite a 

9% decrease in revenues. In the last two quarters in 2009, when the economy was still struggling, we did better than our perfor-

mance in 2008. 

Because of that performance, and compared to 2008, we largely regained the ground we lost in the first two quarters 

when the recession was at its worst.

What do consumers want today? Services that meet their needs and interests, on 

demand, on the media of their choice. That’s why Transcontinental has added digital 

communication platforms and one-to-one advertising to its product and service  

offering in recent years. For us, this is a natural evolution that is in keeping  

with our ongoing mission to help advertisers identify, reach and keep their target 

consumers. 

T
Rémi Marcoux,  

Executive Chairman  

of the Board  

and Founder,  

Transcontinental Inc.

A  
Na tu r a l  

E v o l u t i o n
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I wish to immediately congratulate François Olivier 

and his management team, who quickly applied the right ratio

nalization measures while continuing to pursue our growth 

strategy. These measures generated recurring savings of about 

$110 million a year, including close to $80 million in 2009. I would 

also like to thank everyone in our three operating sectors and  

at head office. Once again, their commitment to the higher  

interests of the company and to all employees, their creative 

drive and their ability to execute made all the difference.

Key lessons of the recession

When the economy is down, as it has been this past year, we 

are moved to look back and reflect. For businesses, an eco

nomic downturn is a revealing test of resilience and potential 

for development.

Recessions are a cyclical phenomenon. Since its  

inception, Transcontinental has weathered three of them. We 

have also lived through a technological revolution, the expan

sion of the Internet and new communication platforms, intense 

consoli dation that is still underway in North American printing 

and publishing industries, globalization and the rise of emerg

ing economies. There was also for several years the un pre c

edented negative impact of the exchange rate, until rates  

became positive again in 2009. 

What are the key lessons that I draw from these expe

riences? What has guided us through the past year and holds 

promise for Transcontinental going forward? 

The first is that we must never lose sight of the corpo

ration’s longterm development, despite shortterm negative 

impacts and pressures. In the first two recessions Transcon

tinental was growing quickly and we maintained our pace  

despite the sluggish stock markets. If we had not done so, 

Transcontinental would not be the size it is today, and that size 

has benefited its shareholders for a long period of time. Our 

management of the recent recession is another example of our 

focus. We continued to invest prudently and judiciously in our 

future by making strategic acquisitions and adopting the latest 

technologies.

The second key lesson is a corollary of the first: when 

credit is tight, our financial credibility is a highly valuable asset. 

Transcontinental has always maintained a careful balance  

between profits, costs, debt and investments. Through good 

times and bad. It is that reputation, coupled with our leading 

position in our niches, that enabled us to arrange financing of 

$888 million in 2009, and to do so at competitive rates.

The third key lesson we can draw from the past is  

that the solidarity of our senior managers and employees is a  

special strength of Transcontinental. Our people demonstrated 

this again over the past year by introducing a broad range  

of initiatives to improve efficiency, reduce costs and serve our 

customers better, whether those customers are businesses, 

advertisers or consumers. 

This means that now, in early fiscal 2010, Transconti

nental is more flexible and more focused on our strategic  

priorities. The recurring cost savings from our rationalization 

measures and the related efficiency gains, a financial situation 

that allowed us in 2009 and will continue to allow us in 2010 to  

invest in our development—particularly in digital technology—

as well as our decision to concentrate our new marketing  

communications services in a separate sector to encourage 

expansion, all put us in an excellent position to take advantage 

of business opportunities in the year ahead.

Which brings us to the theme of the 2009 annual report. 

As A teAm, listening to consumers

At Transcontinental, our mission has always been to 

help businesses and advertisers identify, reach and keep their 

target consumers. 

Originally, those consumers were the customers of 

our customers. Over time, to enhance our role as a marketing 

advisor, we deepened our knowledge of consumers in each  

of our niche markets in North America. It was thus through a 

natural evolution, arising out of our business model of being 

close to our customers and anticipating their needs, that we 

began, together, to listen to consumers.
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Through that process we have become Canada’s 

fourth-largest print media group. Every month we serve 18 mil-

lion readers of our magazines and newspapers, as well as six 

million unique visitors to our websites and Internet portals. This 

means that we are in daily contact with the new values and 

behaviours of consumers.  

Over the years, our print-based service offering has 

integrated complementary products and services to meet the 

continually evolving needs of businesses and consumers. 

However, the new digital media, including mobile technology, 

are radically changing the way we work, get information, con-

sume and entertain ourselves. 

What do consumers want today? Services that meet 

their needs and interests, on demand, on the media of their 

choice. It used to be that advertising budgets were spent on 

three media: radio, television and print. Today, there is a fourth, 

the Internet, and everything that gravitates around it. It is forecast 

that by 2013, the Internet will absorb 25% of the advertising pie. 

Transcontinental sees this as an exciting challenge 

which offers new opportunities for growth. That is why we have 

enhanced our products and services by adding digital com-

munication platforms and one-to-one advertising, which we 

can provide thanks to our database management capabilities. 

This is a completely natural evolution for us and we continued 

to diversify our offering in 2009. 

At the same time, I’m certain that print will long remain 

an important part of any communication, sales or marketing 

strategy, but it will do so in complementarity with the new me-

dia. And vice versa: the new media are much more effective 

when they are combined with print. It will be both together, 

strengthening each other and moving in the same direction. 

Our customers will thus maximize the return on their marketing 

dollar by continuing to meet the needs and expectations of 

consumers. 

The winning companies in the advertising market  

of tomorrow will be those who successfully incorporate the  

traditional and the new, print and digital, mass marketing  

and one-to-one marketing, putting it all together in a global 

package.  

In short, Transcontinental is in a unique position to 

take advantage of new business opportunities as they arise. 

We serve an impressive array of customers and we already 

provide them with a major portion of their marketing tools. We 

have excellent business credibility. We have the capacity to cre-

ate custom content. And we have the financial capacity to add 

new marketing services and new communication platforms, 

through, among other things, acquisitions. 

Nor will we forget that the new era of integrated print 

and digital is also the new era of the environment. I am proud 

to say that in 2009 we published our first report on sustainable 

development. It is summarized after the Review of Operations 

and the full version is available on our website.

ConClusion

To advance, an organization needs support from each of its 

pillars. 

I would like to thank our some 12,500 employees in 

Canada, the United States and Mexico for remaining commit-

ted to Transcontinental despite the difficult conditions of the past 

year. Having employees who are motivated, well-trained and 

supervised by leaders is our most important competitive edge. 

I’d also like to thank François Olivier, our President and 

Chief Executive Officer, and his team, for their leadership. François 

was able to mobilize his troops to carry out the necessary trans-

formation of Transcontinental in a period when our industries 

were undergoing major structural change. The dynamic, consis-

ting of both continuity and reinvention, is a promising one.

Thank you as well to our customers—businesses,  

advertisers and consumers—and our shareholders, for their 

loyalty. You are the reason Transcontinental is in business. 

Lastly, I wish to thank the members of our Board of  

Directors for their active role and excellent advice. I’d like to  

71662_p06_09_Ang.indd   8 1/8/10   1:18:01 AM
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particularly mention the contribution of J.V. Raymond Cyr, who 

leaves the board after 12 years of invaluable service. During 

that time, Mr. Cyr worked with great professionalism and disci-

pline to promote the growth of Transcontinental. I thank him on 

my own behalf and on behalf of all our shareholders. I’d also 

like to take this opportunity to welcome Pierre Fitzgibbon, who 

joined the Board in November 2009. Mr. Fitzgibbon brings 

Transcontinental the benefit of his 30-year career working with 

public corporations and financial institutions.

Investing in, working at or being a customer of Trans-

continental means being connected to a company whose  

business model is grounded in a set of values and in protecting 

the long-term interests of its employees, customers and  

shareholders. 

I look ahead to future financial years with confidence. 

I am convinced that we have the assets, the organizational  

capacity, the strategy, the values and, above all, the people to 

keep moving forward and ensure the long-term health of our  

organization.

Rémi Marcoux

Executive Chairman of the Board and Founder

December 23, 2009

71662_p06_09_Ang.indd   9 1/8/10   1:18:07 AM
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t is in adversity that companies, like individuals, show their true abilities. From that perspective I see much promise  

in the events of last year, when we faced the worst recession in Transcontinental’s history. We made it through that 

recession in better shape than most of our main competitors, and gained back much of the ground lost in the first 

two quarters of 2009, when the recession was most severe, compared to 2008.

Cost savings of close to $80 million from the rationalization plan which Transcontinental quickly rolled out to counter the 

recession and the many efficiency gains which resulted; the start of major printing contracts, including those for the San Francisco 

Chronicle and Rogers Communications; regular investments over the past several years in technology, new media and brand 

development; and the solid performance of educational book publishing and door-to-door distribution operations: those are the 

main factors that enabled Transcontinental to improve its profitability from quarter to quarter in 2009 and to end the year with a 

strong fourth quarter, one of the best operating performances in its history. 

The recurring cost savings of about $110 million per year achieved by our rational-
ization plan and the attendant increases in efficiency, a financial position that 

allows us to continue to invest in our development, particularly in digital technology, 

our leading position in our business niches most likely to gain market share and the 

continuation of our strategy to build the new while strengthening our traditional 

activities all put Transcontinental in an excellent position for the future.

 I
François Olivier, 

President and Chief 

Executive Officer, 

Transcontinental Inc.

Exc e l l e n t l y 
p o s i t i o n e d  f o r  

t h e  f u t u r e

71662_p10_25_Ang.indd   10 1/8/10   2:20:21 AM
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Reflecting this performance, adjusted operating income 

before amortization grew consistently during the year, culmi-

nating with 15% growth in the fourth quarter, despite the fact 

that revenues were down 9% from 2008. Transcontinental also 

outdid its performance in 2008 in the past two quarters, despite 

the continued weakness in the economy.

On an encouraging note for the future, we signed  

financing agreements for a total of $888 million despite the tight 

credit situation, and we did so at competitive rates. I see this as 

acknowledgement by investors of our financial credibility, as 

well as their confidence in our growth strategy and prospects 

for the future. We plan to maintain our prudent balance between 

profits, costs, debt and investments.

Transcontinental ended the year in a good financial 

situation, with a net funded debt to total capitalization ratio  

of 42% as at October 31, 2009, versus 39% last year, within  

the range of 35% to 50% set by Management. Moreover, our  

ratio of net indebtedness (including the securitization program)  

to adjusted operating income before amortization, now our  

primary indi cator of financial leverage, was 2.59 at October 31, 

2009, slightly above the target range of 2.00 to 2.50 set by 

Management.

At the same time, we have not lost sight of our long-

term development. We have continued to invest judiciously in 

technology, new digital communication platforms and brand 

development. We also made two strategic acquisitions in the 

new marketing communications services. 

I am very proud of our performance in a very turbulent 

environment. I see it as the direct consequence of our manage-

ment of the recession and the fact that we stayed focused on 

our development strategy.

ManageMent that is Responsible  

and Mobilizes

One of the key characteristics of Transcontinental is its re-

sponsible and disciplined management. This was illustrated 

again during the recession. We quickly implemented a major  

rationalization plan to cut back Transcontinental’s capacity and 

match it with actual demand in each of its markets, in light of 

the lower advertising revenues for our magazines and news-

papers. And we did it the Transcontinental way: by mobilizing 

our people.

A total of five printing plants were merged or consol-

idated, two others were sold, eight publications were stopped 

and two were sold. Close to 2,000 jobs were eliminated, half  

of them in direct mail operations in the United States. A set of 

other temporary measures, ranging from targeted control of 

hiring to unpaid leaves and shorter workweeks were also insti-

tuted across the organization. Senior executives contributed  

by taking two weeks of unpaid leave but still working, which 

represents a 4% salary cut. In all, the recurring cost savings 

amounted to about $110 million, of which close to $80 million 

was achieved in 2009. 

We also concentrated our capital expenditures on  

initiatives that were absolutely necessary or strategic. 

In human terms, a recession is difficult for everyone. 

We had to act in the interests of all of our employees and share-

holders and ensure the long-term growth of the company. The 

employees who left us were treated fairly and responsibly, and 

I want to thank them for their contribution to Transcontinental’s 

success over the years. 

Our people all across the organization put their 

shoulders to the wheel despite the tough situation. They fig-

ured out many ways to be more efficient and reduce costs, 

and came up with original ideas for growing business. Once 

again, their ability to innovate and execute is what made the 

difference. I did a tour in which I met with our 500 senior man-

agers in North America, and also some 1,000 employees. 

Many of them basically said to me: “Trust us, we’ll make it 

through this!” 

That’s what Transcontinental is all about! A great entre-

preneurial spirit at all levels and true solidarity that becomes 

even stronger when times are tough. 
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I am convinced that Transcontinental is coming out of 

the recession stronger than before. Today we are more flexible 

and focused on our assets and strategic priorities than ever. 

Despite the recession, we did not lose sight of our long-term 

goals. 

A UniqUe StrAtegy

At Transcontinental, our mission is to help businesses and  

advertisers identify, reach and retain their target consumers. We 

define ourselves as a provider of custom marketing solutions 

on a range of platforms, including mobile ones. This compre-

hensive positioning distinguishes us from traditional printers 

and publishers, who are focused solely on print, fulfillment or 

execution, and firms that offer only fragmentary digital or per-

sonalization services. 

In 2009 we continued to implement our two-pronged 

growth strategy: building the new and strengthening our prom-

ising traditional activities. 

BUilding the new

Transcontinental’s development going forward will be strongly 

influenced by its ability to offer its customers new services in 

one-to-one advertising (database analytics, permission-based 

email marketing and custom communications), as well as new 

digital communication platforms. 

That is the mission of the Marketing Communications 

Sector created in early fiscal 2009. 

Two strategic acquisitions enhanced the service offer-

ing in this sector in fiscal 2009: Toronto-based Redwood Custom 

Communications, a North American leader in custom commu-

nications, specializing in turnkey solutions that provide person-

alized content for print and digital; and Conversys, based in 

London, Ontario, Canada’s leading provider of e-flyers, special-

izing in the repurposing and adaptation of print content into 

interactive Web-based content. 

As fiscal 2009 came to an end, we decided to ded-

icate the Marketing Communications Sector to its principal role, 

by concentrating the new marketing services in this sector and 

transferring its Canadian commercial printing and direct mail 

operations to the Printing Sector. This will help intensify the new 

and solidify the Corporation’s traditional core business.

After the most recent restructuring in November 2009, 

the Marketing Communications Sector has annualized revenues 

of about $120 million and more than 800 employees.

Its president, Christian Trudeau, assumed his duties in 

April 2009. From 2004, Mr. Trudeau was President and CEO of 

Centria Commerce, a company that specializes in e-commerce. 

Prior to that he was President and CEO of BCE Emergis, a North 

American leader in e-commerce, and also held executive posi-

tions with Bell Canada and the Montreal Stock Exchange.

Our Media Sector, which covers the publishing of 

magazines, newspapers and books, door-to-door distribution 

and the management of over 120 Internet sites and portals, 

was also very active at building the new. 

One of the highlights was the launch of weblocal.ca, a 

Canada-wide search site that offers local advertisers a show-

case on the Internet and helps consumers quickly find, rate and 

comment on local services. The portal has already exceeded 

two million unique visitors per month. Similar initiatives will help 

Transcontinental generate new revenues and enhance its 

multi-platform offering for advertisers. 

With its strong brands and popular content, Transcon-

tinental has been very successful over the past several years at 

broadening its presence on the Internet. In 2009, for instance, 

Coup de Pouce magazine used its 25th anniversary to launch a 

new, interactive and consumer-friendly site. For their part, The 

Hockey News, Canadian Living, the daily Métro paper and the 

financial and business news publications Les Affaires, Finance 

et Investissement and Investment Executive can now be acces-

sed via mobile technology. 

In addition to a revenue model based on selling adver-

tising pages in its newspapers and magazines, Transcontinental 
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is now also selling advertising banners on its websites and 

subscriptions on its portals such as weblocal.ca. Transconti-

nental reported $27.5 million in revenues from its websites, up 

30% over 2008, and these Web-based activities are profitable. 

Its 120 sites and portals reach an average of more than six mil-

lion unique visitors per month.

The creation of the 360 Solutions sales team is a  

particularly promising development. The goal of this team is to 

present an integrated offering of print products and digital  

tools from the Media Sector, and even the rest of the company, 

to major customers. The team already has a number of solid 

achievements to its credit.

The Media Sector generated revenues of $607 mil lion 

in 2009 and has 3,100 employees. The president is Natalie 

Larivière.

Strengthening our traditional core buSineSS

We have also continued to develop our core publishing and 

printing business. Transcontinental is a leader in its publishing 

and printing niches in Canada, and we will continue to gain 

market share in these markets.

As a publisher, our strategy is based on communities: 

communities of interest for our magazines; and local geo-

graphic communities for our newspaper. 

Our magazines are read by more than 12 million 

readers across Canada every month, most of them women. 

More than 50% are between the ages of 25 to 54, with children 

under the age of 18. We accompany them in every aspect of 

their personal and professional lives. This gives national adver-

tisers access to a top quality clientele, one with whom they can 

build a one-to-one relationship. 

As for our newspapers, they serve some 100 commu-

nities across Canada, in small towns, neighbourhoods and 

regions. Consumers are very attached to their local papers, 

which keep them up to date on community issues and events, 

as well as the services available close by. For local advertisers, 

the community newspaper is the most effective and affordable 

channel for attracting customers. 

Door-to-door distribution activities have continued to 

grow despite the recession, and Ad-Bag (Publisac) continues to 

prevail as a highly effective and profitable marketing tool for 

retailers. Note that since January 2008, Ad-Bag is made out of 

oxo-biodegradable plastic certified by Environmental Products 

Inc. (EPI®).

Chenelière Éducation, Canada’s leading publisher of 

French-language educational books, had another excellent 

year in 2009 due in part to the educational reform in Québec. It 

has won numerous awards for the quality of its products and 

services. For its part, the daily paper Métro is probably one of 

the only dailies in North America whose revenues have grown, 

confirming its status as the most-read paper on the Island of 

Montreal.

To promote efficiency, our printing activities are now 

grouped into a single sector that provides the Corporation’s 

most important source of revenues. In 2009, continuous effi-

ciency improvements and the introduction of state-of-the-art 

technologies were central to advances in this sector. 

The Printing sector has always been distinguished by 

its efficiency and ability to execute. In 2009, in response to the 

recession, it embarked on a major review of its assets so that it 

could systematically match costs to demand, plant by plant, 

group by group and region by region. In addition to many local 

rationalization measures, units were grouped together and 

less-strategic assets were sold or closed.

In 2009, capital expenditures were concentrated on 

the initiatives that were either absolutely necessary or strategic. 

We also continued to benefit from some $500 million in capital 

investments over the past three years, which put the organiza-

tion at the head of one of the most modern platforms in North 

America, particularly with respect to newspapers, flyers and 
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magazines. This technological superiority strengthened our 

leading position in many of our niches.

Moreover, two new exclusive six-year contracts with 

Rogers Communications took effect early in 2009: the first, to 

print all of Rogers’ magazines, and the second, to produce and 

print its marketing products. These two major gains comple-

ment the full-year impact of the Shoppers Drug Mart-Phar-

maprix contract and the many new customers added in flyer 

and newspaper printing.

The printing and distribution activities for the San Fran-

cisco Chronicle, under a 15-year contract worth US$1 billion  

(excluding paper), started in July at the new plant in Fremont, 

California. Transcontinental invested about US$230 million in 

this new plant which is equipped with the latest technologies 

allowing for maximum use of colour and glossy paper, a first in 

the United States. 

Moreover, the modernization of the Transcontinental 

Transmag plant in Montreal was completed on time and the 

new presses started rolling in the second half of fiscal 2009. 

This project required the investment of about $60 million.

The establishment of a unique Canada-wide news-

pa per and flyer printing network, a first in Canada, is on sched-

ule. This is a very promising development for us. The platform  

will offer The Globe and Mail, under an 18-year and $1.7 billion 

contract starting at the end of 2010, the possibility of putting 

colour on each page; it also makes the latest print technologies 

available to Transcontinental’s retail customers. This hybrid 

manufacturing platform, which represents a total investment  

of $175 million, is a new way for Transcontinental to specialize 

its plants and will give it a key edge in terms of synergy and 

operating efficiency.

On the basis of the most recent restructuring in  

November 2009, the Printing Sector has annualized revenues 

of $1.57 bil lion and 8,600 employees. 

Brian Reid was appointed president of the Printing 

Sector in early fiscal 2009. Mr. Reid has been with Transconti-

nental since 1992. From 2003, he was Senior Vice President of 

the catalogue and magazine printing group in Canada and the 

United States.

SuStainable Development

From my very first days on the job, I made sustainable develop-

ment a personal priority. 

After adopting a forward-looking Paper Purchasing 

Policy that was more stringent than current standards and cer-

tifications, we began working with suppliers and customers to 

help them concretely, as a team, tackle sustainability together. 

The results of this joint effort continue to be very encouraging. 

From 2008 to 2009, the use by Transcontinental customers of 

“Gold” category paper, the best in terms of compliance with 

sustainable forest management, increased 55%. That follows 

on a 37% increase between 2007 and 2008; today, nearly half 

of our printed products use paper from the Gold category.

Moreover, in 2009, Transcontinental’s printing facil-

ities in Canada and the United States all obtained triple forest 

product chain-of-custody certification. This guarantees that the 

paper manufacturing process complies with the most stringent 

standards for sustainable forest management. Note also that the 

new Fremont plant, which prints the San Francisco Chronicle, is 

one of the first printing plants in North America to be built to Lead-

ership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) standards.

Lastly, this year we produced our first sustainable  

development report. It was prepared using the methodology 

and guidelines recommended by Global Reporting Initiative 

(GRI), a highly respected source for the methodology for this 

type of report. This report is summarized on pages 26 to 28, 

and the full report is available on our website.

Sustainable development incorporates social progress, 

economic development and protection of the environment. In 

2009, Transcontinental once again made it into the select club 

of the Best 50 Corporate Citizens, ranked by Corporate Knights 

mag azine. The magazine defines a corporate citizen as “a com-

pany that fulfills its part of the social contract, while innovating 

sol u tions to pressing social and environmental challenges of 

our time.” 
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CONCLUSION 

Our total and integrated marketing service offering will be  

give us an ever-sharper competitive edge in the marketplace  

of tomorrow. 

Winning companies will be ones that successfully  

integrate old and new, print and digital, mass marketing and 

one-to-one marketing, and do so within a comprehensive 

package. Through our Marketing Communications Sector and 

our new Web-based media, including mobile applications, we 

will intensify this shift toward one-to-one and digital marketing, 

responding to new consumer behaviours. Also, I’m certain that 

we have the potential to realize additional efficiency gains and 

cost savings. 

All of these actions together will lead to a general  

improvement in our profitability in the years ahead.  

I am all the more confident of success given that we 

have the teams, strategy, desire and organizational abilities to  

successfully execute our necessary transformation.  

François Olivier

President and Chief Executive Officer

AND FOR THE REST …

Transcontinental directly serves five main categories of custom-

ers: retailers, local advertisers, publishers, major corporations  

and consumers. In this report we have decided to present all of 

our services in each of these categories. This will give you a good 

idea of the broad range of services we offer and the way they 

are being shaped by new consumer behaviours. We will also 

give concrete examples of our services to existing customers. 
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Retailers
From day 1, Transcontinental has helped retailers keep their customers up to date on their 
best deals. Over the years we have extended our flyer-printing network across Canada to bring 

merchants closer to their customers. Our initial offering was enhanced by the creation and 

management of their image banks, as well as by door-to-door distribution. But the needs and 

behaviours of consumers are constantly evolving. Today, that offering must be personalized and 

it must be made available on multiple communication platforms. So we have gradually added 

services in database analytics, permission-based email marketing, e-flyers and custom pub-

lishing. We can now prepare an interactive marketing campaign, a promotional microsite and a  

dynamic application for cell phone access while continuing to offer retailers advertising in 

our magazines and newspapers. In all, we provide a set of about ten integrated services that 

retailers can use to better reach and retain their consumers.

Electronic flyers mean better knowledge of one’s market, better targeting of 

consumers (through database management) and better possibilities for interacting 

with customers. By taking printed content and adapting it so it works on the Internet, 

Transcontinental’s online publications provide user-friendly access to information in 

an interactive format. The client can thus present a consistent brand image across all 

communication platforms. Flyers and catalogues that take advantage of the power 

of the Web: that’s just one example of the new one-to-one marketing and digital 

services we offer under one umbrella in our Marketing Communications Sector.

Every week, we distribute more than 60 million advertising items to more than 

3 million households in the Ad-Bag (Publisac), a marketing tool much appreciated 

by consumers. In fact, 94% of the people who receive it spend 15 to 30 minutes 

looking through the material inside. Through the systematic use of databases and 

our targeting software, we help retailers reach the consumers who are most likely 

to buy their products. In 2010, our publisac.ca portal will offer its deals and discount 

coupons from coast to coast.
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Publishers
Transcontinental’s first printing plant produced flyers and newspapers for others. Since 
then, we have ourselves become a major publisher of newspapers, magazines and books. This 

means we are quite familiar with the changes in these markets and new reader expectations. 

What are readers looking for? In general, superior print quality and cutting edge editorial 

and advertising content. This demands in turn great flexibility from the printer. Newspaper 

readers also want higher quality paper, colour on every page and content that speaks to their 

specific interests. Thanks to the latest technologies and targeted distribution that allow  

for high-end personalization, that’s exactly what we offer publishers. With our services, pub-

lishers can focus on promoting their brands, making them available on multiple platforms and 

preparing top-quality editorial and graphic content. In short, we offer them the opportunity 

to become the big winners in the profound restructuring that is transforming the magazine and 

newspaper industries. 

In 2009, 155 million magazines for 358 titles, including some 40 Transcontinental 

Media publications, were printed on our presses for Canadian, American and 

Mexican publishers. We specialize in printing short and medium runs and are the 

recognized leaders in this niche. Today advertisers are looking for ever-faster 

time-to-market. With our flexible production system, they can send us their 

advertising texts a mere two weeks before the magazine hits the newsstand. 

State-of-the art technology in electronic data transfer, printing, insertion and 

distribution; the capacity to print 90,000 copies an hour on each press, with 

36 pages in full colour; highly flexible options for format, paper type and number of 

editions; and an innovative team-based and multi-skilled approach to production. 

These are the chief characteristics of our plant in Fremont, California, where we 

began printing the San Francisco Chronicle in 2009. Our outsourcing model meets 

the new expectations of both readers and advertisers in a challenging time for daily 

paper publishers.
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MAGAZINE
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Large Businesses
This group is comprised of major industrial and financial corporations, and their advertising 
and marketing agencies. In terms of advertising, it consists of our national advertisers. In 

the past, we printed large quantities of promotional materials aimed at the general public. 

That was mass marketing. Now, advertising material must be sent to the right consumer profile 

and it must be presented in an original way. That is the essence of one-to-one marketing, an 

area in which Transcontinental is Canada’s leader. Today we print innovative and unique  

promotional items that, due to our database management capabilities, are sent to the right 

consumers. We can also support these targeted mailings with an email-based marketing campaign 

and the offer of national ad placements in our magazines aimed at specific communities of  

interest. Such personalized and digital marketing campaigns give major industrial and finan-

cial corporations a much higher return on their advertising dollar. 

Today, using a cell phone to find a restaurant address or purchase suggestions 

while shopping is the norm. Consumers want this type of information when they 

need it, on the communication platform of their choice. That’s why Transcontinental 

has been focusing more on the development of its digital media over the past 

several years. Now, because a number of our publications are also available on 

mobile devices, users can also check the latest stock market news or scores for 

their favourite hockey team.

At Transcontinental, we are convinced that print will long remain an important part 

of one-to-one advertising campaigns. When it comes to attracting the attention of 

an informed and demanding consumer, there’s nothing like having an original and 

top-quality promotional item produced on our state-of-the-art equipment. 

Especially when, thanks to our database management capabilities, it is sent to the 

consumer with the right profile. And that’s the point of one-to-one marketing: 

helping our clients get the most out of every dollar they spend on advertising.

71662_p10_25_Ang.indd   21 1/14/10   12:28:25 PM



22

Ad-Bag

71662_p10_25_Ang.indd   22 1/14/10   12:28:54 PM



23

Local Advertisers
We have about 170 daily and weekly papers in six Canadian provinces, and these papers 
play a vital role by covering the news and issues in their communities. They provide each small 

town, neighbourhood or region with a source of information and are an important tool in creating 

community cohesion, broadened and enriched by each paper’s website. For local advertisers, the 

community newspaper is the most effective and affordable channel for attracting customers. We 

also offer them a door-to-door distribution service via Ad-Bag (Publisac) or our national 

distribution brokerage. More recently, we have added new advertising tools on publisac.ca and 

on our local search site weblocal.ca, the third-largest site in Canada. weblocal.ca is a highly 

interactive site where consumers across Canada can find, rate and comment on local services; 

it also gives advertisers a showcase that goes far beyond a simple listing. We have also added 

independent entities such as merkado.ca, icimamaison.ca and inmemoriam.ca. All of these  

services are available to our 250,000 local advertisers. 

Looking for a business, product or service in your area? Nothing could be easier: 

just go to weblocal.ca. Made for local communities across Canada, weblocal.ca is 

an online search portal that lets you quickly find information, rate a product or 

service and exchange tips. For local advertisers, weblocal.ca offers a showcase on 

the Internet that goes well beyond a simple listing. It’s an original Web-based 

resource that attracts more than two million unique visitors a month.

The daily and weekly newspapers for districts and regions are excellent tools for 

creating a sense of community and residents are very attached to them. Their high 

penetration rates and credibility make them the most effective and affordable 

channels for advertisers who want to attract customers. Our newspapers serve 

some 100 communities across Canada, making Transcontinental the second- 

largest publisher of local and regional papers in the country. All of our titles have  

a website.

Ad-Bag
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Consumers
Over time, to enhance our role as a marketing advisor to our customers, we worked with them 
to deepen our knowledge of their consumers in each of our niche markets in North America. 

Through that process we have become Canada’s fourth-largest print media group. Every month  

we serve 18 million readers of our magazines and newspapers, as well as six million unique 

visitors to our websites and Internet portals. This means that we are in daily contact with 

the new values and behaviours of consumers. Through the credibility and prestige of our 

brands, we provide advertisers with access to high quality target communities. Much of our 

content is also accessible via mobile technology. Today, it is no longer enough to produce 

excellent content: target consumers must now be reached wherever they are and provided with 

what they want on the platform of their choice.

Checking the latest sports scores while out for an evening with friends or heading 

home after work is a common practice for people today, especially young adults. 

And the popular thehockeynews.com site fits right in because it too can now be 

accessed via mobile technology. The website receives close to 300,000 visitors a 

month and has a print counterpart with a readership of about two million. In 2009 

Transcontinental made a number of publications available on mobile devices, 

including Canadian Living, the daily paper Métro, Les Affaires, Finance et  

Investissement, and Investment Executive.

Fashion, health, lifestyle, home decorating and gardening: at Transcontinental, we 

accompany Canadians in all aspects of their lives. We are the country’s leading 

publisher of consumer magazines, with some 40 titles. Our content also goes on 

our websites, and we create material exclusively for the Internet. It is by building on 

the prestige of our well-known names, including Canadian Living, Coup de Pouce, 

More, Vita, Elle Québec and Elle Canada, and making our content and solutions 

available on multiple platforms, that we are continuing to improve the ways we 

serve consumers.

MAGAZINE
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t was thus a natural step for Transcontinental to move towards sustainable development, as it is both consistent with 

and an extension of our environmental commitment. Indeed, François Olivier, our President and Chief Executive Officer, 

made it clear from his very first day on the job that the environment and sustainable development are a personal priority. 

Transcontinental is a pioneering company and a model in terms of environmental protection. We are recognized as  

such by our peers, by customers, by governments and by organizations dedicated to protecting the environment. It is part of our 

corporate culture. In this context, the move towards the broader perspective of sustainable development was a natural one.

In 2007 we launched an action plan for all of our employees, inviting them to implement sustainable development  

initiatives in their workplaces. Subsequently, we held a series of workshops to train and sensitize some 300 senior managers on 

sustainable development. Management also set the example by implementing general policies and procedures in this area. 

Building on this momentum, we set up a committee to coordinate and support sustainable development efforts across the  

organization. This committee is composed of employees from our three operating sectors (Printing, Media and Marketing  

Communications) and Head Office.  

Transcontinental is a recognized leader in environmental protection. Our commitment 
to the environment has always been part of our broader outlook. As a corporate citi-

zen, we strive to combine social responsibility with business success, and we have 

done so in the Transcontinental way, by mobilizing our employees and collaborating 

with our partners. Over the years many awards and certifications have acknowledged 

our excellence in this area.

S us t a i n a b l e  De v e l o pm e n t
200 9 Repo r t

 I
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Our 2009 Sustainability Report outlines our approach 

and assesses the actions we have implemented. In the next 

section we review the main points of the report.

MAIN POINTS OF THE 2009 REPORT

In 2009, Transcontinental decided to articulate its commitment 

to sustainable development by setting out clear principles that 

are consistent with its mission and company values. 

General Principles

Our commitment reflects the importance we place on integrat

ing the social, environmental and financial management into 

our operations on a daily basis. 

Also, setting sustainable development objectives does 

not necessarily mean stopping activities, but rather continually 

improving our social, environmental and financial management.

Steps taken to ensure sustainable development must 

be consistent with our corporate values, which are shared by 

all employees. These values include innovation, integrity and 

respect for our employees, customers and the communities in 

which we operate. That is why we are always trying to reduce 

our use of energy, wastage and the harmful effects of gas or 

liquid emissions, and we actively support employee deve l

opment and strive to protect their health, safety and wellness  

at work.

The GRI Reporting Framework

Our first report on sustainable development was prepared  

using the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) reporting framework, 

a respected methodology for producing this type of report. This 

standard has been adopted by thousands of organizations 

around the world and is based on collaboration among all 

stakeholders. GRI also includes an independent review process 

to ensure that reports prepared internally by organizations  

follow its guidelines.

Preparing our first report using the GRI framework 

gives it an internationally recognized structure. 

Below we provide a brief outline of each topic  

examined.

Commitment to the Community

Transcontinental, with its printing plants, marketing communi

cations agencies and community newspapers, is present in 

over a hundred geographic communities in Canada, the United 

States and Mexico. Also, through its magazines, it serves major 

communities of interest, primarily women. Lastly, its some  

120 websites and Internet portals extend, enhance and develop 

the scope of its print publications.

It is the human dimension that connects the local,  

regional, national and virtual communities that Transcontinental 

serves.

The sustainable development report quantifies the 

Corporation’s support for cultural, social and educational  

activities in the communities in which it operates. It also reports 

on positive surveys conducted by business groups, or those 

responsible for products and services, among their customers.

Talent Development

People are the primary asset of any company. It is people who 

make the difference and it is on people that Transcontinental’s 

sustainability and longevity are based.

The report describes and lists a number of corporate 

initiatives to recruit, develop and retain its employees. 

Employee Health, Safety and Wellness

Protecting the health, safety and wellness of employees is a 

daily preoccupation at Transcontinental; it is given the same 

importance as ensuring productivity and delivering topquality 

products and services. This responsibility is handled by a  

dedicated corporate team that coordinates the work of the 

committees set up in every workplace. Our actions are based 

on a set of wellestablished policies, procedures, standards, 

programs and best practices. Our goal is to be fully compliant 

with Transcontinental’s standards and legal requirements.

Among other topics, the report covers the steps taken 

to deal with the risks associated with H1N1 influenza. 

Environment

This section discusses a series of recent initiatives to improve 
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Transcontinental’s environmental performance as a printer and 

as one link in the chain that could have a decisive influence on 

the environmental impacts of its products and services through 

the supply chain and post-use.

In 2007, the Corporation adopted a forward-looking 

Paper Purchasing Policy that was more stringent than current 

standards and certifications. We then began working with  

suppliers and customers to help them also tackle sustainability. 

The results of this joint effort continue to be very encouraging. In 

2009, Transcontinental customers use “Gold” category paper 

for nearly half of the products we print. 

Moreover, in 2009, Transcontinental’s printing facilities 

in Canada and the United States all obtained triple forest  

product chain-of-custody certification. This guarantees that the 

paper manufacturing process complies with the highest stan-

dards for sustainable forest management. Note also that the 

new Fremont plant, which prints the San Francisco Chronicle, is 

one of the first printing plants in North America to be built to  

and receive Silver certification under Leadership in Energy and 

Environmental Design (LEED) standards.

After discussing Transcontinental’s policy on buying 

recycled materials, the report talks about a number of initiatives 

for preventing print wastage: better customer targeting, the intro-

duction of new digital communication platforms and different 

types of re-use and recovery. 

The report also looks at the steps taken to address  

the challenges of climate change and a secure energy supply, 

as well as emissions of volatile organic compounds from its  

printing ope rations. It also addresses measures to control the 

environmental aspects of our printing facilities through the  

Environmental Management System, certified ISO 14001.

Lastly, in terms of product safety, especially for children, 

the report points out that Transcontinental uses recognized cer-

tifications. 

Economic Considerations

Managing a business involves assessing the short, medium 

and long-term impact of one’s actions, in order to capitalize  

on the social and technological changes affecting business 

markets. This often means making tough decisions in the short 

term that are necessary to protect the financial health of the 

company and the interests of employees as a whole over the 

long term. 

This is the spirit that has guided Transcontinental in its 

management of the recent recession and the rationalization 

plan implemented to offset it. 

Employee Comments

The report also contains employee comments about concrete 

changes in their workplaces related to various aspects of sus-

tainable development, whether that involves local initiatives in 

the workplace, energy efficiency, health, safety and wellness, or 

the purchase of eco-friendly papers.

The full version  

of this report is  

available on our website 

at transcontinental.com. 

We invite you to review 

this report and send us 

your comments.  

Enjoy your reading!
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he purpose of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis is to explain management’s point of view on Transconti

nental’s past performance and future outlook. More specifically, it outlines our development strategy, performance 

in relation to objectives, future expectations and how we address risk and manage our financial resources. This report 

also provides information to improve the reader’s understanding of the consolidated financial statements and related notes. It should 

therefore be read in conjunction with those documents. This Management’s Discussion and Analysis is dated December 15, 2009.

In this document, unless otherwise indicated, all financial data are prepared in accordance with Canadian Generally 

Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). All amounts are in Canadian dollars, and the term “dollar”, as well as the symbols “$” and 

“C$”, designate Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated. In this Management’s Discussion and Analysis we also use non

GAAP financial measures. Please refer to the section of this report entitled “Reconciliation of NonGAAP Financial Measures” for a 

complete description of these measures on page 52.

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Corporation and those of its subsidiaries, joint ventures 

and variable interest entities for which the Corporation is the principal beneficiary. Business acquisitions are accounted for under the 

On an encouraging note for the future, in 2009 we signed financing agreements for a 
total of $888 million despite the tight credit situation, and we did so at competitive 

rates. This can be taken as acknowledgement by investors of Transcontinental’s finan-

cial credibility, as well as their confidence in our growth strategy and prospects 

for the future. Management plans to maintain the prudent balance between profits, 

costs, debt and investments that is so crucial to the long-term development of the 

Corporation.

 T

D i s c i p l i n e d
f i n a n c i a l 

m anag em e n t

Benoît Huard 

Vice President  

and Chief  

Financial Officer, 

Transcontinental Inc.
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acquisition method and the results of operations of these businesses are included in the consolidated financial statements from 

the acquisition date. Investments in joint ventures are accounted for using the proportionate consolidation method and invest-

ments in companies subject to significant influence are accounted for using the equity method. Other investments are recorded at 

either amortized cost or marked-to-market through comprehensive income depending on their classification as either financial 

assets held to maturity or available-for-sale.

To facilitate the reading of this report, the terms “Transcontinental”, “Corporation”, “we”, “our” and “us” all refer to  

Transcontinental Inc. together with its subsidiaries. 

Caution regarding forward-looking statements

From time to time, we make written or oral forward-looking statements within the meaning of certain securities laws, including  

the “safe harbour” provisions of the Securities Act (Ontario). We may make such statements in this document, in other filings with  

Canadian regulators, in reports to shareholders or in other communications. These forward-looking statements include, among 

others, statements with respect to our medium-term goals, our outlook, objectives under our Evolution 2010 business project and 

strategies to achieve those objectives and goals, as well as statements with respect to our beliefs, plans, objectives, expectations, 

anticipations, estimates and intentions. The words “may”, “could”, “should”, “would”, “outlook”, “believe”, “plan”, “anticipate”,  

“estimate”, “expect”, “intend”, “objective”, the use of the conditional tense, and words and expressions of similar nature are  

intended to identify forward-looking statements.

By their very nature, forward-looking statements involve inherent risks and uncertainties, both general and specific, which 

give rise to the possibility that predictions, forecasts, projections and other forward-looking statements will not be achieved. We 

caution readers not to place undue reliance on these statements, as a number of important factors could cause our actual results 

to differ materially from the beliefs, plans, objectives, expectations, anticipations, estimates and intentions expressed in such  

forward-looking statements. These factors include, but are not limited to: credit risks, security of data, market dynamics, liquidity, 

financing and operational risks; the strength of the Canadian, Mexican and United States’ economies in which we conduct busi-

ness; the impact of the movement of the Canadian dollar relative to other currencies, more particularly the U.S. dollar, the euro and 

the Mexican peso; the impact from raw material and energy prices; the seasonal and cyclical nature of certain businesses, notably 

the book publishing activities, the effects of changes in interest rates; the effects of competition in the markets in which we operate; 

the effects of new media and the corresponding shift of advertising revenue to new platforms; judicial judgments and legal  

proceedings; our ability to develop new opportunities through our strategy; our ability to hire and retain qualified personnel and 

maintain a good reputation; our ability to complete strategic transactions; changes in accounting policies and methods we use to 

report our financial condition, including uncertainties associated with critical accounting assumptions and estimates; operational 

and infrastructure risks; the possible impact on our businesses from public-health emergencies, international conflicts and other 

developments; and our success in anticipating and managing the foregoing risks; other factors may affect future results including, 

but not limited to, timely development and introduction of new products and services, changes in tax laws, changes in environ-

mental regulations, changes in the U.S. and Canadian postal systems policies, technological changes and new regulations.

We caution that the foregoing list of important factors that may affect future results is not exhaustive. When relying on our 

forward-looking statements to make decisions with respect to the Corporation, investors and others should carefully consider the 

foregoing factors and other uncertainties and potential events. Assumptions used to derive forward-looking information could vary 

materially one at a time or in conjunction. Variation in one assumption may also result in changes in another, which might  
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magnify or counteract the effect on forward-looking information. Unless otherwise required by the securities authorities, we do not 

undertake to update any forward-looking statement, whether written or oral, that may be made from time to time by us or on our 

behalf. See “Risks and Uncertainties” for a description of the most important risks identified by the Corporation. The forward-looking 

statements contained herein are based on current expectations and information available as of December 15, 2009.

Business summary of fiscal 2009 

In fiscal 2009, despite the negative impact of the North American recession and the transformations affecting our printing and 

publishing industries, we generated an operating income before amortization, asset impairment, restructuring charge and im-

pairment of goodwill and intangible assets that was only 3.4% less than in fiscal 2008. Furthermore, our financial results for  

each quarter in fiscal 2009 improved steadily, evidence of stabilization in the downward pressure on demand for our printing and 

publishing products and the greater efficiencies achieved through our rationalization measures. 

However, the negative impact of the above factors reduced revenues by 5.5% against 2008. In effect, although recently 

we have observed some improvement in the rate of deterioration in relation to our operations most affected by the economic  

situation, they were hard hit in 2009. This was true particularly of our direct mail operations, and, to a lesser extent, our marketing 

products printing and magazine publishing, as well as our printing of magazines, books and catalogues. However, in fiscal 2009, 

the revenue decline was much less than for most of our peers, due mainly to our diversified operations—our distribution operations 

and educational book publishing division generated higher revenues than in fiscal 2008—and to the contribution of acquisitions, 

gains in new customers and an increase in market share, which enabled us to maintain our lead in most of our markets, and to 

our diversified client base and the effects of the exchange rate.

Early in the fiscal year we implemented rationalization measures in our U.S. direct mail operations in order to cope with 

the fallout from the financial crisis, which drove down demand significantly in this market. In addition, since we had prepared for 

an eventual economic slowdown, we were able to react effectively when the North American recession struck. Our rationalization 

plan announced in February 2009 was deployed promptly and our cost-reduction measures had a significant impact on our fiscal 

2009 results. For the Corporation as a whole, we estimate we achieved cost savings of close to $80 million for fiscal 2009 and close 

to $110 million on an annualized basis. However, our direct mail operations in the United States bore the brunt of the downturn due 

to the sharp drop in demand from financial institutions, which account for a significant part of our revenues in this business. Net of 

the paper effect, the exchange rate effect and divestitures and closures, revenues from our direct mail operations were down 

46.0% compared to fiscal 2008 and account for 43.2% of the decrease in the Corporation’s consolidated revenues for fiscal 2009 

compared to 2008. 

At the operational level, the printing of the San Francisco Chronicle started successfully on July 6 under an exclusive  

15-year agreement signed with Hearst Corporation in 2006. Our disciplined management of this project enabled us to deliver  

on time, and the state-of-the-art technologies used in our new plant in Fremont, California allow us to produce higher quality 

products with maximum efficiency; they also provide us with a flexible platform that can meet the needs of our publishing and 

retail customers.

In fiscal 2009, the Corporation concluded several financing and refinancing agreements, despite the financial crisis which 

practically paralyzed the markets for several months. We also completed a placement of 4,000,000 cumulative 5-year rate reset 

first preferred shares, series D, for gross proceeds of $100.0 million. 
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HigHligHts of fiscal 2009

   Revenues for fiscal 2009 were down 5.5% from fiscal 2008, from $2,429.3 million to $2,294.6 million. This decrease is mainly 

due to the financial crisis, which particularly affected our direct mail operations in the United States, and the North American 

recession, which reduced print volumes and, to a lesser extent, revenues from magazine and newspaper publishing. The de-

crease in revenues was limited by the contribution from printing the San Francisco Chronicle, new contracts with Rogers and our 

new marketing communications services, and the growth in our distribution operations and our educational book publishing. 

   Operating income before amortization, asset impairment, restructuring charge and impairment of goodwill and intangible  

assets was down 3.4%, from $361.5 million to $349.3 million. The decrease stems primarily from the lower revenues, partially 

offset by the impact of our rationalization plan, and the contribution from acquisitions, divestitures and closures, as well as the 

positive effect of the exchange rate. 

   Adjusted operating income margin before amortization increased, from 14.9% in 2008 to 15.2% in 2009. The increase is 

mainly due to our rationalization measures, which led to an improvement in our operational efficiency.

   Net income applicable to participating shares was down $88.9 million, from $6.6 million in 2008 to a loss of $82.3 million in 

2009. The drop stems mainly from an unfavourable variation in unusual items, related primarily to asset impairment, restructur-

ing costs and impairment of goodwill and intangible assets of $212.5 million after tax compared to $145.2 million in 2008, and 

the increase in financial expenses. On a per-share basis it decreased, from net income applicable to participating shares of 

$0.08 to a net loss of $1.02. 

   Adjusted net income applicable to participating shares, excluding asset impairment, restructuring costs, impairment of goodwill 

and intangible assets and unusual adjustments to income taxes, was down $10.1 million, or 7.2%, from $140.3 million in 2008 

to $130.2 million in 2009. On a per-share basis, it was down 6.4%, from $1.72 to $1.61. The lower decrease in percentage reflects 

the positive impact of the Corporation’s share buy-back program completed in 2008. Net of the positive impact of the exchange 

rate for fiscal 2009, adjusted earnings per share would have been $1.52, which would have been a decrease of 11.6% compared 

to fiscal 2008.

   We successfully started printing the San Francisco Chronicle daily paper at our new plant in Fremont, California, under an  

exclusive 15-year agreement signed with Hearst Corporation in 2006.

   Through our rationalization plan, we achieved cost savings of close to $80.0 million, or about $110.0 million on an annualized 

basis; this involved reducing production capacity and eliminating jobs.

   We made strategic investments of about $9.2 million (of which $4.9 million was capitalized) in our Media Sector. Our Web sites 

have registered close to 4,500,000 unique visitors per month, and our share of the Canadian Internet market has increased 

from 14.7% to 18.1% (according to ComScore).

   We acquired Redwood Custom Communications, a North American leader in multi-platform custom communications. We also 

acquired Conversys, Canada’s leading supplier of electronic flyers. 

   In December 2008, we signed a second six-year contract with Rogers Communications to produce their marketing products; 

we had already started printing all of their magazines in February 2009.
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   We arranged several financing and refinancing agreements during the year: we extended our $300 million securitization of 

receivables program for an additional year and completed a private placement of $100 million with the Solidarity Fund QFL. We 

also renewed bank credit facilities of $150 million for one year and obtained a $100 million term loan from the Caisse de dépôt 

et placement du Québec (CDPQ). Lastly, we received a $50 million term loan from the Société générale de financement (SGF), as 

well as additional financing of 55.6 million euros ($88.4 million) from HypoVereinsbank.

   We closed a placement of 4,000,000 cumulative 5-year rate reset first preferred shares, series D for gross proceeds of  

$100.0 million.

   The Corporation maintained its quarterly dividend at $0.08 per share for its Class A and Class B shares.

   As at October 31, 2009, the ratio of net indebtedness (including use of the securitization program) to adjusted operating income 

before amortization was 2.59 (2.64 at October 31, 2008).

   Early in the year, the Corporation announced that it was introducing a new operating structure to support its growth strategy. 

The new sector, Marketing Communications, will evolve continually and will focus primarily on the development of multi-plat-

form marketing services.

TransconTinenTal Profile

Transcontinental provides printing, publishing and marketing services that deliver exceptional value to its clients and provide a 

unique, integrated platform for them to reach and retain their target audiences. Transcontinental is the largest printer in Canada 

and in Mexico, and sixth-largest in North America. It is also the country’s leading publisher of consumer magazines and French-

language educational resources, the second-largest community newspaper publisher, and its digital platform delivers unique 

content through more than 120 Web sites. Its Marketing Communications Sector provides advertising services and marketing 

products using new communications platforms supported by database analytics, premedia, e-flyers, email marketing, and custom 

communications. Transcontinental is a growth-oriented company with a culture of continuous improvement and financial discipline, 

whose values, including respect, innovation and integrity, are central to its operation.

Transcontinental (TSX: TCL.A, TCL.B, TCL.PR.D) has approximately 12,500 employees in Canada, the United States and 

Mexico, and reported revenue of C$2.3 billion in 2009. 

sTraTegy

Our ultimate goal is to ensure the growth and profitability of Transcontinental while promoting the common interests of its employ-

ees, customers and shareholders, the three pillars of the organization. Our strategy is based on several fundamental principles: to 

be the leader in the markets we serve, to have a disciplined approach to acquisitions and financial management, and to foster a 

culture of continuous improvement. These underlying principles, which are reflected in our Evolution 2010 business project, have 

served us well to date. 

Having said this, Transcontinental’s mission is to help its customers identify, reach and retain their target consumers. We 

do this by offering products and services in printing, publishing and marketing, which include many new web-based technology 

platforms that our clients are increasingly using in their marketing campaigns. We plan to continue to adapt to the new realities of 

our customers in order to help them increase the return on their marketing dollars. In fact, our vision is to build a profitable, North 

American leadership position as a communications solutions provider.
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Trends in the Marketplace

The Corporation does business in industries that are transforming at a rapid rate. Unprecedented changes are sweeping the 

publishing and printing industries, presenting both opportunities and risks. Marketing is moving from a mass marketing approach 

to a one-to-one targeted approach as marketers focus increasingly on return on investment and measurability. As such, cam-

paigns are becoming more and more targeted, as advertisers seek to establish and develop a relationship with their customer 

base. Concurrently, the rise of new media, digital platform and changing consumer habits coupled with the increasing availability 

of data and technology to make better use of this data, is increasing audience fragmentation, personalization of content, user-

generated content and web-based communities. The velocity of certain trends has increased. This is especially true for the rate of 

adoption of digital technologies and the ensuing migration of advertising dollars toward online platforms.

The ongoing transformation of the media and marketing industries is having a profound impact on the printing industry 

as a whole. Printed products remain key components in the media mix. In fact, growth is confined to the niche segments that ad-

dress the above trends and to players who adopt state-of-the-art technologies. These new technologies enable a better response 

to customers’ ever-growing needs while allowing printers to gain operational efficiency.  

In addition, macroeconomic factors, including the globalization of markets, the rise of environmental and social con-

scious ness and the volatility of the Canadian dollar, are all having an effect on our business as well as more recent happenings  

including the economic slowdown and the financial crisis.

Taken as a whole, these new trends have started to have an impact on the demands and expectations of our customers. 

In fact, they have driven our customers to increasingly experiment with one-to-one marketing, new platforms and an integrated 

service offering from their suppliers. 

Our Two-Pronged Strategy

In light of these transformations in our industries, we have re-focused our strategy in order to continue to fulfill our mission. We believe 

we can accomplish this using a two-pronged approach: (1) build on our existing business and (2) develop new opportunities in digital 

and marketing communications. That is how we intend to maximize our growth potential over the medium and long term. 

1) Build on our existing business

Throughout our history we have built a solid foundation for future growth. We have core assets that can help us grow new services: 

we master print-based communication products, we have strong brands and the ability to distribute relevant content with targeted 

multi-channel reach and we are moving towards becoming a customer-centric, providing service to advertisers as well as end-

consumers. Below is a list of selected accomplishments in fiscal 2009: 

   We started printing the San Francisco Chronicle daily paper at our new plant in Fremont, California under a 15-year contract 

signed in 2006 with Hearst Corporation. The project was completed on schedule and the startup was a success.

   We signed a second six-year contract with Rogers Communications for the production of its marketing products, in addition to 

having taken over the printing of all of the Rogers magazines in February 2009.

   We completed our capital improvements to Transcontinental Transmag, one of our newspaper printing plants, which is now 

equipped with state-of-the-art technology that gives us improved colour printing capacities, higher quality and more efficient 

production.  
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In sum, our existing business is solid and generates considerable cash flow. We believe we can generate earnings above 

the industry average given our strong competitive position and our investments in our network of state-of-the-art printing plants.

2) Develop new opportunities in digital and marketing communications

Transcontinental derives the majority of its revenues from the marketing budgets of its customers. For the future, in addition to 

building on our existing business, we are developing new opportunities focused on new digital platforms, one-to-one advertising 

and an integrated service offering. Below is a list of our selected accomplishments in fiscal 2009:

   Signed a number of major clients who will benefit from our marketing communication services. While this new business comes 

from a wide range of industries, the new contracts all follow a common thread: they focus on Transcontinental’s ability to provide 

marketers with a comprehensive set of solutions that are developed to address customers’ diverse business needs and expand 

their marketing mix. Selected customers include Reader’s Digest Canada, Shopping Channel, Shoppers Drug Mart - Pharmaprix, 

Zellers and Purolator Courier.

   Acquired Conversys, the leading e-flyer provider for a number of Canadian retailers. The acquisition enriches Transcontinental’s 

existing print and interactive communications offering to major retailers. Conversys’s multi-channel marketing services enable 

businesses to increase sales and more effectively interact with their customers.

   Acquired Redwood Custom Communications, a North American leader in custom communications on multiple platforms and 

a full service marketing and communications company that creates turnkey custom publishing and branded content solutions 

for both print and digital. Redwood’s offering also includes data sciences, research and measurement, database marketing, 

variable printing, photo studio and premedia tools. This makes it an attractive complement to the services offered by Transconti-

nental’s Marketing Communications Sector, such as database analytics, premedia, email marketing and one-to-one marketing.

   Invested approximately $9.2 million in strategic investments in our Media sector, mainly related to our digital assets. 

   Weblocal.ca, our Canada-wide search site for local communities launched in late October 2008, has continued to attract  

consumers over the past year and now has more than two million visitors a month.  

   The Marketing Communications Sector won a total of 25 medals at the Magnus Opus Awards and four awards at the 2009 

Pearl Awards, two North American competitions which recognize excellence in content, design, digital and strategy in custom 

publishing. 

   The mobile applications that we launched in September 2008 for the popular magazine The Hockey News have been a  

resounding success. The Hockey News Mobile has become a must-have companion for close to 400,000 hockey fans, who can 

download timely hockey scores and rich content onto their iPhone or BlackBerry. To a lesser degree, mobile apps have also 

been introduced for the daily paper Métro, Elle Canada, Canadian Living, Les Affaires, Finance et Investissement and Investment 

Executive, and the number of downloads is growing.

In sum, we are ramping up the development of our new integrated service offering for advertisers. The solid foundation 

we have built over the years through our operations, our niche-based strategy and our exploitation of the new directions emerging 

with the new technologies has put us in a good competitive position to take advantage of opportunities as they arise over the long 

term. In fact, we plan to deploy these new services at a much faster rate going forward.

71662_p30_71_Ang.indd   36 1/8/10   3:20:19 AM



37

All this notwithstanding, some challenges will have to be dealt with so that we can maximize the growth of these new 

services. We must put more emphasis on the development of marketing strategies for our customers. We must also become  

increasingly integrated in our selling process. Lastly, we must change the market’s tendency to consider us only in our role as 

printer and publisher. 

While the current economic environment is somewhat tempering the growth of these new services, we have succeeded 

in winning many new contracts, which speaks to the relevance of our strategy and the transformation we are currently making in 

our selling process so that we present a more complete service offering to our customers. 

New Structure

In early fiscal 2009, we announced the establishment of a new structure to support the Corporation’s growth strategy through  

the creation of the Marketing Communications Sector. At that time, the strategy involved accelerating the development of new 

services based on advertising personalization and new communication platforms, while continuing to strengthen and broaden 

the Corporation’s publishing and printing services through its two other sectors.

Subsequently, after a strategic review, we reorganized our Marketing Communications and Printing sectors, and the new 

structure took effect on November 1, 2009. As a result, all of our Canadian commercial printing and direct mail operations in the 

Marketing Communications Sector were transferred to the Printing Sector. The aim of this reorganization was to make the develop-

ment of new integrated and one-to-one marketing communication solutions on multiple platforms the fundamental mission of a 

separate sector, with print production being concentrated in another sector. 

The Printing Sector now comprises our services to publishers of newspapers, books, magazines and catalogues, our 

marketing product printing business, our Mexican operations, our U.S. and Canadian direct mail operations, and our services  

for retailers. 

The Marketing Communications Sector is now consolidating its offer through a new model based on growing business 

through specialization. This sector now has five divisions: 

   Custom communications: creating custom content and one-to-one media programs by combining a journalistic offering and 

high-level marketing, to help clients achieve their goals of building a solid relationship with their customer base

   Premedia: offering solutions aimed at creating, managing and transforming visual content for use on multiple platforms.

   One-to-one marketing solutions: developing and implementing one-to-one dialogue strategies so that customers can move 

from mass communication to highly personalized communication.

   Digital promotions: transforming print promotional material, i.e., flyers and catalogues, into enriched, user-friendly and interac-

tive Web-based content that is distributed via multiple channels.

   Digital printing solutions: developing Internet marketing strategies tied in with digital printing.

As for the Media Sector, its four groups remain unchanged: Business and Consumer Solutions, Local Solutions, New 

Media and Digital Solutions, and Educational Book Publishing. This sector mainly focuses on two avenues of growth: offering  

content and solutions for Canadian women, and offering community newspaper publishing and distribution services for  

local communities. 
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Major Rationalization Measures

Since November 2008, we have announced major rationalization measures in order to maintain our solid financial position and 

to address the severe slowdown in demand for certain of our products and services, particularly in our direct mail activities in  

the U.S., and the printing of marketing products, magazines, books and catalogues, as well as magazine publishing. Below is a  

summary of what has been accomplished in fiscal 2009:

   About 2,000 layoffs were instituted during the year, slightly more than the announced job cuts. About half of the jobs eliminated 

were in the United States. 

   We ceased the publication of a few print titles, consolidated five printing plants, and sold two plants and two magazines. 

   A set of other temporary measures have been initiated including a targeted control of hiring, unpaid leaves and reduced work 

weeks. The Corporation’s senior managers decided to take two weeks of unpaid leave but to work throughout that period which 

represents a salary decrease of 4%. The Executive Chairman of the Board and the President and Chief Executive Officer have 

reduced their salary by 10% and Board members have agreed to freeze their annual fees.

   Other measures were implemented throughout Canada, the United States and Mexico. 

All of the announced rationalization measures were implemented before the end of fiscal 2009. The resulting cost  

savings are in the order of $80.0 million for fiscal 2009 and close to $110.0 million on an annualized basis, more than initially expected. 

As a result, the total restructuring costs related to this program also slightly exceeded our initial projections. 

Total costs related to this program amounted to $104.8 million before tax. For fiscal 2009, costs amounted to $78.0 million 

before tax, of which $21.1 million is non-cash as the table below illustrates. 

Acquisitions

An intrinsic part of our strategy is to grow through strategic acquisitions. We are committed to maintaining a disciplined approach 

when making acquisitions. We ensure that the companies we acquire fit our stringent acquisition criteria: (1) fit our strategic plan 

(2) be profitable and growing (3) provide synergies with our operations (4) have good management and compatible corporate 

Restructuring Costs
(in millions of dollars)

      Balance
    2008 2009 2010 Total

 Severances 7.7 40.4 0.9 49.0
 Other costs 0.0 16.5 3.2 19.7

 Total cash costs 7.7 56.9 4.1 68.7

 Impairment of assets (non cash) 15.0 21.1 0.0 36.1

 Total costs 22.7 78.0 4.1 104.8

71662_p30_71_Ang.indd   38 1/8/10   3:20:27 AM



39

culture and (5) be accretive to earnings and EVC positive within a reasonable period of time. In fiscal 2009 we made two strategic 

acquisitions:

   Redwood Custom Communications, acquired in November 2008, is a North American leader in custom communications on 

multiple platforms. Redwood is a full service marketing and communications company and creates turnkey custom publishing 

and branded content solutions for both print and digital platforms. Redwood’s offering includes data sciences, research and 

measurement, database marketing, variable printing, photo studio and premedia tools. This makes it an attractive complement 

to the services offered by Transcontinental’s newly created Marketing Communications Sector.

   In January 2009, we acquired Conversys, Canada’s leading supplier of electronic flyers. This enriched Transcontinental’s existing 

print and interactive communication offering to major retailers. Conversys employs its multi-channel marketing services to help 

businesses increase their sales and interact more effectively with their customers by producing a continuous flow of content on 

a range of media, including websites, email and mobile technology. Conversys excels in its ability to provide content repurposing 

and hosting services to major retailers.

* Following the restatement of the financial statements in December 2007, this data is no longer available.

Analysis & Comments

We were unable to increase the economic value created. This was mainly due to the 
economic situation, the negative impact of the exchange rate, and capital expendi-
tures required for our major projects (the San Francisco Chronicle, The Globe and Mail 
and Transmag), which all required capital outlays without yet being able to fully con-
tribute to earnings.

Organic growth is still lower than the 5% objective, mainly due to the North American 
recession and the turmoil it created in the publishing and printing industries in 2009. 
However, we believe that we will improve our performance going forward, since we 
will benefit from many new contracts, especially for the San Francisco Chronicle and 
The Globe and Mail. 

We have exceeded our objective since the launch of our business project, except in 
fiscal 2009 given the negative impact on our operations of the North American reces-
sion. However, we believe that our performance will improve in fiscal 2010 due to new 
business and the fact that we have maintained our lead in most of our niches. 

Our net debt to total capitalization ratio stands at 42%, within the range set by man-
agement. We are expecting this ratio to decrease slightly over the coming year, since 
capital investments will be lower and the San Francisco Chronicle project will generate 
additional cash flow, thereby reducing the Corporation’s net indebtedness.

Our capital expenditures, net of newspaper printing outsourcing projects, were lower 
than our objective this year, since several major projects were completed in 2008.

Despite the fact that in 2009 a number of companies reduced their dividends as a 
result of the havoc created in our markets by the North American recession, our divi-
dend remained at the same level as in 2008.

Financial Objectives

Increase economic value  
creation (variance compared to  
previous year).

Grow sales organically by 5%  
on average per year. 

Grow adjusted earnings per share 
excluding the foreign exchange 
impact by 10% on average  
per year.

Maintain a range of net debt to 
total capitalization ratio excluding 
securitization of 35% to 50%.

Invest $120 million on average per 
year in capital assets (excluding 
newspaper outsourcing projects).

Sustain dividend growth.

 2006 2007 2008 2009

 n/a * ($18 M) ($28 M) ($15 M)

 0% 3% 2% -11%

 n/a * 11% 19% -11%  

 25% 29% 39% 42%

 $114 M $92 M $131 M $86 M

 19% 10% 13% 2%
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Evolution 2010

Evolution 2010, the business project that was launched in November 2005, continues to be the backbone of the two-prong  

strategy highlighted above. Evolution 2010 identified the key issues underlying our future growth: Talent, Sales Growth, Efficiency 

and Digital. The focus of the Talent issue is to attract, develop and retain the best talent that will enable us to achieve our strategic 

objectives and foster engagement; the focus of the Sales Growth issue is to increase global organic sales growth by 5% on aver-

age per year by maximizing our sales and marketing effectiveness; the focus of the Efficiency issue is to increase both production 

and administrative efficiency and finally; the focus of the Digital issue is to broaden our offering through products and services 

based on digital capabilities.  

See page 39 for a table summarizing the financial objectives of Evolution 2010 and Transcontinental’s performance in 

relation to these objectives since the program was introduced. It is important to note that these financial objectives are not to  

be construed as guidance or forecasts for any individual year, but rather as long-term targets that we strive to achieve over the  

duration of the Evolution 2010 business project. 

EnvironmEnt and SuStainablE dEvElopmEnt

We recognize the critical nature of environmental issues, and take extensive precautions to protect our natural world. Transconti-

nental is not a major contributor to Greenhouse Gases (GHG). But that does not mean that we are not concerned about the impact 

of our activities on air quality. We strive every day to improve our environmental performance, and company-wide environmental 

policies and procedures are founded on three main guiding principles: (1) protect the environment for present and future genera-

tions, (2) reduce risks and improve efficiencies, and (3) introduce improved technology and processes. The following describes our 

environmental policies and provider examples of how we are implementing them. 

policies

Paper Purchasing Policy- Transcontinental promotes the use of environmentally preferable papers. With respect to fibre sourcing, 

Transcontinental promotes the use of papers with maximized post-consumer and de-inked recycled fibre and also encourages 

the use of papers made with pre-consumer recovered fibre or alternative fibres in preference to virgin wood fibre. Where virgin 

wood fibre is required, preference will be given to forest fibre from sustainable forests, certified by a recognized organization, 

avoiding fibre from high conservation value forests where those values are not protected. Other papers may also be promoted 

where it can be shown that there is an overall environmental advantage, in keeping with the principles of sustainable development. 

   Compliance with Applicable Legal Requirements- Transcontinental complies in all material respects with applicable environ-

mental laws, including federal, provincial/state and municipal/local laws.

   Environment Protection

    Product Stewardship- Transcontinental recognizes that it shares in the responsibility for the environmental impact of the 

products it produces. Therefore, we cooperate with other public and private bodies to develop systems for the recovery, 

re-use and recycling of the company’s products.

    Eco-Efficiency- We will strive to improve our products and processes so as to progressively reduce routine discharges of 

contaminants and to use resources efficiently.

    Climate Change and Energy Use- Transcontinental recognizes the dual challenge of climate change and energy supply 
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security. Therefore, we will maximize the efficiency of our operations and encourage a transition to low carbon fuels and 

renewable energy.

    Waste Management- Transcontinental will strive to reduce its waste and to re-use and recycle materials. We will strive to 

minimize the generation of hazardous waste.

    Risk Management- Transcontinental will strive to avoid accidental discharges of contaminants into the environment and will 

prepare emergency plans so that it can diligently contain and clean up any potential environmental incidents. We evaluate 

environmental risks prior to acquiring properties or businesses, and prior to changing or undertaking major new activi-

ties.

    Supply Chain Improvement- We encourage our suppliers to adopt environmental practices consistent with this policy.

   Monitoring and Reporting- We monitor our performance in carrying out this policy.

   Communication- Transcontinental fosters openness and dialogue with all stakeholders, including employees, regulators, 

neighbours, shareholders, suppliers, customers and the public, concerning the environmental impacts of Transcontinental  

activities, and will be responsive to their legitimate concerns.

   Continuous Improvement- Transcontinental strives to continuously improve its environmental performance.

Certification and Implementation 

   Our new plant in Fremont, California is one of the first printing plants to be built to meet the Leadership in Energy and Environ-

mental Design (LEED) standards in the United States and was recently certified LEED Silver.

   42 of our facilities in Canada and the United States received triple chain-of-custody certification. This certification means that  

the process by which paper is made promotes sustainable forest management standards. Transcontinental has been certified 

by the Forest Stewardship Council (FSC), Sustainable Forestry Initiative (SFI) and Programme for the Endorsement of Forest  

Certification (PEFC).

   In 2007, Transcontinental adopted a forward-looking Paper Purchasing Policy which goes well beyond existing standards and 

certifications. Since then, managers have taken steps to make our suppliers and customers more aware of it and to help them 

move forward with us. The Corporation is proud to announce the concrete and auditable results of our day-to-day efforts: use 

of “Gold” and ‘’Gold Plus’’ ranked papers, which meet the highest standards of sustainable forest management, grew 55% from 

2008 to 2009, following on an increase of 37% from 2007 to 2008, and now represents nearly half the paper consumed in our 

printing activities.

   Transcontinental developed a Classification of Environmental Papers and supporting documentation that will guide the  

implementation of the Paper Purchasing Policy. The Classification of Environmental Papers can be found on our internet site at 

www.transcontinental.com.

   Transcontinental started to use an Environmental Products Inc. (EPI®) certified biodegradable plastic bag for its Ad-Bag  

(Publisac), a well-known tool used to distribute marketing material door-to-door to households in Quebec and eastern Ontario. 

The plastic is engineered to degrade and totally fragment in 90 to 120 days and to biodegrade in a further 12 to 24 months  

after disposal.
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   For the fourth year in a row, we are supporting the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP) to reduce the production of CO
2
. Transconti

nental’s support for the CDP reinforces its position on the environment, while demonstrating its commitment to continually  

finding new ways to help preserve the planet.

   At the beginning of fiscal 2009 we put in place an Energy Policy whose goal is to reduce energy consumption across the  

Corporation.

   Numerous other smaller initiatives are conducted across the Corporation every day, from promoting the use of public transit, to 

eliminating Styrofoam cups, to initiating car pools.

DetaileD analysis of fiscal 2009 operating results

As shown in the table below, a number of factors contributed to the variation between results in fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2008.

   The acquisitions made in 2008 and 2009, net of divestitures and closures, added $51.6 million to revenues and $3.6 million  

to adjusted operating income. Net of impairment of assets, restructuring costs, impairment of goodwill and intangible assets, 

fi nan cing expenses and income taxes, their contribution to net income applicable to participating shares amounted to  

$0.9 million.

   The paper effect had a $15.1 million positive impact on revenues. This effect includes the variation in the price of paper, paper 

supplied and changes in the type of paper used by customers of our printing operations. Note that for printing operations, these 

elements affect revenues without impacting adjusted operating income. For the Media Sector, the variation in the price of paper 

had a negative impact of $0.7 million on adjusted operating income and $0.5 million on net income applicable to participating 

shares.

Analysis of Main Variances - Consolidated Results
For the fiscal year ended October 31, 2009 (Unaudited)

(in millions of dollars)

     Net income (loss)  
   Adjusted  applicable to  
   operating  participating  
 Revenues % income (1) % shares %

 results - for fiscal 2008 $2,429.3    $233.8    $6.6 

 Acquisitions/Divestitures/Closures 51.6  2.1 % 3.6  1.5 % 0.9  13.6 % 
 Existing operations
  Paper effect 15.1  0.6 % (0.7)  (0.3) % (0.5)  (7.6) % 
  Exchange rate 63.2  2.6 % 13.7  5.9 % 7.1  107.6 % 
  Organic growth (negative) (264.6)  (10.9) % (38.5)  (16.5) % (17.6)  (266.7) % 
 Impairment of assets and restructuring costs, impairment of goodwill  
  and intangible assets and unusual adjustments to income taxes  —   —   —   —  (78.8)  n/a % 

 results - for fiscal 2009 $2,294.6  (5.5) % $211.9  (9.4) % $(82.3)  n/a % 

(1)  Adjusted operating income refers to operating income before impairment of assets and restructuring costs and impairment of goodwill and intangible assets
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Selected Financial Data
for fiscal years ended October 31 (Unaudited)

(in millions of dollars, except per share data)

   Variation
 2009 2008 (1) in % 

 Operations
  Revenues $2,294.6  $2,429.3  -6%
  Adjusted operating income before amortization (2) (3) 349.3  361.5  -3%
  Operating income (loss) (38.7)  14.3  n/a
  Adjusted operating income (2) (4) 211.9  233.8  -9%
  Net income (loss) (81.8)  6.6  n/a
  Net income (loss) applicable to participating shares (5) (82.3)  6.6  n/a
  Adjusted net income applicable to participating shares (2) (6) 130.2  140.3  -7%
  Cash flow from operating activities before changes in non-cash operating items 247.5  296.9  -17%
  Cash flow related to operating activities 78.8  284.0  -72%

 Investments
  Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment 261.9  228.7  15%
  Business acquisitions (7) 14.4  67.3  -79%

 Financial condition
  Total assets 2,549.7  2,615.0  -2%
  Net indebtedness (2) (8) 792.1  705.7  12%
  Shareholders’ equity 1,115.2  1,103.0  1%
  Net indebtedness (including utilization of securitization program) / adjusted 
   operating income before amortization (3) 2.59  2.64  -2%
  Net indebtedness ratio 42% 39%  3%

 Per share data (basic)
  Net income (loss) applicable to participating shares (2) (5) (1.02) 0.08  n/a
  Adjusted net income applicable to participating shares (2) (6) 1.61  1.72  -6%
  Cash flow from operating activities before changes in non-cash operating items 3.06  3.63  -16%
  Cash flow related to operating activities 0.97  3.48  -72%
  Dividends on participating shares 0.32  0.31  2%
  Shareholders’ equity 13.80  13.65  1%

 Average number of participating shares outstanding (in millions) 80.8  81.7 

 Number of participating shares at year-end (in millions)     80.8  80.8 

(1)  Balance sheet items as at October 31, 2008 were adjusted (See Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements).
(2)  Please refer to the section “Reconciliation of non-GAAP Financial Measures” on page 52 of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis.
(3)   Adjusted operating income before amortization refers to operating income before amortization, impairment of assets and restructuring costs and impairment of goodwill and intangible assets.
(4)  Adjusted operating income refers to operating income before impairment of assets and restructuring costs and impairment of goodwill and intangible assets.
(5)  Net income (loss) applicable to participating shares refers to net income (loss) minus accumulated dividends on preferred shares.
(6)   Adjusted net income applicable to participating shares refers to net income (loss) applicable to participating shares before impairment of assets and restructuring costs and impairment  

    of goodwill and intangible assets less related income taxes and unusual adjustments to income taxes.
(7)  Total consideration in cash or otherwise for businesses acquired through the purchase of shares or assets.
(8)   Net indebtedness refers to long-term debt plus current portion of long-term debt plus bank overdraft less cash and temporary investments.
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   The variations in the exchange rates between the Canadian dollar and its U.S. and Mexican counterparts had a considerable 

impact on the fiscal 2009 results, causing a $63.2 million increase in revenues and a $13.7 million increase in adjusted operat-

ing income. It is important to note that the variation in average spot exchange rates in fiscal 2009 versus fiscal 2008 was 17.0% 

for the CAD/USD and 8.5% for the CAD/MXP. With respect to revenues, conversion of sales by U.S. and Mexican units had a 

positive impact of $41.3 million. For export sales from Canadian plants, net of the currency hedging program, the positive impact 

was $21.9 million. The conversion of results for the U.S. and Mexican units had a negative impact of $1.0 million on adjusted 

operating income. The positive impact of export sales, net of the currency hedging program and purchases in U.S. dollars, was 

$16.2 million on adjusted operating income. Finally, the negative impact of the conversion of balance sheet items related to  

the operation of Canadian units denominated in foreign currency was $1.5 million on adjusted operating income. Taking into 

consideration amortization, financial expenses and income taxes denominated in foreign currencies, the net positive effect was 

$7.1 million. 

   Revenues in our base business were down $264.6 million, or 10.9% in fiscal 2009. This decrease stemmed mainly from the 

Direct Mail Group in the United States and the Magazine, Book and Catalogue Group in the Printing Sector, followed by the 

Marketing Products Group in the Marketing Communications Sector, then by consumer magazine and business magazine  

divisions in the Media Sector. It is important to note that more than 43% of the decrease is attributable to the Direct Mail Group 

in the United States.

   The negative organic growth in adjusted operating income of $38.5 million, or 16.5% in fiscal 2009 can mainly be attributed to 

the Marketing Products Group in the Marketing Communications Sector, followed by the Magazine, Book and Catalogue Group 

and the Direct Mail Group in the Printing Sector, and lastly by the consumer magazine and business magazine divisions in  

the Media Sector. It is important to point out that our rationalization measures are bearing fruit. Adjusted operating income 

generated positive organic growth of $4.5 million, or 5.9%, in the fourth quarter of 2009, a marked improvement over the  

previous quarter. 

Amortization

Amortization expense increased by $9.7 million, or 7.6%, to $137.4 million, in fiscal 2009, compared to $127.7 million in fiscal 2008. 

This increase results mostly from acquisitions, the startup of printing of the San Francisco Chronicle, investments completed in  

the Transcontinental Transmag plant and the exchange rate effect, partially offset by the capital asset write downs related to the 

rationalization measures.

Impairment of Assets and Restructuring Costs 

An amount of $78.0 million before tax ($54.6 million after tax) was accounted for separately in the consolidated statement of  

income for 2009 as impairment of assets and restructuring costs. Details are as follows: 

   Asset impairment of $21.1 million before tax ($15.0 million after tax) relating primarily to production equipment that was no longer 

required due to reduced activity in some of our business units.

   Restructuring costs of $56.9 million before tax ($39.6 million after tax) related to the consolidation of the direct mail activities in 

the U.S., announced during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, as well as the rationalization measures put in place following the 

deterioration of demand for the products and services of certain businesses, announced in February 2009. 
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An amount of $27.4 million before tax ($18.4 million after tax) was accounted for separately in consolidated results for 

fiscal 2008 as impairment of assets and restructuring costs. Of this amount, $22.7 million was related to consolidation of direct  

mail operations in the United States, $4.3 million to closure of The Daily News newspaper in Halifax and $0.4 million to the plan to 

restructure our commercial printing operations launched in 2007.

Impairment of Goodwill and Intangible Assets

For fiscal 2009, $172.6 million before tax ($157.9 million after tax) was accounted for separately in the consolidated statement of 

income as impairment of goodwill and intangible assets. Of this amount, $166.5 million represents goodwill impairment in the 

Marketing Communications Sector, mainly associated with our commercial products printing. The remaining $6.1 million item 

charged to income is related to the write-off of trade names in the Consumer Solutions Group in the Media Sector. An amount of 

$192.1 million ($126.8 million after tax) was accounted for separately in the consolidated statement of income as impairment of 

goodwill and intangible assets in fiscal 2008 and was entirely related to our direct mail operations in the United States.

Financial Expenses and Discount on Sale of Accounts Receivable

When combined, financial expenses and discount on sale of accounts receivable increased by $5.7 million, or 14.3%, from  

$39.8 million in fiscal 2008 to $45.5 million in fiscal 2009. This increase is mainly due to the increase in net indebtedness related 

to the purchase of property, plant and equipment, and business acquisitions combined with the exchange rate effect.

Income Taxes

Income taxes increased by $29.0 million, from a recovery of $31.7 million in fiscal 2008 to a recovery of $2.7 million in fiscal 2009. 

Excluding income taxes on impairment of goodwill and intangible assets, impairment of assets and restructuring costs, as well  

as unusual adjustments to income taxes, the income taxes would have been $35.4 million, with an income tax rate of 21.4% as 

compared to $54.1 million and 28.0% in fiscal 2008. This decrease is mainly due to the change in the geographic distribution of 

pre-tax earnings. 

During the second quarter of fiscal 2008, the Corporation entered into an agreement with the tax authorities and settled 

its obligation regarding Bill 15 enacted in June 2006 for an amount of $3.9 million. An amount of $8.4 million had been provided 

for in the third quarter of fiscal 2006 with regards to this obligation. A decrease of $4.5 million in current income tax expense was 

therefore recorded to reflect this settlement. In addition, on December 13, 2007, Bill C-28 received third reading in the House of 

Commons. Accordingly, the federal corporate income tax rate reductions announced in the October 30, 2007 Economic Statement 

became substantively enacted for the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian 

GAAP. This decrease in federal tax rate reduced both the income tax expense and net future income tax liabilities by $7.0 million 

during the first quarter of fiscal 2008.

Dividends on Preferred Shares 

Dividends of $0.5 million on preferred shares were considered with respect to the 4,000,000 cumulative 5-year rate reset first 

preferred shares, series D issued in October 2009. No preferred shares were in circulation in fiscal 2008.

Net Income Applicable to Participating Shares

Net income applicable to participating shares decreased from $6.6 million in fiscal 2008 to a net loss of $82.3 million in fiscal 2009. 

This decrease is primarily due to an unfavourable variation in unusual items (related mainly to impairment of goodwill and intan-

gible assets, impairment of assets and restructuring costs), as well as the decrease in adjusted operating income and higher  
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financial expenses, partially offset by the reduction in income taxes and cost savings from rationalization measures. On a per-share 

basis, net income applicable to participating shares decreased from $0.08 to a loss of $1.02. 

Adjusted net income applicable to participating shares, excluding impairment of goodwill and intangible assets,  

impairment of assets and restructuring costs, as well as unusual adjustments to income taxes, decreased by $10.1 million, or 7.2%, 

from $140.3 million in fiscal 2008 to $130.2 million in fiscal 2009. Adjusted net income applicable to participating shares decreased 

6.4%, from $1.72 to $1.61. 

Excluding the positive exchange rate effect for fiscal 2009, net income applicable to participating shares would have been 

$1.52, which would have been a decrease of 11.6% compared to fiscal 2008. This measurement is a good indicator of the net  

operating performance for fiscal 2009.

Note that in this table, revenues generated by Canadian entities expressed in U.S. dollars decreased by $28.8 million,  

or 13.5%. After conversion into Canadian dollars, the decrease is only $7.7 million, or 3.6%, illustrating the positive impact of the 

average increase in the U.S. dollar against the Canadian dollar in fiscal 2009 compared to fiscal 2008. 

Revenues Generated in US Dollars

for fiscal years ended October 31 (Unaudited)
(in millions of US dollars)

     Variation $  Variation % 
 2009 Breakdown 2008 Breakdown 2009 vs 2008 2009 vs 2008

 Exports from Canada to the U.S. $ 184.7  44.9%  $213.5  42.7%  $ (28.8)  (13.5)%
 Revenues generated in the U.S by U.S. business units  226.5  55.1  286.8  57.3   (60.3)  (21.0)

 Total revenues $ 411.2  100.0%  $500.3  100.0%  $ (89.1)  (17.8)%

Geographic Distribution of Total Revenues  
in Canadian Dollars

for fiscal years ended October 31 (Unaudited)
(in millions of Canadian dollars)

     Variation $  Variation % 
 2009 Breakdown 2008 Breakdown 2009 vs 2008 2009 vs 2008

 Canada $ 1,744.9  76.0%  $1,836.8  75.6%  $ (91.9)  (5.0)%

 U.S. and Mexico
  Imports from Canada  207.3  9.1  215.0  8.9   (7.7)  (3.6)
  Domestic markets  342.4  14.9  377.5  15.5   (35.1)  (9.3)

 Total U.S. and Mexico  549.7  24.0  592.5  24.4   (42.8)  (7.2)

 Total revenues $ 2,294.6  100.0%  $2,429.3  100.0%  $ (134.7)  (5.5)%
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The 5.0%, or $91.9 million, decrease in revenues generated in Canada compared to 2008 is lower than the 5.5%  

decrease in the Corporation’s consolidated revenues mainly due to our leading position in most of our niches and our diversified 

operations, and particularly our distribution and educational book publishing operations. With respect to revenues from the  

domestic U.S. and Mexican markets, the 9.3% decrease compared to 2008 stems essentially from the financial crisis, which 

greatly affected our direct mail operations in the United States, and the sale of a plant in Ohio, partially offset by the revenues  

generated by the acquisition of Rastar in 2008 and the start-up of printing the San Francisco Chronicle in July 2009. 

Review of opeRating SectoRS foR fiScal 2009

This review of operating sectors should be read in conjunction with the information presented in the table on page 49 and the  

information disclosed in the Segmented Information note (note 28) to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the fiscal year 

ended October 31, 2009.

Management believes that adjusted operating income by business segment used in this section is a meaningful  

measure of its financial performance. 

printing Sector

Printing sector revenues decreased from $1,536.7 million in fiscal 2008 to $1,405.6 million in 2009, a drop of $131.1 million, or 8.5%. 

Excluding divestitures, closures and the paper and exchange rate effects, revenues were down $186.8 million, or 12.2%. Although 

the recession and the transformation of the printing industry affected all of our printing activities, our direct mail operations in the 

United States were clearly the hardest hit. Direct mail operations accounted for more than 60% of the negative organic growth 

recorded by the Printing sector in fiscal 2009, which was primarily related to the major financial crisis in the United States, as it 

forced U.S. financial institutions to decrease the frequency and scope as well as to simplify their direct mail campaigns.

The transformation in the industry also affected revenues in our other printing operations. While the Magazine, Book  

and Catalogue Group, and the Newspaper Group were particularly affected for a large part of the year by lower circulation and 

number of pages, the Retail Group and the Mexico Group saw some of their core clients cut back their marketing programs. In 

addition, still due to the economic context, the Magazine, Book and Catalogue Group experienced a certain slowdown in the  

export of educational books and catalogues to the United States. These negative factors were however partially offset by the 

positive impact of the new exclusive contract signed with Rogers in fiscal 2008 to print all of Rogers’ magazines, which started 

successfully in the second quarter of 2009. Despite the difficult context, the termination of the Sunday edition of La Presse in July 

and the loss of the contract to print The New York Times for the Toronto area in the fourth quarter, the Newspaper Group closed 

fiscal 2009 with positive growth figures. This is mostly due to the startup of printing the San Francisco Chronicle in July. Retail Group 

revenues were down mainly stemming from the sale of its regional flyer printing plant in Ohio last May following a review of the 

Corporation’s business objectives in that region. On the other hand, lower revenues in the Retail Group were mitigated by the full 

effect of the contract with Shoppers Drug Mart-Pharmaprix, which took effect in the second half of fiscal 2008. Lastly, the downward 

trend that affected the sector’s sales in 2009 had progressively less of an impact over the course of the year, as negative organic 

growth was only 4.0% in the fourth quarter, including positive organic growth for the Retail Group.

Adjusted operating income decreased $9.8 million, or 6.6%, from $147.9 million in fiscal 2008 to $138.1 million in fiscal 

2009. Excluding divestitures, closures and exchange rate effects, adjusted operating income decreased $25.5 million, or 17.2%. 

Apart from the Retail Group, which had positive organic growth due to significant rationalization measures and its improved  

operating efficiency, the other groups in the Printing Sector posted negative growth in adjusted operating income. However, the 
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rationalization measures instituted throughout the sector, whose positive effects were principally felt in the second half of the year, 

greatly contributed to limiting the deterioration in adjusted operating income caused by the economic situation. 

Overall, the rationalization measures increased the adjusted operating income margin from 9.6% for fiscal 2008 to 9.8% 

for fiscal 2009, despite the fact that the industry was strongly affected by the recession. Although our direct mail operations in the 

United States clearly bore the brunt of the recession, we reacted quickly by adjusting our production capacity to respond to the 

decreased demand. This means that we now have a cost structure that is better adapted to the current demand, and we have 

consolidated our competitive position.

We completed the following major investment projects:

   San Francisco Chronicle: (investment of US$230 million for outsourced newspaper printing under a 15-year contract signed with 

Hearst Corporation in 2006): printing started up successfully, as scheduled, on July 6, 2009. 

   Transmag: (investment of close to $60 million for local and regional newspapers): the run-in period for the new presses is  

now almost completed. Completion of this state-of-the-art technology project has enabled us to upgrade our colour printing 

capabilities, improve quality and increase production efficiency while considerably reducing the cost structure.

Following the signing, at the end of fiscal 2008, of a $1.7 billion contract to print The Globe and Mail daily paper until 2028, 

fiscal 2009 marked the start of investments in a new $175 million project. The goal of this major project is to set up a new and  

innovative Canada-wide platform to print newspapers and flyers. It will be the first network to integrate the printing of these two 

products in Canada. The network will offer the option of adding colour to each page of The Globe and Mail, and will also enable 

us to meet the needs of our retailers. This will result in certain synergies and an improvement in overall efficiency, thanks to more 

productive equipment, better utilization of our production capacity and reduced paper wastage. This strategic investment will also 

help reduce capital expenditures in the next few years, particularly in the Newspaper and Retail groups. To date, the project is on 

schedule and the new printing platform should gradually start operating during the second half of fiscal 2010.

 In fiscal 2010, the Newspaper Group will benefit for the entire year from the printing of the San Francisco Chronicle and 

the synergies generated by printing local and regional newspapers on the new presses installed in Transcontinental Transmag in 

fiscal 2009. However, the Newspaper Group will feel the full negative impact of the termination of the Sunday edition of La Presse 

and the loss of the contract to print The New York Times for the Toronto area. In addition, we expect that the Newspaper Group will 

continue to be affected by the weakness in the advertising market, which usually manifests as a reduction in the number of pages 

to be printed. As for the Magazine, Book and Catalogue Group, it will benefit from the positive impact of the new Rogers contract 

for the full year. We believe, however, that this group will continue to suffer from market overcapacity and the transformation in the 

industry (decreases in number of pages and titles, shorter print runs due to less national advertising, reduction in marketing  

budgets for catalogues and low demand for specialty and religious works). The Newspaper Group and the Retail Group will both 

focus on setting up the Canada-wide newspaper and flyer printing network that will print The Globe and Mail. The Direct Mail 

Group in the United States will concentrate on optimizing its operational efficiency and increasing its market share in a market that 

we believe will improve over the next year.

The Printing sector overall will concentrate on further optimizing its operational efficiency. The rationalization measures 

deployed throughout fiscal 2009 have already enabled us to reduce our cost structure and improve our operational efficiency and 
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management of our production capacity, which will benefit the sector throughout 2010. In addition, we believe there will be further 

opportunities to reduce costs going forward through continuous improvement and the implementation of our new combined 

platform for printing newspapers and flyers. As a result, we are confident that through these initiatives, the Printing sector will be 

better equipped to perform in a changing industry.

Marketing Communications Sector

Revenues in the Marketing Communications Sector increased from $341.7 million in fiscal 2008 to $373.5 million in 2009, up  

$31.8 million, or 9.3%. Excluding acquisitions, and paper and exchange rate effects, revenues were down $46.9 million, or 13.7%. 

Acquisitions (Rastar, ThinData, Redwood Custom Communications and Conversys) added $75.5 million to revenues, partially offset 

by decreased sales in the Execution and Delivery Group (mainly in marketing products printing), accounting for almost all of the 

sector’s negative organic growth. Marketing products printing bore the brunt of the North American recession, which had a major 

negative impact on the marketing budgets of our customers. The decrease was partly counterbalanced by the new exclusive  

six-year contract with Rogers which began in February 2009. In addition, despite the economic situation and negative organic growth, 

it is important to point out that we successfully maintained our market share during the year, thanks, among other things, to shifting 

our offering to provide more personalized marketing products that businesses can use to reach their customers more effectively.

Adjusted operating income decreased from $9.5 million for fiscal 2008 to a loss of $2.7 million in 2009, down $12.2 million. 

Excluding acquisitions and the exchange rate effect, adjusted operating income decreased $12.5 million. The North American  

recession forced companies to cut their marketing budgets, which had a significant impact on our Execution and Delivery Group 

Analysis of Main Variances - Sector Results
for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2009 (Unaudited)

(in millions of dollars)

  Marketing   
  communications  Inter-segment Consolidated  
 Printing Sector Sector Media Sector and Other Results Results

 Revenues - for Fiscal 2008 $ 1 536.7  $ 341.7  $ 645.3  $ (94.4)  $ 2 429.3 

 Acquisitions/Divestitures/Closures  (19.4)   75.5   (4.5)    —   51.6 
 Existing operations
  Paper effect  16.1   (1.0)    —    —   15.1 
  Exchange rate  59.0   4.2    —    —   63.2 
  Organic growth (negative)  (186.8)   (46.9)   (33.8)   2.9   (264.6)

 Revenues - for Fiscal 2009 $ 1 405.6  $ 373.5  $ 607.0  $ (91.5)  $ 2 294.6

 Adjusted operating income (1) - for Fiscal 2008 $ 147.9  $ 9.5  $ 102.6  $ (26.2)  $ 233.8
 Acquisitions/Divestitures/Closures  0.6   1.7   1.3    —   3.6 
 Existing operations
  Paper effect   —    —   (0.7)    —   (0.7)
  Exchange rate  15.1   (1.4)    —    —   13.7 
  Organic growth (negative)  (25.5)   (12.5)   (9.9)   9.4   (38.5)

 Adjusted operating income (1)  - for Fiscal 2009 $ 138.1  $ (2.7)  $ 93.3  $ (16.8)  $ 211.9

(1)  Adjusted operating income refers to operating income before impairment of assets and restructuring costs and impairment of goodwill and intangible assets
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and, more particularly, our marketing products printing operations. The implementation of rationalization measures announced in 

February 2009 partly tempered the impact of the recession. The Content Solutions Group and Business Intelligence and Analytics 

Group mainly focused on integrating the new acquisitions, Redwood and Conversys, and on consolidating our technologies, 

which limited the adjusted operating income generated in fiscal 2009. 

The adjusted operating income margin also decreased, from 2.8% for fiscal 2008 to a loss of 0.7% in 2009, given the 

tough market conditions related mainly to marketing products printing. In addition, due to the widespread cuts in corporate  

marketing budgets, production overcapacity had a negative effect on prices and, as a result, on operating margins during the  

year. However, we have observed that the pace of the fall in demand for these products has slowed in the past quarter compared 

to the three earlier quarters in fiscal 2009. In terms of our acquisitions, the weaker operating margin is largely explained by our 

U.S. digital printing operations, which were negatively affected by the recession in the automobile industry in 2009, since these 

customers accounted for the major portion of revenues, and by our strategic investments in our digital platforms.

In fiscal 2009, we acquired Conversys, Canada’s leading supplier of electronic flyers. We also acquired Redwood Custom 

Communications, a North American leader in custom communications. Redwood offers a full line of marketing and communication 

services and creates custom publishing turnkey solutions and personalized content for print and digital. These two acquisitions 

greatly enrich Transcontinental’s existing print and interactive communications offering to major retailers and to customers who 

deal in basic consumer products.  

Despite the negative impact of the recession on our clients’ marketing budgets, we signed several new contracts with 

major brands; they are thus becoming clients of our marketing communication services. Although these new clients come from a 

wide range of industries, the contracts we have signed are always based on the same reality, that Transcontinental has the  

capacity to provide them with a comprehensive set of solutions designed to meet their individual business needs, and in doing so 

to broaden their mix of marketing products. Clients include Reader’s Digest Canada, Shopping Channel, Shoppers Drug Mart - 

Pharmaprix, Zellers and Purolator.

We believe that in fiscal 2010 the emergence of digital platforms will accelerate and, with the assistance of our most  

recent acquisitions, we plan to take advantage of the opportunities created to offer a unique set of digital solutions. Furthermore, 

we will ramp up our investments in our new digital technologies in order to support our growth prospects in this expanding market. 

Our marketing products printing operations, which will come under the Printing Sector in 2010, will benefit from the full effect of the 

exclusive agreement with Rogers and the rationalization measures deployed in fiscal 2009. Nevertheless, we believe that these 

operations will continue to be affected by the economic situation and by the evolving needs of our customers.

Media Sector

Revenues in the Media sector declined from $645.3 million in fiscal 2008 to $607.0 million in 2009, down $38.3 million, or 5.9%. 

Divestitures and closures, partially offset by small but strategic acquisitions in 2008, had a negative impact of $4.5 million on  

revenues in 2009. Excluding acquisitions, divestitures and closures, revenues decreased $33.8 million, or 5.2%. Organic growth in 

educational book publishing, distribution operations and digital media initiatives was positive in 2009. However the wide-ranging 

transformation of the publishing industry, coupled with lower national advertising in our consumer and business magazine  

publishing segments, as well as, to a lesser degree, the decrease in local advertising in our community papers, caused the  

decrease in revenues in this sector compared to fiscal 2008. 
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Adjusted operating income was down $9.3 million, or 9.1%, from $102.6 million in fiscal 2008 to $93.3 million in 2009. 

Excluding acquisitions, divestitures and closures, as well as the paper effect, adjusted operating income decreased $9.9 million, 

or 9.6%. The decrease in adjusted operating income is mainly attributable to lower revenues. We instituted aggressive rationaliza-

tion measures to adjust our cost structure to the current realities of the publishing industry and to mitigate the impact of the decline 

in revenues. The adjusted operating income margin was down slightly, from 15.9% in fiscal 2008 to 15.4% in 2009. Organic growth 

generated by our educational publishing and distribution business, combined with the cost reductions achieved through the ratio-

nalization initiatives partly offset the lower revenues from consumer and business magazines and community newspapers, as 

well as strategic investments in digital initiatives. The impact of the rationalization measures was felt more in the last quarter of 

2009, which recorded positive growth of $1.9 million for the sector compared to 2008.

In fiscal 2009, the Media sector continued to expand and enhance its digital offering through numerous strategic invest-

ments and the development of new initiatives that emphasize the growth of digital media, notably with the Web site weblocal.ca, 

which receives more than two million unique visitors per month. Efforts to further integrate sales were also pursued, to offer cus-

tomers multiple platforms that meet their needs by providing creativity and diversity. Despite the decrease in advertising revenues, 

most publications maintained and even increased their market share. The community newspaper division made significant 

changes to its structure, reducing its nine administrative regions to five. We also ceased publishing eight titles such as Canadian 

Home and Country and Vision Durable. In addition, we sold Outdoor Canada and Canadian Home Workshop in the fourth quarter.  

In 2010, the Media sector will continue to develop its digital offering. The monetization of new products will continue, 

particularly for the weblocal.ca site. The sector will also benefit from the restructuring in the community newspaper division aimed 

at achieving a better fit with market realities, which tend towards the use of complementary platforms to meet the needs of  

advertisers and readers. The consumer magazines and business publications will continue to leverage their leading brands in the 

Canadian market on a number of different platforms. Efforts to improve operational efficiency and renewal of the offering will also 

allow us to keep our competitive advantage. Revenues from national and local advertising will continue to suffer the negative  

effects of the weak market, especially in the automobile industry and financial services, but we anticipate a certain improvement 

with the recovery of the Canadian economy. However, our digital operations should continue to grow. The Distribution Division 

should remain on track despite the economy, and the Educational Book Publishing Group should continue to benefit from the edu-

cational reform in Québec.

Inter-Segment and Other Activities

Revenues of inter-segment and other activities went from a negative total of $94.4 million in fiscal 2008 to a negative total of  

$91.5 million in 2009. The variation is mainly attributable to the decrease in other activities. Adjusted operating income went  

from a negative total of $26.2 million in fiscal 2008 to a negative total of $16.8 million in 2009. The variation stems mainly from our 

rationalization plan. 

RecOncIlIAtIOn Of nOn-GAAP fInAncIAl MeASuReS 

Financial data have been prepared in conformity with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). However,  

certain measures used in this discussion and analysis do not have any standardized meaning under GAAP and could be calcu-

lated differently by other companies. The Corporation believes that certain non-GAAP financial measures, when presented in 

conjunction with comparable GAAP financial measures, are useful to investors and other readers because that information is an 

appropriate measure for evaluating the Corporation’s operating performance. Internally, the Corporation uses this non-GAAP  

financial information as an indicator of business performance, and evaluates management’s effectiveness with specific reference 
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to these indicators. These measures should be considered in addition to, not as a substitute for or superior to, measures of financial 

performance prepared in accordance with GAAP. Above is a table reconciling GAAP financial measures to non-GAAP financial 

measures.

Summary of Quarterly reSultS

The table on the next page shows the evolution of the Corporation’s quarterly results. Note the impact on revenues of the North 

American recession in 2009; the rationalization measures limited the impact of the slowdown on earnings. The fourth quarter is 

higher than the others since advertising spending is generally higher in the fall; also, it is the peak period for book printing and for 

our educational book segment.

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures
for fiscal years ended October 31 (Unaudited)

(in millions of dollars, except per share amounts)

     2009  2008 

 Net income (loss) applicable to participating shares $ (82.3)  $ 6.6
 Dividends on preferred shares  0.5    —
 Non-controlling interest  0.3   (0.4)
 Income taxes  (2.7)   (31.7)
 Discount on sale of accounts receivable  4.5   9.3 
 Financial expenses  41.0   30.5 
 Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets  172.6   192.1 
 Impairment of assets and restructuring costs  78.0   27.4 

 adjusted operating income   211.9   233.8 

 Amortization  137.4   127.7 

 adjusted operating income before amortization $ 349.3  $ 361.5

 Net income (loss) applicable to participating shares $ (82.3)  $ 6.6
 Impairment of assets and restructuring costs (after tax)  54.6   18.4 
 Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets (after tax)  157.9   126.8 
 Unusual adjustments to income taxes   —   (11.5)

 adjusted net income applicable to participating shares  130.2   140.3 

 Average number of participating shares outstanding  80.8   81.7 

 adjusted net income applicable to participating shares per share $ 1.61  $ 1.72

 Cash flow related to operating activities $ 78.8  $ 284.0
 Changes in non-cash operating items  (168.7)   (12.9)

 Cash flow from operating activities before changes in non-cash operating items $ 247.5  $ 296.9

 Long-term debt $ 819.0  $ 602.1
 Current portion of long-term debt  7.8   194.3 
 Cash and cash equivalents  (34.7)   (90.7)

 Net indebtedness $ 792.1   $ 705.7 
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Financial condition, liquidity and capital ResouRces 

operating activities 

Cash flow from operating activities before changes in non-cash operating items declined from $296.9 million in 2008 to  

$247.5 million in 2009. The change is primarily due to the decrease in adjusted operating income before amortization, higher  

restructuring costs and higher cash income taxes. Changes in non-cash operating items resulted in an outflow of $168.7 million in 

2009, compared to an outflow of $12.9 million in 2008. This difference is mainly due to variations in the Corporation’s securitization 

program, as well as the timing of the payments of certain accounts payable. Consequently, cash flow from operating activities 

decreased, resulting in an inflow of $78.8 million in fiscal 2009, compared to an inflow of $284.0 million in fiscal 2008.

investing activities 

In 2009, $245.6 million was invested in property, plant and equipment, net of disposals, an increase of $18.8 million compared to 

the $226.8 million invested in fiscal 2008. We invested more than $150.0 million in our two major projects previously announced, 

namely the San Francisco Chronicle project, and the project to establish a single Canada-wide platform for newspaper and flyer 

printing that will be used for the Globe and Mail contract, among others.

 Financing activities 

The Corporation paid $25.8 million, or 32 cents per share, in dividends in fiscal 2009, compared to $25.3 million, or 31 cents per 

share in fiscal 2008, an increase of 2.0%. Dividends paid by Transcontinental to Canadian residents are eligible dividends as per 

provincial and federal income tax laws. 

On October 2, 2009, the Corporation closed its public offering of 4,000,000 cumulative 5-year rate reset first preferred 

shares, series D (the “Series D Preferred Shares”) for gross proceeds of $100 million. The Series D Preferred Shares will yield cumu-

lative dividends of 6.75% per annum for the first five years, payable quarterly in January, April, July and October. The dividend rate 

will be reset on October 15, 2014 and every five years thereafter at a rate equal to the 5-year Government of Canada bond yield 

Selected Quarterly Financial Results
(unaudited)

(in millions of dollars, except per share amounts)

 2009 2008
    q4  q3  q2  q1  Q4  Q3  Q2  Q1

 Revenues $ 595 $ 533 $ 563 $ 604 $ 653 $ 585 $ 595 $ 596
 Adjusted operating income before amortization  124  86  81  58  108  82  89  82 
 Adjusted operating income margin before amortization  20.9%  16.1%  14.4%  9.6%  16.5%  14.0%  15.0%  13.8%
 Operating income (loss) $ 71 $ 46 $ (150) $ (6) $ (139) $ 50 $ 55 $ 48 
 Adjusted operating income  87  53  47  25  76  51  57  50 
 Adjusted operating income margin  14.6%  10.0%  8.3%  4.1%  11.6%  8.7%  9.6%  8.4%
 Net income (loss) applicable to participating shares $ 43 $ 25 $ (144) $ (6) $ (94) $ 30 $ 37 $ 34 
 Per share  0.54  0.31  (1.79)  (0.08)  (1.16)  0.37  0.45  0.41 
 Adjusted net income applicable to participating shares  54  31  30  15  48  30  34  28 
 Per share  0.66  0.39  0.37  0.19  0.59  0.37  0.42  0.34 
 % of fiscal year   41%   24%   23%   12%   34%   22%   24 %   20 %
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plus 4.16%. The Series D Preferred Shares are redeemable by Transcontinental on their fifth anniversary and can be converted 

(subject to certain conditions), at the holder’s option into cumulative floating rate preferred shares series E (the “Series E Preferred 

Shares”), on October 15, 2014, and every five years thereafter. The Series E Preferred Shares will have a cumulative quarterly floating 

dividend at a rate equal to the three-month Government of Canada Treasury Bill yield plus 4.16%. The Series E Preferred Shares are 

redeemable by Transcontinental and can be converted (subject to certain conditions) at the holder’s option into Series D Preferred 

Shares, on October 15, 2019 and every five years thereafter.

Principal Cash Flows and Financial Condition
for fiscal years ended October 31 (Unaudited)

(in millions of dollars)

     2009  2008 

 Operating activities
 Cash flow from operating activities before changes in non-cash operating items  $247.5  $296.9 
 Changes in non-cash operating items  (168.7)  (12.9)

 Cash flow related to operating activities  78.8  284.0 

 Investing activities 
 Business acquisitions, net of disposals  (14.4)  (67.3)
 Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment, net of disposals  (245.6)  (226.8)
 Other  (25.5)  (31.3)

 Cash flow used in investing activities   (285.5)  (325.4)

 Financing activities
 Increase (reimbursement) of long-term debt, net  173.4  (26.0)
 Increase (decrease) in revolving term credit facility  (89.7)  177.7 
 Issuance of preferred shares  96.8   — 
 Issuance of participating shares  0.2  0.6 
 Redemption of participating shares  —  (48.7)
 Dividends on participating shares  (25.8)  (25.3)
 Other  (0.6)  (0.2)

 Cash flow related to financing activities  154.3  78.1 

 Other relevant information
 Net indebtedness  792.1  705.7 
 Shareholders’ equity  1,115.2  1,103.0 
 Net indebtedness (including usage of the securitization program) /  adjusted operating income before amortization 2.59  2.64 
 Net indebtedness / Total capitalization ratio  42%  39%
 Credit rating
  DBRS  BBB High  BBB High
     Stable  Stable

  Standard and Poor’s  BBB -  BBB
     Stable  Stable
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The Corporation was authorized to purchase for cancellation on the open market, between December 20, 2007 and 

December 19, 2008, up to 3,333,994 of its Class A Subordinate Voting Shares, representing 5% of the 66,679,889 issued and 

outstanding Class A Subordinate Voting Shares as at December 10, 2007, and up to 845,271 of its Class B Shares, representing 5% 

of the 16,905,432 issued and outstanding Class B Shares as at December 10, 2007. 

In addition, the Corporation was authorized to purchase for cancellation on the open market, between November 21, 2006 

and November 20, 2007, up to 3,448,698 of its Class A Subordinate Voting Shares, representing 5% of the 68,973,966 issued and 

outstanding Class A Subordinate Voting Shares as at November 7, 2006, and up to 852,907 of its Class B Shares, representing 5% of 

the 17,058,145 issued and outstanding Class B Shares as at November 7, 2006. The purchases were made in the normal course of 

business at market prices through the facilities of the Toronto Stock Exchange in accordance with the requirements of the exchange.

For the fiscal year ended October 31, 2009, the Corporation did not request a new buyback program and did not buy back 

any shares. 

For the year ended October 31, 2008, the Corporation purchased 2,894,100 of its Class A Subordinate Voting Shares at a 

weighted average price of $16.77 for a total consideration of $48.5 million and 8,000 of its Class B Shares at a weighted average 

price of $18.34 for a total consideration of $0.2 million. Of the total consideration of $48.7 million, $16.2 million corresponds to  

the book value and $32.5 million corresponds to the premium paid. The premium was accounted for as a decrease in retained 

earnings.

Shares Issued and Outstanding As at October 31, 2009 As at November 30, 2009

Class A 

(Subordinate Voting Shares) 64,749,030 65,044,747

Class B 

(Multiple Voting Shares) 16,045,707 15,749,990

Series D Preferred  

(with rate reset) 4,000,000 4,000,000

Debt Instruments

As at October 31, 2009, net indebtedness (including usage of the securitization program) to adjusted operating income before 

amortization ratio stood at 2.59 (2.64 as at October 31, 2008) due to the rise in the Canadian dollar versus the US dollar and the 

placement of preferred shares. Furthermore, as previously announced the Corporation has set the objective of maintaining this 

ratio within a target range of 2.00 to 2.50 and expects to achieve this by the end of fiscal 2011. Net indebtedness to total capitaliza-

tion ratio was 42%, compared to 39% as at October 31, 2008, mainly due to the recent impairment of goodwill and intangible 

assets charges, as well as the considerable sums invested in capital assets, some of which only started to generate revenues  

towards the end of the third quarter. The net indebtedness to total capitalization ratio is within the range set by management, that 

is, between 35% and 50%.

On February 6, 2009, the Corporation completed a private placement offering of $100 million in unsecured debentures. 

These debentures were underwritten by the Solidarity Fund QFL, a development capital fund based in Quebec. The placement is 
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comprised of two debentures of $50 million each. The first has a term of five years and bears interest, payable every six months, 

at a rate of 8.06%. The second has a term of ten years and bears interest, payable every six months, at a rate of 6.77% for the first 

two years. The rate for the following eight years will be set at the beginning of that period at the then prevailing market rate. The 

Solidarity Fund QFL has a put option on this second debenture on its second anniversary. On August 5, 2009, the Corporation fixed, 

using a bond forward, the portion of the rate, based on the Canada bond rate, of the second debenture issued to the Solidarity 

Fund QFL at 4.343% for the last eight years of its 10-year term, beginning on its second anniversary.

On April 6, 2009, Standard & Poor’s downgraded our credit rating to BBB (-) with a stable outlook from BBB with a stable 

outlook. This downgrade has resulted in a slight increase in spreads, and thereby, in our financing costs. On the other hand, DBRS 

has not changed its credit rating of BBB (H) with a stable outlook.

On May 5, 2009, the Corporation announced that it reached an agreement with members of its bank syndicate to renew 

Tranche B of its revolving credit facility for $125.3 million for one year, giving it additional leeway in managing its working capital 

and capital expenditures or to meet any other specific need. In addition, on July 14, 2009, the Corporation concluded a supplemen-

tal credit facility of $24.7 million with Export Development Canada (EDC), adding to this Tranche B. 

On May 15, 2009, the Corporation concluded a five-year loan agreement for $100 million with the Caisse de dépôt et 

placement du Québec. The facility bears interest at bankers’ acceptance rate +6.375%, based on the Corporation’s credit rating 

assigned by Standard & Poor’s. The Corporation subsequently put into place two interest rate swaps of $50 million each to fix the 

rate for five years at 8.394%. 

In the third quarter of fiscal 2009, the Corporation also obtained a five-year loan of $50 million at 8.25% from SGF Rexfor 

Inc., based on the Corporation’s credit rating assigned by Standard & Poor’s.

On July 28, 2009, Transcontinental concluded a six-year financing agreement for €55.6 million ($88.4 million) with the  

European bank HypoVereinsbank. This financing bears interest at the EURIBOR rate + 1.6%. This financing will be obtained by tranche 

over a period of about one year. As at October 31, 2009, the Corporation had drawn €23.7 million ($37.7 million) on this financing. 

These new credit facilities give Transcontinental the flexibility to pursue its development projects in its print, media and 

marketing communications sectors in North America. Conditions governing the new financing agreements are not materially more 

restrictive than other indebtedness and include change of control clauses.

As at October 31, 2009, the Corporation had a committed line of credit in the form of a revolving credit facility, totalling 

$550 million or the U.S.-dollar equivalent, divided into two tranches: Tranche A of $400 million and Tranche B of $150 million, of 

which amounts of $131.4 million and $150 million, respectively, were used as at October 31, 2009. The applicable interest rate on 

the revolving term credit facility is based on the credit rating assigned by Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services. Depending on the 

form of borrowing chosen by the Corporation, the interest rate applicable for the line of credit is currently, either bank prime rate, 

bankers’ acceptance rate + 0.615%, or LIBOR + 0.615% on Tranche A and bank prime rate +1.40%, bankers’ acceptance rate + 

2.40% or LIBOR + 2.40% on Tranche B. Facility fees of 0.135% and 0.850% are also applicable on Tranche A and B, respectively, 

whether the line of credit is drawn or not, and utilization fees of 0.1% are applicable if the amount drawn on each respective 

tranche exceeds 662/3%. Tranche A is renewable on an annual basis and, if not renewed, it matures five year after its issuance or 

the last renewal, as the case may be. It was last renewed on August 30, 2007. Tranche B was renewed in the second quarter and 
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matures on May 14, 2010. On December 4, 2009, the Corporation repaid the entire amount used on Tranche B and then cancelled 

this bank facility. The Corporation’s bank credit now consists solely of Tranche A, which matures in September 2012.

As of October 31, 2009, letters of credit amounting to C$0.5 million and US$4.1 million were drawn on the committed line 

of credit in addition to the amounts presented in the previous paragraph. In fiscal 2009, the Corporation was not in default under 

any of its obligations. 

Apart from its long-term obligations, the Corporation’s commitments are mainly comprised of operating leases. The table 

above shows the breakdown of these obligations and commitments for future years. 

Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements (Securitization) 

Under its securitization agreement, the Corporation sells, on an ongoing basis, certain of its receivables to a trust that has sold its 

beneficial interest to third-party investors. The maximum net consideration allowable under the program is $300 million, including 

a maximum of $100 million in U.S. dollars. The program now matures in August 2010. 

As at October 31, 2009, $240.3 million of accounts receivable ($291.0 million as at October 31, 2008) had been sold under 

the accounts receivable securitization program, of which $128.4 million ($42.0 million as at October 31, 2008) was kept by the 

Corporation as retained interest, resulting in a net consideration of $111.9 million, including C$77.3 million and US$32 million 

($249.0 million as at October 31, 2008, including C$210.0 million and US$32.0 million). As at October 31, 2009, the maximum net 

consideration the Corporation could have obtained on those dates in accordance with the program terms and conditions was 

$202.3 million ($249.0 million as at October 31, 2008). The retained interest is recorded in the Corporation’s accounts receivable at 

the lower of cost and fair market value. Under the program, the Corporation recognized an aggregate discount on sale of accounts 

receivable of $4.5 million for fiscal 2009 ($9.3 million in fiscal 2008). The Corporation is in compliance with all its covenants under 

the agreements governing this program. 

PrinciPAl AccOunting EStimAtES

The Corporation prepares its consolidated financial statements in Canadian dollars and in accordance with Canadian GAAP. A 

summary of the significant accounting policies is presented in Note 1 of the Consolidated Financial Statements. Some of the Corpo-

ration’s accounting policies require estimates and judgments. The most significant areas requiring the use of management  

estimates and judgments include goodwill, intangible assets, accounting for future employee benefits and income taxes. 

Contractual Obligations and Business Commitments 
for years ended October 31 (Unaudited)

(in millions of dollars)

                2015 and 
 Contract type   2010  2011  2012  2013  2014  following Total

 Long term debt $ 7.8 $ 64.0 $ 372.4 $ 90.7 $ 226.0 $ 72.8 $ 833.7
 Other commitments  98.6  40.7  25.5  21.3  17.6  82.5  286.2

 total commitments $ 106.4 $ 104.7 $ 397.9 $ 112.0 $ 243.6 $ 155.3 $ 1,119.9
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Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition cost over fair value of net assets of acquired businesses. Goodwill has an indefinite 

useful life and is not amortized, but it is tested annually for impairment or more frequently if impairment indicators arise.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are accounted for at cost and amortized as follows:

     Term Method

Customer relationships 12 years Straight-line

Educational books republication costs Maximum 5 years On historical sales pattems

Educational book titles 6-9 years On historical sales pattems

Printing contracts Term of contract Straight-line

Non-compete agreements 2-5 years Straight-line

Long-term technology project costs 5 years Straight-line

 Non-amortizable intangible assets consist of acquired trade names, mainly magazines and newspapers, and their  

related circulation. These assets have an indefinite useful life and are not amortized, but tested annually for impairment or more 

frequently if impairment indicators arise.

Pension Plans

The accrued benefit obligation is determined by independent actuaries using the projected benefit method prorated on services 

and is based on management’s best economic and demographic estimates. The Corporation amortizes the unrecognized net 

aggregate actuarial gains and losses in excess of 10% of the greater of the accrued benefit obligation or the fair value of plan  

assets, and past service costs, over the expected average remaining service life (“EARSL”) of the employee group covered by the 

plans, which ranges from 10 to 12 years. The transitional obligation resulting from the initial application of Section 3461 of the  

Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants’ (“CICA”) Handbook in November 2000 is also amortized over the EARSL of the  

employee group covered by the plans. For the purpose of calculating the expected return on plan assets, the fair market value  

is used.

Income Taxes

The Corporation records income taxes using the liability method of accounting. Under this method, future income tax assets and 

liabilities are determined based on the differences between the carrying amount and the tax basis of the assets and liabilities and 

are measured using tax rates in effect when these differences are expected to reverse in accordance with enacted laws or  

those substantively enacted at the date of the financial statements. Future income tax assets are recognized only if management  

believes it is more likely than not that they will be realized.

ChAnGes In ACCounTInG PolICIes

General standards of Financial statement Presentation

On November 1, 2008, the Corporation adopted the revised version of Section 1400 of the CICA Handbook, General Standards  

of Financial Statement Presentation, to include requirements for assessing and communicating the ability of an entity to continue 

its operations.
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The adoption of this Section did not have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements. 

Inventories

On November 1, 2008, the Corporation adopted Section 3031 of the CICA Handbook, Inventories, replacing Section 3030, Invento-

ries. The Section prescribes the accounting treatment for inventories such as measurement of inventories at the lower of cost and 

net realizable value. It provides guidance on the determination of cost and its subsequent recognition as an expense, including 

any write-downs to net realizable value and reversal of previous write-downs of inventories arising from an increase in net realiz-

able value. It also provides guidance on the cost methodologies that are used to assign costs to inventories and it describes the 

required disclosures on the carrying amount of inventories, the amount of inventories recognized as an expense and the amount 

of write-downs or reversal of write-downs of inventories. 

The adoption of this Section did not have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

On November 1, 2008, the Corporation adopted Section 3064 of the CICA Handbook, Goodwill and Intangible Assets, which  

supersedes Section 3062, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets and Section 3450, Research and Development Costs. The Section 

establishes standards for the recognition, measurement and disclosure of goodwill and intangible assets, including intangible 

assets developed internally.

The adoption of this Section was applied retrospectively with restatement of consolidated financial statements of prior 

periods. The impact on the balance sheet of prior periods was as follows.

    As at As at 

Increase (decrease)  (in millions of dollars) October 31, 2008 November 1, 2007

Intangible assets 17.9 $ 16.2 $

Other assets (23.3) (18.7)

Future income tax liabilities - long-term (1.8) (0.8)

Retained earnings (3.0) (1.7)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 0.6 —

The adoption of this Section applied retrospectively had the following effects on the results of the fiscal year ended  

October 31, 2008: operating costs increased by $3.0 million, amortization decreased by $1.0 million and income taxes decreased 

by $0.7 million.

Credit risk and fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

On November 1, 2008, the Corporation adopted the recommendations of EIC-173 of the CICA Handbook, Credit Risk and Fair  

Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. This abstract notes that the credit risk specific to the entity and the credit risk of 

the counterparty should be taken into account in determining the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities, inclu ding  

derivatives.

The adoption of these recommendations was applied retrospectively without restatement of consolidated financial  

statements of prior periods. On November 1, 2008, by taking into account the credit risk in the evaluation of derivative financial 
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instruments, the following accounts were reduced: accounts payable and accrued liabilities by $0.2 million, other liabilities by  

$0.6 million, future income tax assets by $0.2 million and accumulated other comprehensive loss by $0.6 million.

EffEct of NEw AccouNtiNg StANdArdS Not YEt implEmENtEd

Business combinations

In January 2009, CICA issued Section 1582, Business Combinations, which supersedes the like-named Section 1581. This Section 

applies prospectively to business combinations for which the date of acquisition is in fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 

2011. The Section establishes standards for the recognition of a business combination. 

consolidated financial Statements

In January 2009, the CICA issued Section 1601, Consolidated Financial Statements, which supersedes the likenamed Section 1600. 

This Section applies to interim and annual financial statements for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. The Section 

establishes standards for the preparation of consolidated financial statements. 

Non-controlling interests

In January 2009, the CICA issued Section 1602, Non-controlling Interests, which supersedes Section 1600, Consolidated Financial 

Statements. This Section applies to interim and annual financial statements for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. 

The Section establishes standards for the accounting of non-controlling interests in a subsidiary in the consolidated financial  

statements subsequent to a business combination.

international financial reporting Standards (ifrS) 

In February 2008, Canada’s Accounting Standards Board (AcSB) confirmed that Canadian GAAP, as used by publicly accountable 

enterprises, will be superseded by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for fiscal years beginning on or after  

January 1, 2011. 

For the Corporation, the conversion to IFRS will be required for interim and annual financial statements for the year ending 

October 31, 2012. IFRS uses a conceptual framework similar to Canadian GAAP, but there are significant differences on recognition, 

measurement and disclosures. 

The Corporation is required to qualitatively disclose its changeover impacts in conjunction with its 2009 and 2010 financial 

reporting as well as quantitative information if available, with its interim and annual financial reporting for the year ending October 

31, 2011. This information will be used by the Corporation to present comparative information in its financial statements for the year 

ending October 31, 2012.

The Corporation set up an organizational project management team composed of members from different levels and 

positions to oversee project coordination and monitoring. Staff with the appropriate qualifications and experience have been  

assigned to the project. 

The Corporation’s conversion plan consists of three phases: 

Phase 1 – Evaluation

During this phase the Corporation performs a high-level identification of the major differences between IFRS and the Corporation’s 

accounting policies as well as an evaluation of the key areas that may be impacted by the transition to IFRS. A detailed conversion  
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Main Activities Schedule Status 

Financial  
Information 

Identify and analyze the differences between 
IFRS and the corporation’s accounting policies. 

Design and develop solutions to resolve the 
differences.

Select from among the IFRS accounting 
standards and the exemptions permitted in 
accordance with IFRS 1.

Develop a model for IFRS financial statements, 
including notes.

Completed before October 31, 2010. Follow 
up and updates during fiscal 2011.

Completed the preliminary  
identification and evaluation of 
differences and selections.

In progress: detailed analysis of 
differences and selection of 
accounting policies.

Prepare the opening balance sheet and compile 
the financial information for preparing the 
comparative IFRS financial statements.

During fiscal 2011. To come.

Information Systems 
And Processes

Evaluate the impact of the changes on 
information systems and processes and make 
changes as required.

Formulate a strategy for compiling information 
in parallel (based on Canadian GAAP and IFRS) 
during fiscal 2011 and implement it.

Modify the information systems and 
processes finalized in time to compile 
financial information during fiscal 2011. 
Follow up and update during fiscal 2011.

Terminated: overall evaluation of 
potential impact on information 
systems and processes.

Evaluated: impacts on information 
systems and processes, with detailed 
analysis of differences with respect to 
financial information.

Internal  
Controls

Evaluate the impact of the changes on internal 
controls on financial information and controls 
and procedures for communicating information 
and implement the changes required.

Implement the changes required starting in 
the first quarter of fiscal 2011. Follow up and 
updates during fiscal 2011.

Evaluated: impact on internal 
controls, plus detailed analysis of 
differences with respect to financial 
information.

Training And 
Communication

Identify training needs and provide training. Training sessions in fiscal 2010 and 2011. Training given to primary actors in the 
changeover process..

Communicate the progress of the changeover 
plan to stakeholders.

Regular communications in fiscal 2010 and 
2011.

Developed: communication plan with 
regular communications of the plan 
as it progresses.

Business

Evaluate impact on the corporation’s contractual 
undertakings (compliance with restrictive 
financial clauses, compensation plans, etc.).

Make changes required to contractual 
agreements.

Changes made before October 31, 2011. Completed: overall evaluation of 
potential impacts on agreements.

Evaluated: impact on contractual 
agreements, plus detailed analysis of 
differences with respect to financial  
information.
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plan will then be developed. Since changes are expected to IFRS standards during the conversion period and could impact the 

conversion plan, a monitoring process will be established. 

Phase 2 – Conversion

In this phase, the Corporation designs and develops solutions to address the differences identified in phase 1. Changes required 

to the existing accounting policies, financial reporting, information systems, business processes and internal controls will be iden-

tified in order to perform conversion to IFRS. Impacts on contractual arrangements are evaluated and modifications made as  

required. A change management strategy is implemented to respond to the information and training needs of the different  

stakeholders. 

Phase 3 – Implementation

The objective of this final phase is to enable continued IFRS reporting and to facilitate knowledge sharing. Changes identified  

in Phase 2 are implemented and tested to ensure that any difference is addressed prior to the changeover date. The change 

management strategy initiated in Phase 2 continues until completion of the conversion. 

The Corporation has completed Phase 1 and began Phase 2 in fiscal 2009. Preliminary evaluation of the differences in  

the Corporation’s accounting policies and primary aspects has been completed, as has the priorization of the standards to be 

analyzed in Phase 2. The following list contains the IFRS standards currently in effect which have been identified as having a high 

level of difficulty in implementation or a potentially significant impact on the Corporation’s consolidated financial statements. The 

evaluation is not definitive and the list is not exhaustive. Changes could be made during the changeover to IFRS following a more 

in-depth analysis and possible changes to existing standards. The standards are as follows:

   First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS 1)

   Income Taxes (IAS 12)

   Property, Plant and Equipment (IAS 16)

   Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (IAS 27) 

   Impairment of Assets (IAS 36)

   Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement (IAS 39) 

As the conversion process is implemented, the Corporation will outline the consequences of the transition to IFRS in its 

financial disclosures. The table on page 61 indicates the progress of the IFRS changeover as at October 31, 2009.

Risks and UnceRtainties

The Corporation attempts to continually reduce its exposure to risks and uncertainties that it may encounter in its operating sectors 

or treasury situation. As a result, the Director of Risk Management and management together continually review overall controls 

and preventive measures to ensure they are better matched to significant risks to which the Corporation’s operating activities are 

exposed. A report on our risk-management program is reviewed once a year by the Audit Committee. 

Managing the Corporation’s risks is a major factor behind the decisions taken by management with regard to acquisi-

tions, capital investments, disposal of assets, regrouping of plants, or efforts to create synergies among operating sectors.  
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This focus also guides decisions regarding cost-reduction measures, product diversification, new market penetration, and certain 

treasury movements. Below is a list of the main risks the Corporation is exposed to that could have a significant impact on its finan-

cial situation, and the strategies it is taking to mitigate them. 

Financial Risks 

Availability of Capital and Use of Financial Leverage

Since the beginning of fiscal 2009, the Corporation has completed the following financing and re-financing activities  

in order to meet its capital expenditure program needs and to secure additional financial flexibility:

   On February 6, 2009, the Corporation completed a private placement offering of $100 million in unsecured debentures with  

the Solidarity Fund QFL. 

   On February 17, 2009, the Corporation extended its $300 million securitization program for an additional year. 

   On May 5, 2009, the Corporation renewed its credit facility of $125.3 million for one year with members of its bank syndicate.

   On May 15, 2009, the Corporation concluded a five-year loan agreement for $100 million from Caisse de dépôt et placement  

du Québec (CDPQ).

   On July 14, 2009, Export Development Canada (EDC) provided credit facilities of $24.7 million.

   On July 28, 2009, the Corporation obtained a five-year term loan of $50 million from the Société générale de financement du 

Québec (SGF) and concluded a six-year loan agreement for €55.6 million ($88.4 million) from European bank HypoVereinsbank.

   On October 2, 2009, the Corporation closed a placement of 4,000,000 cumulative rate reset first preferred shares, Series D for 

gross proceeds of $100.0 million.

Although the Corporation has carried out all these financing and refinancing activities during a major economic crisis, 

there is no guarantee that additional funds will be available in the future, and if they are, that they will be provided in a timeframe 

and under conditions acceptable to the Corporation.

Our receivables securitization program of $300.0 million, of which $111.9 million was used as at October 31, 2009, and a 

committed line of credit (Tranche B) in the form of a revolving credit facility totalling $150.0 million, fully utilized as at October 31, 

2009, mature in fiscal 2010. However, it is important to note that the Corporation also has a second committed line of credit 

(Tranche A) in the form of a revolving credit facility totalling $400.0 million which matures in fiscal 2012, of which $131.4 million  

(including US$103.0 million) was used by the end of fiscal 2009, which can only be used when Tranche B is fully utilized. On Decem-

ber 4, 2009, the Corporation reimbursed the entire amount and cancelled this Tranche B. The Corporation’s term revolving credit 

now consists of Tranche A only. The Corporation is currently investigating various financing options that will provide it with sufficient 

capital after these instruments mature and meet its future need for capital. Nevertheless, we currently believe that sufficient capital 

to meet our needs will be available. The risk is mitigated by the fact that the Corporation is in good financial condition with a ratio 

of net funded debt (including the securitization program) to adjusted operating income before amortization of 2.59 and the  

Corporation’s available cash flows will be higher in fiscal 2010 given that capital expenditures will be lower than in fiscal 2009.

There is no assurance that the Corporation will be able to increase distributions to shareholders by way of dividends.
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Interest Rate 

Transcontinental is exposed to market risks related to interest-rate fluctuations. At the end of fiscal 2009, considering the derivative 

financial instruments used, the floating rate portion of the Corporation’s long-term debt represented 36% of the total, while the fixed 

rate portion represented 64% (65% and 35%, respectively, in 2008). The fixed rate portion of the debt increased due to the financing 

arranged during the year. Furthermore, at the end of fiscal 2009, the term revolving credit facility had been used less than at the 

end of fiscal 2008. The floating rate portion of the debt bears interest at rates based on LIBOR or bankers’ acceptance rates.  

Furthermore, in fiscal 2009, the Corporation fixed, using a bond forward, the portion of the rate, based on the Canada bond rate, 

of a debenture issued to the Solidarity Fund QFL at 4.343% for the last eight years of its 10-year term, beginning on its second  

anniversary.

In order to mitigate this risk the Corporation tries to keep a good balance of fixed versus floating rate debt.

In fiscal 2009, the Central and U.S. banks reduced their discount rates and the Corporation partially benefited from these 

reductions, which eased the cost of its floating rate debt. The Corporation believes that current interest rates in the Canadian and 

U.S. economies are not likely to change significantly in 2010.

Credit

As a result of the North American recession, the Corporation is currently exposed to a higher credit risk than in the past. To limit this 

risk, the Corporation has tightened its controls on receivables and senior management is putting greater emphasis on analyzing 

and reviewing the financial health of its customers; rigorous evaluation procedures are applied to all new customers. A specific 

credit limit is established for each customer and reviewed periodically by the Corporation. Transcontinental is protected against 

any concentration of credit risk through its products, clientele and geographic diversity. As at October 31, 2009, the maximum  

exposure to credit risk related to receivables is the carrying amount. The Corporation also has a credit insurance policy covering 

most of its major customers, for a maximum amount of $29 million. The policy contains the usual clauses and limits regarding the 

amounts that can be claimed by event and year of coverage. The Corporation did not file any claim against this credit insurance 

policy for fiscal year ended October 31, 2009. 

Pension Plans

Pension funding is based on actuarial estimates and is subject to limitations under applicable income tax and other regulations. 

Actuarial estimates prepared during the year were based on assumptions related to projected employee compensation levels to 

the time of retirement and the anticipated long-term rate of return on pension plan assets. Accrued benefit obligation, fair value of 

plan assets and plan asset composition are measured at the date of the annual financial statements. The most recent actuarial 

valuation of the pension plans for funding purposes was made as at December 31, 2007. The next required valuation will be as at 

December 31, 2010, at the latest. The actuarial funding valuation report determines the amount of cash contributions that the 

Company is required to contribute into the registered retirement plans. The December 31, 2007 funding report showed the regis-

tered retirement plans to be in a solvency deficit position. As the pension fund assets consist of a mix of bonds and equities, the 

recovery in financial markets in 2009 have increased the market value of the pension fund assets. However, if the financial markets 

drop significantly again and the pension plans are in a solvency deficit on the date of the next actuarial valuation, the Corporation 

would likely be required to increase its cash funding contributions.
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Operational Risks 

Economic Cycles

A significant risk that Transcontinental faces and over which it has no control is related to economic cycles. However, because  

the Corporation has a development strategy based on becoming a leader in market niches that have high growth potential, and  

because it is well diversified, it has successfully reduced its exposure to economic cycles, without, of course, eliminating their  

occurrence or controlling their magnitude. The Corporation believes it mitigates this risk by the very nature of the composition of its 

operations as described below:

   Approximately 40% of consolidated revenues stems from niches that are less exposed to cyclical changes in the economy,  

such as book, flyer and insert printing, publishing of educational resources, publishing of local and regional newspapers and 

distribution of advertising material. Also, a large portion of the customer base is in less cyclical sectors, such as food and 

beauty products. 

   Transcontinental has entered into mid- and long-term agreements ranging from 1 to 18 years with customers who generate 

more than half the revenues in the Printing Sector.

   In the Media Sector, Transcontinental benefits from a good mix of local and national advertising. Almost half of advertising 

revenues generated by this sector come from local advertising, which has been less volatile than national advertising in the last 

few years.

Competition

Competition is based on price, quality of products and services, range of services offered and time to market. Some of the printing 

niches in which the Corporation operates are highly competitive. Over the past few years, and especially over the past year, these 

niches have experienced a reduction in demand resulting in over-capacity and continued pricing pressures.

On the media side, magazines and newspapers, whether of general interest or with a special focus, as well as other 

media (television, radio, Internet and other communication or advertising platforms) compete with Transcontinental’s magazines, 

newspapers, Internet sites and complementary communication platforms for sale of advertising space as well as subscription and 

newsstand sales in some cases. In addition, the availability in Canada of several magazines published by U.S. and international 

publishers also creates competition for Transcontinental’s magazines. Also, due to the rapid emergence of digital technology, there 

is increasing competition from the Internet and mobile applications.

To mitigate this risk the Corporation continues to focus on continuous improvement programs, cost reduction initiatives 

and developing value added services and products around its core businesses. Transcontinental is also broadening its digital 

services offering in its Marketing Communications sector.

Geographic Distribution and Exchange Rate

In fiscal 2009, revenues generated outside Canada represented 24% of consolidated revenues, the same percentage as fiscal 

2008. This is due to the depressed market for our U.S. direct mail operations affected by the financial crisis, the sale of a printing 

plant in Ohio and lower sales in Mexico, offset by the rise in the U.S. dollar versus the Canadian dollar, Rastar’s contribution over 

the entire year and the startup of printing of the San Francisco Chronicle in July. In 2010, we expect to derive a greater portion of our 

income from the United States, since we will be printing the San Francisco Chronicle for a full year.
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The currency-hedging program uses derivatives to protect the Corporation from the risk of short-term currency fluctuations. 

Moreover, Transcontinental attempts to match cash inflows and outflows in the same currency. 

This past year, the Canadian dollar was trading as high as 1.3066 CAD/USD and as low as 1.0251 CAD/USD, a spread of 

0.2815 between November 2008 and October 2009. The policy approved by the Corporation’s Board of Directors allows hedging 

of 50% to 100% of net cash flow for a period of one to 12 months, of 25% to 50% for the next 12 months and up to 33% for the 

subsequent 12 months. As at October 31, 2009, using forward contracts to manage the exchange risk related to its exports to the 

United States, the Corporation had contracts to sell US$118 million (US$136 million as at October 31, 2008), of which $64 million,  

$39 million and $15 million will be sold in fiscal 2010, 2011 and 2012, respectively. The terms of these forward contracts range from 

one month to 25 months, with rates varying from 1.0156 to 1.2946. As at October 31, 2009, the Corporation had not used any collars 

(US$6 million as at October 31, 2008). Hedging relationships were effective and in accordance with the risk management objectives 

and strategies throughout 2009.

Subsequent to the end of fiscal 2009, the Corporation arranged a cross-currency swap to convert the interest rate on the 

financing agreement with European bank HypoVereinsbank at the bankers’ acceptance rate plus 255 basis points. Through this 

financial instrument the Corporation also fixed the exchange rate at 1.5761.

New Media

The industries in which the Corporation operates are subject to the impact from new media such as the Internet. As a result,  

advertisers are presented with a greater diversity of media channels in which to spend their advertising dollars. The growth of 

advertising spending on the Internet has been considerably higher than on conventional media, albeit from a small base, and this 

trend is forecast to continue. This shift from traditional media to new media could present both risks and opportunities for the 

Corporation. On the one hand, consumer acceptance of digital media may decrease the demand for printed products. However, 

an opportunity exists to capture advertising dollars on other digital media platforms. To mitigate this risk and take advantage of  

this opportunity, Transcontinental has taken the digital turn through its Evolution 2010 business project. The Corporation has  

established development areas for its digital media strategy and is currently executing on them.

Difficulty in Hiring Qualified Personnel

Social and demographic trends are making it more challenging to hire and retain qualified personnel. There is a diminishing pool 

of qualified talent, an increase in professional mobility, an increase in technology use and a high demand for emerging skill sets. 

There is a risk that the Corporation will have more difficulties to hire and retain qualified personnel. We also discussed development 

plans for our high-potential and promotable executives at the bi-annual Leadership Review process. To ensure execution, each 

senior leader established specific objectives and committed to provide operational growth opportunities and challenges to further 

accelerate each person’s development. Finally, we accelerated succession plans for priority positions and constantly assess our 

leadership depth to meet organizational challenges and ensure on-going identification of successors and acquisition of new skills.

Impairment Tests

The Corporation conducts impairment tests that could lead to reductions in asset values and as a result have an unfavourable 

impact on the Corporation. Under Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, the Corporation must regularly test the 

impairment of long-term assets to determine whether the value of the asset in question has decreased. When an impairment test 

results in asset devaluation, it is recorded as a non-cash charge that reduces the Corporation’s reported earnings. 
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Exchange of Confidential Information

This risk involves the utilization and manipulation of our customers’ confidential information, particularly in direct marketing. The 

Corporation uses confidential information provided by customers in its production process. The potential dissemination of such 

information to the wrong individuals could cause significant damage to our customers’ relationships with their clients and thus to 

our own relationships with our customers and could result in legal actions. This risk increased with the acquisition of Redwood 

Custom Communications and Conversys. In order to mitigate this risk, various improvement measures to better prevent and  

control this risk have been implemented. In fiscal 2009, we have put security measures in place. We have also conducted privacy 

training for relevant employees.

Business Development 

The Corporation’s financial leverage and corporate risk profile is liable to vary from time to time as a result of new developments 

in its business activities and the investments required to support internal growth as well as external growth through acquisitions. 

The risk profile may differ from one strategic transaction to the other depending on the characteristics of the transaction and its 

relevant market. The development of such strategic transactions may not necessarily generate the anticipated results or benefits.

Integration of Acquisitions

Acquisitions have been and continue to be a key element in the Corporation’s growth strategy. However, the integration of acquisi-

tions is always a risk and this risk increases with the size of the acquisition. Integrating businesses could cause temporary disrup-

tions to operations, to labour retention, to client relationships and/or potential loss of business. In addition, the identified synergies 

may not be fully realized or may take longer to realize than originally anticipated. In order to mitigate this risk, the Corporation 

respects its strict acquisition criteria, and ensures that each acquisition target undergoes our exhaustive requisition lists with  

regard to due diligence, and is integrated using our internally developed integration methodology. 

Loss of Reputation

The Corporation currently enjoys a good reputation. The risk of losing or tarnishing this reputation could have an important impact 

on the affairs of the Corporation or its valuation in the stock market. Since its creation, the Corporation has taken important steps 

to mitigate this risk, mainly by ensuring strong corporate governance.

Participating Shares and Preferred Shares

Share prices may fluctuate and shareholders may not be able to sell participating shares at the issue price or a higher price.  

The price of participating shares could fluctuate due to a number of factors related to the Corporation’s business, including new  

announcements, changes in the Corporation’s operating results, sales of participating shares on the market, not meeting analysts’ 

expectations, the general situation in the printing and publishing industries or in the North American economy. In recent years, 

participating shares, the shares of other companies operating in the same sectors and the stock market in general have experi-

enced quite substantial price fluctuations that were not necessarily related to the operating performance of the companies  

concerned. There is no guarantee that the price of participating shares will not continue to fluctuate significantly in the future,  

unrelated to the Corporation’s performance.

Holders of preferred shares may not be able to sell their shares at the issue price or a higher price. The price of preferred 

shares could fluctuate in response to real or anticipated fluctuations in their credit rating and interest rates, which would also have 

an impact on the cost at which the Corporation could carry out transactions or obtain financing, and therefore on its liquidity, financial 

situation or operating results.
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Environmental Risk 

The Corporation operates in two industries, printing and publishing, which use large quantities of paper for their day-to-day  

operations. Consumers are expressing mounting concern over the protection of the environment as well as sustainable develop-

ment. This growing concern about the environment could change the consumption habits of consumers and new regulations 

could force the Corporation to use more expensive environmentally friendly materials in its production process. To mitigate this risk, 

the Corporation tries to be at the forefront of its industry in terms of commitment to the environment and in collaboration with its 

suppliers, is looking on an ongoing basis to reduce its costs. Please refer to the Environment section for further details.

Raw Material and Postal Risks 

Raw Materials and Energy Prices

The primary raw materials the Corporation uses in its printing sector are paper, ink and plates. This sector’s activities consume 

energy, i.e., electricity, natural gas and oil. Fluctuations in raw materials and energy prices affect our operations. 

The current difficulties in the pulp & paper industry have resulted in a decrease in the supply of paper, which in turn could 

result in paper price increases. While paper costs are a pass through for our printing sector, the increase in the price of paper can 

have a negative effect on our printing operations if it changes the purchasing habits of our customers, in terms of number of 

pages printed for example. Moreover, the increase in the price of paper negatively affects the profitability of the Media sector. In 

order to mitigate this risk, the Corporation does not rely on any one supplier and has agreements with its most important suppliers 

in order to ensure a stable flow of resources. In addition, some supply agreements contain escalation clauses that index selling 

prices to fluctuations in raw material costs and currency. 

Furthermore, fluctuations in the price of oil, a core ingredient in the composition of ink, have a direct impact on ink prices. 

While most of our contracts with customers provide for escalation clauses based on fluctuations in the price of ink, an increase can 

have a negative effect on our operations if it changes the purchasing habits of our customers in terms of the number of pages 

printed or a reduction in the use of colour for example. Finally, fluctuations in the price of oil have an impact on gasoline prices. Any 

increase thereto would negatively affect our distribution activities in the Media Sector. In addition, the Corporation continues to 

explore new ways to reduce energy costs.

Future Policies of the Canadian and U.S. Postal Systems

Postal costs are a significant component of our printing customers’ cost structures (direct mail, catalogues and magazines). Postal 

rate changes can influence the number of pieces that the Corporation’s customers are willing to mail. In the past year, postal rates 

in the U.S. have increased 5% on standard mail. While the United States Postal Service (USPS) has indicated that future increases 

will be linked to the inflation rate, any change in this policy could have a negative impact on the Corporation’s operations. In order 

to mitigate this risk, the Corporation has increased its investment in postal optimization capabilities which can offer customers a 

reduction in their postal costs. 

Similarly, in Canada, postal costs have increased less than 5% in the past year. A significant increase in postal costs  

would affect not only the customers of our printing operations, but also our Media Sector, particularly with respect to the  

distribution of our magazines. Moreover, magazines in Canada benefit from postal subsidies, through the PAP programs  

(Postal Assistance Program). Any significant reduction or loss in these subsidies could have a negative impact on the Corporation’s 

obligations.
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Finally, there has been growing talk of “do-not-mail” legislation in the U.S. in reference to the direct marketing industry. The 

Corporation does not believe that such legislation would be passed in Congress as it would have a detrimental impact on the 

United States Postal Service, the country’s largest employer. “Do-not-mail” legislation is instituted at the state level. As of December 

2009, in some states, such legislation had been introduced but not passed. Having said that, if such legislation were to be passed, 

it would have a negative impact on the Corporation’s direct mail operations.

In conclusion, the Corporation continues its stringent approach to risk management, remaining alert to any new risks that 

could affect its operations and ensuring that its current control measures are effective. Management also continues its structured 

approach to risk prevention and control and to business continuity planning, which establishes measures to encourage business 

units to prevent risk, manage organizational change and recover from unforeseeable events more effectively. 

SubSequent eventS

Reorganization of Operating Structure

On December 15, 2009, the Corporation announced a new operating structure to strengthen its positioning in the print and  

marketing communication markets. The operating structure as described in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements will 

thus be modified. Please see the Strategy section for more details on the new structure.

Hedging of euro-Denominated Debt 

On December 1, 2009, the Corporation entered into a cross-currency swap that matures on September  21, 2015 in order to fix the 

exchange rate on 55.6 million euros in financing arranged with European bank HypoVereinsbank at 1.5761 and convert the interest 

rate at bankers’ acceptance rate plus 255 basis points.

Reimbursement of tranche b of term Revolving Credit 

On December 4, 2009, the Corporation reimbursed and cancelled Tranche B of the term revolving credit of $150 million. Tranche B 

had a maturity date of May 14, 2010. The Corporation’s term revolving credit now consists of Tranche A of $400 million which  

matures in September 2012.

Ontario Income tax

On November 16, 2009, the Ontario Tax Plan for More Jobs and Growth Act, 2009 (Bill 218) received first reading in the Ontario 

legislature. Consequently, the reductions in the provincial income tax rate announced in the Ontario budget on March 26, 2009 

have basically taken effect for the purposes of preparing consolidated financial statements under Canadian GAAP. The effect of the 

future reduction in the provincial income tax rate will be to reduce income tax expense and net future tax liability by approxi-

mately $2.4 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2010.

DISClOSuRe COntROlS anD PROCeDuReS 

Transcontinental’s President and Chief Executive Officer and its Vice President and Chief Financial Officer are responsible for  

establishing and maintaining the Corporation’s disclosure controls and procedures.

Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be 

disclosed by us is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified under Canadian securities 

laws, and include controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information is accumulated and communicated to 

management to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. 
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The President and Chief Executive Officer and the Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, after evaluating the  

effectiveness of the Corporation’s disclosure controls and procedures as at October 31, 2009, have concluded that the Corpora-

tion’s disclosure controls and procedures are adequate and effective to ensure that material information relating to the Corporation 

and its subsidiaries would have been known to them.

Internal Control over FInanCIal reportIng 

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting to provide reason-

able assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 

accordance with GAAP.

The President and Chief Executive Officer and the Vice President and Chief Financial Officer have supervised the  

evaluation of the design and effectiveness of internal controls with respect to the Corporation’s financial reporting, using the  

integrated framework for internal controls issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 

(COSO). Based on this evaluation, they concluded that the Corporation’s internal system for controlling financial reporting is effective 

as at October 31, 2009.

The President and Chief Executive Officer and the Vice President and Chief Financial Officer have evaluated whether there 

were changes to internal control over financial reporting during the year ended October 31, 2009 that have materially affected, or 

are reasonably likely to materially affect, its internal control over financial reporting. No such changes were identified through their 

evaluation. 

outlook

In fiscal 2010, the Corporation will focus on three primary objectives. First, the Corporation will focus more on its digital products, 

optimizing the contribution of recent acquisitions such as Redwood Custom Communications, Rastar, ThinData and Conversys. We 

believe that the emergence of digital platforms is an excellent opportunity for our Marketing Communications sector to make itself 

better known, primarily in the Canadian market. Our most recent acquisitions complement our existing offer of services; this allows 

us to present unique digital solutions to our existing customers, and to new ones, and in so doing to increase our market share. 

Secondly, we believe that with the experience we acquired through the successful completion and startup of the project to print the 

San Francisco Chronicle, that the Globe and Mail project will be completed by late 2010. Note that this project will account for more 

than 50% of the Corporation’s capital expenditures next year. Moreover, we will continue to print the San Francisco Chronicle, which 

will generate additional cash flows over the course of fiscal 2010. Lastly, given the impact of the rationalization measures imple-

mented in fiscal 2009, we believe that our cost structure is much better adapted to the current realities of the industries in which 

we operate. We will also emphasize sales development initiatives, such as the development of innovative products and exploiting 

cross-selling opportunities between different groups. Lastly, we will continue to improve our operational efficiency.

Despite the fact that the negative impact of the North American recession seems to be stabilizing, we believe, although 

to a lesser extent than in fiscal 2009, that some of our niches will still be vulnerable to market conditions in the coming year :

   Direct mail activities in the U.S. are expected to continue to be affected by reductions in the marketing budgets of our customers, 

primarily in the financial services industry 

   Our marketing product printing operations will also be affected by cuts to marketing budgets 
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   Our magazine, book and catalogue printing operations will likely continue to feel the impact of lower page numbers and 

smaller print runs, combined with weakened demand for specialized and religious works

   Our magazine publishing operations will likely continue to experience the impact of cuts to the budgets of “national” advertisers 

Below is a non-exhaustive list of additional factors that are likely to influence our results in fiscal 2010: 

(+) printing of the San Francisco Chronicle for the entire year

(+) new exclusive contract with Rogers for the entire year

(+) full impact of rationalization measures implemented in 2009

(+) contribution of the Redwood Custom Communications and Conversys acquisitions

(-)  acquisition of about $175 million in property, plant and equipment, including about $100.0 million for a major project that will 

generate an adequate return over a longer period, but not in 2010

(-) full impact of termination of printing of the Sunday edition of the daily paper La Presse

(-) increase in financial and income tax expense

(-) higher amortization related to recent major projects

Economic instability may also have an impact on the price of goods and the value of the Canadian dollar versus its U.S. 

counterpart, but at this point in time, given the market volatility, it is hard to assess the scope of that impact.

On behalf of Management, 

Benoît Huard 

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

December 15, 2009

71662_p30_71_Ang.indd   71 1/8/10   3:22:32 AM



72

Management’s Responsibility  
for Consolidated Financial Statements

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Transcontinental Inc. are the responsibility of Management and have been approved by the Board of Directors 
of the Corporation. The financial statements include some amounts that are based on Management’s best estimates using reasonable judgement. The financial  
statements have been prepared by Management in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

In fulfilling their responsibilities, Management of Transcontinental Inc. and its subsidiaries develop and aim to improve accounting and management systems  
designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded from loss or unauthorized use and that the financial records are reliable for preparing the  
financial statements.

The Board of Directors of the Corporation fulfills its responsibility for the financial statements principally through its Audit Committee. The Audit Committee meets with 
management and the external auditors every quarter to discuss the results of the audit, internal controls and financial reporting matters. The external auditors appointed 
by the shareholders have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee, with or without the presence of management.

The financial statements have been audited by KPMG LLP, Chartered Accountants, and their report follows.

 

François Olivier Benoît Huard
President and Chief Executive Officer Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Auditors’ Report to the Shareholders  
of Transcontinental Inc.

We have audited the consolidated balance sheet of Transcontinental Inc. (the “Corporation”) as at October 31, 2009 and the consolidated statements of income (loss), 
comprehensive income (loss), retained earnings and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Corporation’s Manage-
ment. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by Management, 
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Corporation as at October 31, 2009 and the  
results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 

The consolidated financial statements as at October 31, 2008 and for the year then ended were audited by other auditors, who expressed an opinion without reservation 
on those statements in their report, dated December 9, 2008. 

 

Chartered Accountants
Montreal, Canada
December 14, 2009

*CA Auditor permit no 10892
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Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss)
For the years ended October 31

(in millions of dollars, except per share data)

    Notes 2009 2008
      (Note 2)

Revenues  $ 2,294.6 $ 2,429.3
Operating costs   1,680.8  1,784.1
Selling, general and administrative expenses   264.5  283.7

Operating income before amortization, impairment of assets, 
 restructuring costs and impairment of goodwill and intangible assets   349.3  361.5
Amortization 4  137.4  127.7
Impairment of assets and restructuring costs 5  78.0  27.4
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets 11 & 12  172.6  192.1

Operating income (loss)   (38.7)  14.3
Financial expenses 6  41.0  30.5
Discount on sale of accounts receivable 8  4.5  9.3

Loss before income taxes and non-controlling interest   (84.2)  (25.5)
Income taxes recovered 7  (2.7)  (31.7)
Non-controlling interest   0.3  (0.4)

Net income (loss)   (81.8)  6.6
Dividends on preferred shares, net of related income taxes   0.5  —

Net income (loss) applicable to participating shares  $  (82.3) $ 6.6

Net income (loss) per share - basic 18 $ (1.02) $ 0.08

Net income (loss) per share - diluted 18 $ (1.02) $ 0.08

Average number of participating shares outstanding (in millions)   80.8  81.7

The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
For the years ended October 31

(in millions of dollars)

    Notes 2009 2008
      (Note 2)

Net income (loss)  $ (81.8) $ 6.6

Other comprehensive income (loss):

Unrealized net change in fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges,  
 net of income taxes of $3.0 million for the year ended October 31, 2009  
 ($(8.0) million for the year ended October 31, 2008)   9.2  (17.6)

Reclassification adjustments for net change in fair value of derivatives designated as  
 cash flow hedges in prior periods, transferred to income in the current period,  
 net of income taxes of $3.9 million for the year ended October 31, 2009  
 ($(3.4) million for the year ended October 31, 2008)   6.7  (7.4)

Net change in fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges   15.9  (25.0)
Unrealized net gains on translation of financial statements of self-sustaining foreign operations   4.7  17.4

Other comprehensive income (loss) 21  20.6  (7.6)

Comprehensive loss  $ (61.2) $ (1.0)

Consolidated Statements of Retained Earnings
For the years ended October 31

(in millions of dollars)

    Notes 2009 2008

Balance, beginning of year, as previously reported  $ 756.5 $ 806.4
Change in accounting policies - Goodwill and intangible assets 2  (3.0)  (1.7)

Restated balance, beginning of year   753.5  804.7
Net income (loss)   (81.8)  6.6

      671.7  811.3
Premium on redemption of participating shares 17  —  (32.5)
Dividends on participating shares   (25.8)  (25.3)

Balance, end of year  $ 645.9 $ 753.5

The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
As at October 31

(in millions of dollars)

    Notes 2009 2008
      (Note 2)

Current assets
 Cash and cash equivalents  $ 34.7 $ 90.7
 Accounts receivable 8  330.7  207.1
 Income taxes receivable   4.1  4.5
 Inventories 9  78.2  99.3
 Prepaid expenses and other current assets   23.0  16.1
 Future income taxes 7  11.9  28.1

      482.6  445.8
Property, plant and equipment 10  978.7  936.7
Goodwill 11  673.4  842.6
Intangible assets 12  181.2  184.1
Future income taxes 7  165.8  141.0
Other assets 13  68.0  64.8

     $ 2,549.7 $ 2,615.0

Current liabilities
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $ 378.3 $ 442.9
 Income taxes payable   26.8  48.3
 Deferred subscription revenues and deposits   43.7  49.6
 Future income taxes 7  0.5  9.9
 Current portion of long-term debt 15  7.8  194.3

      457.1  745.0
Long-term debt 15  819.0  602.1
Future income taxes 7  110.0  99.3
Other liabilities 16  48.3  65.5

      1,434.4  1,511.9

Non-controlling interest   0.1  0.1

Commitments, guarantees and contingent liabilities 25
Shareholders’ equity
 Share capital 17  476.5  379.5
 Contributed surplus 20  12.9  11.3

 Retained earnings   645.9  753.5
 Accumulated other comprehensive loss 21  (20.1)  (41.3)

      625.8  712.2

      1,115.2  1,103.0

     $ 2,549.7 $ 2,615.0

The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Approved on behalf of the Board of Directors,

 
Rémi Marcoux, Director Richard Fortin, Director
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended October 31

(in millions of dollars)

    Notes 2009 2008
      (Note 2)

Operating activities
 Net income (loss)  $ (81.8) $ 6.6
 Items not affecting cash and cash equivalents
  Amortization 4  161.7  149.8
  Impairment of assets 5  21.1  16.9
  Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets 11 & 12  172.6  192.1
  Loss (gain) on disposal of assets   (1.2)  0.4
  Future income taxes 7  (31.9)  (66.9)
  Net change in accrued pension benefit asset and liability 24  (7.4)  (6.0)
  Stock-based compensation 19  4.3  2.3
  Other   10.1  1.7

 Cash flow from operating activities before changes in non-cash operating items   247.5  296.9
 Changes in non-cash operating items 22  (168.7)  (12.9)

 Cash flow related to operating activities   78.8  284.0

Investing activities
 Business acquisitions 23  (14.4)  (67.3)
 Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment   (261.9)  (228.7)
 Disposals of property, plant and equipment   16.3  1.9
 Increase in other assets and intangible assets   (25.5)  (31.3)

 Cash flow related to investing activities   (285.5)  (325.4)

Financing activities
 Increase in long-term debt   281.8  —
 Repayment of long-term debt   (108.4)  (26.0)
 Increase (decrease) in revolving term credit facility   (89.7)  177.7
 Dividends on participating shares   (25.8)  (25.3)
 Redemption of participating shares 17  —  (48.7)
 Issuance of participating shares 17  0.2  0.6
 Issuance of preferred shares 17  96.8  —
 Other   (0.6)  (0.2)

 Cash flow related to financing activities   154.3  78.1

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents denominated in foreign currencies   (3.6)  5.5

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   (56.0)  42.2
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   90.7  48.5

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  $ 34.7 $ 90.7

The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended October 31, 2009 and 2008

(in millions of dollars, except per share data)

1. Significant accounting policies

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and include the following 
significant accounting policies:

a) Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Corporation and those of its subsidiaries, joint ventures and variable interest entities for which the 
Corporation is the principal beneficiary. Business acquisitions are accounted for under the acquisition method and the results of operations of these businesses are  
included in the consolidated financial statements from the acquisition date. Investments in joint ventures are accounted for using the proportionate consolidation method 
and investments in companies subject to significant influence are accounted for using the equity method. Other investments are recorded at cost.

b) Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the 
consolidated financial statements of the Corporation. Although management regularly reviews its estimates, actual results could differ from them. The most significant 
areas requiring the use of management estimates are: provisions, including provisions for bad debts and inventory obsolescence, impairment of assets, restructuring 
costs, amortization periods of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, accounting for income taxes, valuation of goodwill and intangible assets, stock-based 
compensation costs and accounting for pension plans.

c) Revenue recognition
Printing and Marketing Communications sectors revenues are recognized when products are shipped or delivered, in accordance with the customer contract, or when 
services are rendered and the ability to collect is reasonably assured. Most sales are promptly delivered to clients; consequently, the Corporation does not have significant 
finished goods in inventory.

Volume discounts and amortization of contracts acquisition costs are recorded as reductions in revenues in the consolidated statements of income.

Media sector revenues are recognized as follows:

Advertising revenues:
Advertising revenues are recorded at the billing date, which corresponds to the publication date in the case of a daily or weekly publication, and the date of issue in the 
case of a monthly publication.

Subscription revenues:
Subscription revenues are recorded on an accrual basis rather than when subscriptions are received. These amounts received are therefore, recorded in deferred  
subscription revenues when collected and subsequently transferred to income based on the subscription term.

Distribution revenues:
Door-to-door distribution revenues are recorded at the time of billing, which corresponds to the delivery date of the advertising material.

Newsstand revenues:
Newsstand revenues are recorded at the time of delivery, net of a provision for returns and delivery costs.

Educational books revenues:
Educational books revenues are recognized upon shipment to customers, since the transfer of ownership passes upon shipment under terms of contracts.

d) Non-monetary transactions
In the normal course of business, the Corporation offers advertising in exchange for goods and services. The related revenues are accounted for based on the fair value 
of the goods and services received or given. For the year ended October 31, 2009, the Corporation recognized an amount of $9.5 million as non-monetary transactions 
($7.2 million for the year ended October 31, 2008).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended October 31, 2009 and 2008

(in millions of dollars, except per share data)

1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

e) Income taxes
The Corporation records income taxes using the liability method of accounting. Under this method, future income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the 
differences between the carrying amount and the tax basis of the assets and liabilities and are measured using tax rates in effect when these differences are expected 
to reverse in accordance with enacted laws or those substantively enacted at the date of the financial statements. Future income tax assets are recognized only if  
management believes it is more likely than not that they will be realized.

f) Tax credits
The Corporation benefits from income tax credits related to operating costs and property, plant and equipment. These credits are accounted for either as a reduction of 
operating costs or property, plant and equipment.

g) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash, bank overdraft and highly liquid investments with original maturities of less than three months. Cash and cash equivalents are 
presented at fair value.

h) Transfer of receivables
The Corporation’s receivables securitization program complies with sale of assets criteria and, consequently, is recorded off-balance sheet.

i) Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined using the first in, first out method.

j) Vendor rebates
The Corporation records cash consideration received from vendors as a reduction in the price of vendor’s products and services and reduces operating costs and related 
inventory in the consolidated statements of income and balance sheets. These rebates are estimated based on anticipated purchases.

k) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost and amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 20 - 40 years
Machinery and equipment 3 - 15 years
Machinery and equipment under capital leases 3 - 15 years
Other equipment 2 - 5 years
Leasehold improvements Term of the lease

Costs, such as interest, directly incurred for the acquisition or construction of property, plant and equipment are capitalized and amortized over the useful life of the  
corresponding asset. Assets under construction are not amortized until they are ready for their intended use.

Property, plant and equipment held for sale are stated at the lower of net book value and estimated fair value.

l) Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition cost over fair value of net assets of acquired businesses. Goodwill has an indefinite useful life and is not amortized but 
tested annually for impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended October 31, 2009 and 2008

(in millions of dollars, except per share data)

1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

m) Intangible assets
Intangible assets are stated at cost and amortized as follows:

 Term Method

Customer relationships 12 years Straight-line
Educational books prepublication costs Maximum 5 years On historical sales patterns
Educational book titles 6 - 9 years On historical sales patterns
Acquired printing contracts Term of the contract Straight-line
Non-compete agreements 2 - 5 years Straight-line
Long-term technology project costs 5 years Straight-line

Non-amortizable intangible assets consist of trade names, mainly from acquired magazines and newspapers, and their related circulation. These intangible assets  
have an indefinite useful life and are not amortized but tested annually for impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential  
impairment.

n) Contracts acquisition costs
Contracts acquisition costs are amortized as reductions of revenues using the straight-line method over the related contract term or on sales volumes. Whenever events 
or changes occur that impact the related contract, including significant declines in anticipated profitability, the Corporation evaluates the carrying value of the contracts 
acquisition costs to determine whether impairment has occured. These costs are included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets.

o) Asset retirement obligations
Legal obligations linked to removal obligations on certain buildings are recorded in the period in which they are contracted. The obligation is initially measured at fair 
value using an expected present value technique and is subsequently adjusted for any changes resulting from the passage of time and any changes to the timing of 
payment or the amount of the original estimate. Upon initial recognition of a liability for an asset retirement obligation, an asset retirement cost is capitalized as part of 
the carrying amount of the related asset by the same amount as the liability and is amortized into income over its remaining useful life.

p) Impairment of long-lived assets
Long-lived assets are tested for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment 
loss is recognized when their carrying value exceeds the total undiscounted cash flows expected from their use and eventual disposition. The amount of the impairment 
loss is determined as the excess of the carrying value of the asset over its fair value.

q) Pension plans
The accrued benefit obligation is determined by independent actuaries using the projected benefit method prorated on services and is based on management’s best 
economic and demographic assumptions. The Corporation amortizes the unrecognized net aggregate actuarial gains and losses in excess of 10% of the greater of the 
accrued benefit obligation or the fair value of plan assets, and past service costs, over the expected average remaining service life (“EARSL”) of the employee group  
covered by the plans which ranges from 10 to 12 years. The transitional obligation resulting from the initial application of Section 3461 of the Canadian Institute of  
Chartered Accountants’ (“CICA”) Handbook in November 2000 is also amortized over the EARSL of the employee group covered by the plans. For the purpose of calculating 
the expected return on plan assets, the fair value is used.

r) Foreign currency translation
Operating foreign subsidiaries, with the exception of sales offices of the canadian operations, are considered self-sustaining foreign operations and the current rate 
method is used to translate their financial statements into Canadian dollars. The resulting translation adjustments are reported under “Accumulated other comprehensive 
loss” in the consolidated balance sheet and recognized in income only when a reduction of the investment in these foreign operations has been realized. Integrated 
foreign operations, including foreign sales offices and foreign currency transactions, are translated using the temporal method and the foreign exchange gains or losses 
are recognized in income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended October 31, 2009 and 2008

(in millions of dollars, except per share data)

1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

s) Financial instruments
The Corporation identifies, assesses and manages financial risks related to fluctuations in stock-based compensation costs, in interest rates and in foreign exchange 
rates in order to minimize their impact on the Corporation’s results and financial position by using derivative financial instruments. The Corporation manages its financial 
risks in accordance with specific criteria approved by its Board of Directors and does not engage in speculative transactions. If the Corporation did not use derivative  
financial instruments, it would have a greater exposure to market volatility.

Financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value and their subsequent measurement depends of their classification, as described below. The classification 
depends on the objectives set forth when the financial instruments were purchased or issued, their characteristics and their designation by the Corporation.

The Corporation has made the following classifications:

    Cash and cash equivalents, as well as derivative financial instruments not designated as hedges, are classified as financial assets held for trading and are 
measured at fair value. Gains and losses related to periodical revaluation are recorded in net income.

    Investments are classified as either financial assets held to maturity and are thus measured at amortized cost or as available-for-sale and thus marked-to-
market, or measured at cost if there is no quoted market. If they are measured at fair value, variations are recorded through comprehensive income at each 
period-end.

    Accounts receivable are classified as loans and receivables and are initially measured at fair value and subsequently at amortized cost using the effective  
interest rate method.

    Bank overdraft, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, other liabilities and long-term debt are classified as other liabilities and are initially measured at fair 
value and subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.

    Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value. The change in fair value related to the effective portion of the hedge is recognized in other  
comprehensive income, net of income taxes.

Transactions costs are capitalized to the cost of financial assets and liabilities when they are not classified as held for trading. Thus, issuance costs of long-term debt are 
classified as a reduction in long-term debt and amortized using the effective rate method.

Hedging relationships
The Corporation maintains proper documentation concerning its risk management objectives and strategies under which hedging activities are derived as well as for the 
relationships between the various hedging instruments and the hedged items. This process consists of matching all derivative hedging instruments to specific assets and 
liabilities, to firm commitments or specific anticipated transactions.

In managing its foreign exchange exposure, the Corporation uses various derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure toward specific anticipated transactions 
and a portion of its foreign denominated accounts receivable. Consequently, an adjustment is made to the hedged items to reflect the hedge rate.

When a hedging relationship is put in place and throughout its duration, there must be a reasonable assurance that the relationship will remain effective and in accordance 
with the Corporation’s risk management objective and strategy as initially documented. When hedging instruments mature or become ineffective before their maturity 
and are not replaced within the Corporation’s documented hedging strategy, any gains, losses, revenues or expenses associated with the hedging instrument, that had 
previously been recognized in other comprehensive income as a result of applying hedge accounting, are carried forward to be recognized in net income in the same 
period or periods during which the asset acquired or liability incurred affects net income. If the hedged item ceases to exist due, to its maturity, expiry, cancellation or 
exercise before the hedging instrument expires, any gains, losses, revenues or expenses associated with the hedging instrument, that had previously been recognized 
in other comprehensive income (loss) as a result of applying hedge accounting, are recognized in the reporting period’s net income along with the corresponding gains, 
losses, revenues or expenses recognized on the hedged item.

Derivative financial instruments offering economic hedging, without being eligible to hedge accounting, are accounted for at fair value with change in fair value recorded 
in the statement of income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended October 31, 2009 and 2008

(in millions of dollars, except per share data)

2. Changes in accounting policies

a) General Standards of Financial Statement Presentation
On November 1, 2008, the Corporation adopted Section 1400 of the CICA Handbook, General Standards of Financial Statement Presentation. This Section includes  
requirements for assessing and communicating the ability of an entity to continue its operations.

The adoption of this Section did not have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

b) Inventories
On November 1, 2008, the Corporation adopted Section 3031 of the CICA Handbook, Inventories, replacing Section 3030, Inventories. The Section prescribes the accounting 
treatment for inventories such as measurement of inventories at the lower of cost and net realizable value. It provides guidance on the determination of cost and its 
subsequent recognition as an expense, including any write-downs to net realizable value and reversal of previous write-downs of inventories arising from an increase 
in net realizable value. It also provides guidance on the cost methodologies that are used to assign costs to inventories and it describes the required disclosures on the 
carrying amount of inventories, the amount of inventories recognized as an expense and the amount of write-downs or reversal of write-downs of inventories.

The adoption of this Section did not have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

c) Goodwill and Intangible Assets
On November 1, 2008, the Corporation adopted Section 3064 of the CICA Handbook, Goodwill and Intangible Assets, which supersedes Section 3062, Goodwill and 
Other Intangible Assets and Section 3450, Research and Development Costs. The Section establishes standards for the recognition, measurement and disclosure of 
goodwill and intangible assets, including intangible assets developed internally.

The adoption of this Section was applied retrospectively with restatement of consolidated financial statements of prior periods. The effect on balance sheet items of prior 
periods were as follows:

 As at As at
 October 31, November 1,
Increase (decrease) 2008 2007

Intangible assets  $ 17.9 $ 16.2
Other assets   (23.3)  (18.7)
Future income tax liabilities - long-term   (1.8)  (0.8)
Retained earnings   (3.0)  (1.7)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   0.6  —

The adoption of this Section applied retrospectively had the following effects on the results of the year ended October 31, 2008: increase operating costs by $3.0 million, 
decrease amortization by $1.0 million and decrease income taxes by $0.7 million.

d) Credit risk and fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
On November 1, 2008, the Corporation adopted the recommendations of EIC-173 of the CICA Handbook, Credit Risk and Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial  
Liabilities. This abstract notes that the credit risk specific to the entity and the credit risk of the counterparty should be taken into account in determining the fair value of 
financial assets and financial liabilities, including derivatives.

The adoption of these recommendations was applied retrospectively without restatement of consolidated financial statements of prior periods. On November 1, 2008,  
by taking into account the credit risk in the evaluation of derivative financial instruments, the following items were reduced: accounts payable and accrued liabilities by 
$0.2 million, other liabilities by $0.6 million, future income tax assets by $0.2 million and accumulated other comprehensive loss by $0.6 million.
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3. Effect of new accounting standards not yet implemented

a) Business Combinations
In January 2009, the CICA issued Section 1582, Business Combinations, which supersedes the like-named Section 1581. This Section applies prospectively to business 
combinations for which the date of acquisition is in fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. The Section establishes standards for the recognition of a business 
combination.

b) Consolidated Financial Statements
In January 2009, the CICA issued Section 1601, Consolidated Financial Statements, which supersedes the like-named Section 1600. This Section applies to interim and 
annual financial statements for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. The Section establishes standards for the preparation of consolidated financial  
statements.

c) Non-controlling Interests
In January 2009, the CICA issued Section 1602, Non-controlling Interests, which supersedes Section 1600, Consolidated Financial Statements. This Section applies to  
interim and annual financial statements for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. The Section establishes standards for the accounting of non-controlling  
interests in a subsidiary in the consolidated financial statements subsequent to a business combination.

d) International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
In February 2008, Canada’s Accounting Standards Board (AcSB) confirmed that Canadian GAAP, as used by publicly accountable enterprises, will be superseded by  
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011.

For the Corporation, the conversion to IFRS will be required for interim and annual financial statements for the year ending October 31, 2012. IFRS uses a conceptual 
framework similar to Canadian GAAP, but there are significant differences on recognition, measurement and disclosures.

The Corporation is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of these new standards on the consolidated financial statements.

4. Amortization

     2009 2008
      (Note 2)

Property, plant and equipment  $ 125.9 $ 118.1
Intangible assets   11.5  9.6

      137.4  127.7
Intangible assets and other assets, presented in revenues, operating costs and financial expenses   24.3  22.1

     $ 161.7 $ 149.8

5. Impairment of assets and restructuring costs

Over the last few years, the Corporation initiated restructuring plans as follows:

a)  During the second quarter of fiscal 2009, the Corporation announced major rationalization measures to address the recession, including substantive cost-cutting 
measures throughout Canada, the United States and Mexico. The deterioration of the economy has reduced the communication and marketing investments of a 
number of customers of the Corporation. Therefore, commercial printing projects, direct mail projects, magazine and newspaper advertising placements have been 
cancelled or postponed by companies that are being affected by the recession. It is expected that these initiatives will be completed in 2010.
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5. Impairment of assets and restructuring costs (continued)

b)  During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, the Corporation initiated a plan to consolidate production from the Warminster and Hamburg facilities in the Hamburg facility. 
These two facilities are part of the Direct Mail group of the Printing sector. This consolidation is part of a strategy to adapt production capacity to the demand and to 
reduce costs following major impacts of the financial crisis on marketing programs of financial institutions which represent a large portion of the customer base of this 
group. The restructuring is expected to be completed in 2010.

c)  During the second quarter of fiscal 2008, the Corporation initiated a restructuring plan for its newspaper operations in the Media sector which included the closing  
of The Daily News in Halifax and the launch of a free daily newspaper, Metro, for the Halifax market. The restructuring was completed during the fourth quarter  
of 2008.

d)  During the first quarter of fiscal 2007, the Corporation initiated a restructuring plan for its marketing products printing operations in the Printing and Marketing  
Communications sectors. The restructuring was completed during the fourth quarter of 2008.

e)  During the second quarter of fiscal 2006, the Corporation adopted a plan for the consolidation of its marketing products printing facilities located in the Toronto area in 
the Marketing Communications sector. The consolidation was completed during the fourth quarter of 2008.

The following table provides details of these plans:

 Total 2009 2008
   Liability as at   Liability as at
 Charged  October 31, Charged  October 31, Charged
 to income Forecasted 2008 to income Paid 2009 to income Paid

a) Rationalization Measures
 Printing
 Workforce reduction costs $ 14.8 $ 15.6 $ — $ 14.8 $ 10.5 $ 4.3 $ — $ —
 Transfer of printing equipment and other costs  1.0  1.0  —  1.0  0.9  0.1  —   —
 Marketing Communications
 Workforce reduction costs  10.1  10.2  —  10.1  4.8  5.3  —  —
 Transfer of printing equipment and other costs  2.4  2.7  —  2.4  2.4  —  —  —
 Media
 Workforce reduction costs  9.0  9.0  —  9.0  5.3  3.7  —  —

     37.3  38.5  —  37.3  23.9  13.4  —  —
 Printing
 Impairment of assets  13.2  13.2  n/a  13.2  n/a  n/a  —  n/a
 Marketing Communications
 Impairment of assets  4.3  4.3  n/a  4.3  n/a  n/a  —  n/a
 Media
 Impairment of assets  1.5  1.5  n/a  1.5  n/a  n/a  —  n/a

    $ 56.3 $ 57.5 $ — $ 56.3 $ 23.9 $ 13.4 $ — $ —

b) Direct mail operations
 Workforce reduction costs $ 14.2 $ 14.2 $ 7.7 $ 6.5 $ 13.5 $ 0.7 $ 7.7 $ —
 Transfer of printing equipment and other costs  13.1  16.0  —  13.1  7.8  5.3  —  —

     27.3  30.2  7.7  19.6  21.3  6.0  7.7  —
 Impairment of assets  17.1  17.1  n/a  2.1  n/a  n/a  15.0  n/a

    $ 44.4 $ 47.3 $ 7.7 $ 21.7 $ 21.3 $ 6.0 $ 22.7 $ —
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5. Impairment of assets and restructuring costs (continued)

 Total 2009 2008
   Liability as at   Liability as at
 Charged  October 31, Charged  October 31, Charged
 to income Forecasted 2008 to income Paid 2009 to income Paid

c) Newspaper operations
 Media
 Workforce reduction costs $ 1.4 $ 1.4 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 1.4 $ 1.4
 Transfer of printing equipment and other costs  0.7  0.7  —  —  —  —  0.7  0.7
 Printing
 Workforce reduction costs  0.3  0.3  —  —  —  —  0.3  0.3

     2.4  2.4  —  —  —  —  2.4  2.4
 Media
 Impairment of assets  1.9  1.9  n/a  —  n/a  n/a  1.9  n/a

    $ 4.3 $ 4.3 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 4.3 $ 2.4

d) Marketing products printing operations
 Printing
 Workforce reduction costs $ 1.6 $ 1.6 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 0.2
 Transfer of printing equipment and other costs  0.7  0.7  —  —  —  —  0.2  0.2
 Marketing Communications
 Workforce reduction costs  1.8  1.8  —  —  —  —  —  1.2
 Transfer of printing equipment and other costs  1.7  1.7  —  —  —  —  0.2  0.2

     5.8  5.8  —  —  —  —  0.4  1.8
 Printing
 Impairment of assets  3.4  3.4  n/a  —  n/a  n/a  —  n/a
 Marketing Communications
 Impairment of assets  0.2  0.2  n/a  —  n/a  n/a  —  n/a

    $ 9.4 $ 9.4 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 0.4 $ 1.8

e) Toronto printing operations
 Workforce reduction costs $ 3.0 $ 3.0 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 0.6
 Transfer of printing equipment and other costs  1.0  1.0  —  —  —  —  —  —

     4.0  4.0  —  —  —  —  —  0.6
 Impairment of assets  0.2  0.2  n/a  —  n/a  n/a  —  n/a

    $ 4.2 $ 4.2 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 0.6

Total
 Workforce reduction costs     $ 7.7 $ 40.4 $ 34.1 $ 14.0 $ 9.4 $ 3.7
 Transfer of printing equipment and other costs      —  16.5  11.1  5.4  1.1  1.1
 Impairment of assets      n/a  21.1  n/a  n/a  16.9  n/a

        $ 7.7 $ 78.0 $ 45.2 $ 19.4 $ 27.4 $ 4.8
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6. Financial expenses

      2009  2008

Financial expenses on long-term debt  $ 37.1 $ 29.5
Other expenses   2.6  0.6
Foreign exchange loss   1.3  0.4

     $ 41.0 $ 30.5

7. Income taxes

      2009  2008
        (Note 2)

Statutory tax rate   30.9%  31.0%
Effect of foreign tax rate differences   (9.6)  (3.9)
Other    0.1  0.9

Effective tax rate before the following items:   21.4  28.0
 Effect of income tax rate differences on impairment of assets and restructuring costs (Note 5)   8.0  5.4
 Effect of income tax rate differences on impairment of goodwill and intangible assets (Notes 11 & 12)   (26.2)  45.8
 Effect of changes in statutory tax rates (a)   —  27.5
 Retroactive taxes (b)   —  17.6

Effective tax rate   3.2%  124.3%

a)  On December 13, 2007, Bill C-28 received third reading in the House of Commons. Accordingly, the federal corporate income tax rate reductions announced in the 
October 30, 2007 Economic Statement became substantively enacted for the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian 
GAAP. This decrease in federal tax rate reduced both the income tax expense and net future income tax liabilities by $7.0 million during the first quarter of 2008.

b)  During the second quarter of 2008, the Corporation entered into an agreement with the tax authorities and settled its obligation regarding Bill 15 (Quebec) enacted in 
June 2006 for an amount of $3.9 million. An amount of $8.4 million had been provided for in the third quarter of 2006 with regards to this obligation. A decrease of 
$4.5 million in current income tax expense has therefore been recorded to reflect this settlement.

Income tax expense (recovered) for the years ended October 31 is as follows:

      2009  2008
        (Note 2)

Current   $ 29.2 $ 35.2
Future
 Reduction of future income taxes related to impairment of assets and restructuring costs   (23.4)  (9.1)
 Reduction of future income taxes related to impairment of goodwill and intangible assets   (14.7)  (65.3)
 Increase in future income tax expense due to other temporary differences   6.2  7.5

     $ (2.7) $ (31.7)
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7. Income taxes (continued)

The tax impact of the temporary differences resulting in future income tax assets and liabilities are as follows as at October 31:

      2009  2008
        (Note 2)

Losses carried forward  $ 110.1 $ 91.8
Property, plant and equipment, net of tax credits   (42.5)  (44.1)
Other assets (liabilities)
 Non-deductible provisions   4.0  5.8
 Pension plans   3.5  8.5
 Intangible assets and goodwill   (0.3)  2.8
 Other   (7.6)  (4.9)

Total future income taxes  $ 67.2 $ 59.9

Future income taxes include the following:
 Future income tax assets - short-term  $ 11.9 $ 28.1
 Future income tax assets - long-term   165.8  141.0
 Future income tax liabilities - short-term   (0.5)  (9.9)
 Future income tax liabilities - long-term   (110.0)  (99.3)

Total future income taxes  $ 67.2 $ 59.9

The Corporation has unrecorded tax losses of $30.3 million, mainly in certain U.S. states, which matures between 2019 and 2029, that can be applied against future 
taxable income. The Corporation also has unrecorded capital losses of $17.1 million, which can be carried forward indefinitely.
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8. Accounts receivable

On February 17, 2009, the Corporation has extended its accounts receivable securitization agreement, put in place on August 17, 2001 until August 2010, whose maximum 
net consideration is $300.0 million, including a maximum of US$100.0 million. The securitization agreement is subject to conditions similar to those of the previous  
agreement. Under this agreement, the Corporation sells, on an continuous basis, some of its accounts receivable to a trust who has sold the beneficial rights to investors  
unrelated to the Corporation. The Corporation has retained servicing responsibilities, resulting in a 0.5% subordinated interest with respect to the transferred receivables. 
No asset or liability related to the management of accounts receivable has been recorded since the fees the Corporation receives are close to the associated costs. In 
addition, the Corporation has retained interest in the trust, including a cash reserve and rights to future excess cash flows generated by the trust. Retained interest is  
recorded in accounts receivable of the Corporation, and its fair value approximates the cost given the short period of recovery of the underlying receivables. The investors 
and the trust have no recourse on the Corporation’s other assets for failure of debtors to pay when due, other than the Corporation’s retained interest and an amount,  
not to exceed 3.5% of the net consideration received, related to the balance of certain significant customers in excess of the normal concentration limit specified in  
the agreement. During 2009 and 2008, there were no defaulted receivables repurchased or any deemed collections or defaulted receivables or dilution amounts  
compensated for by the Corporation.

The following table provides details of accounts receivable sold under this agreement:

 As at As at
 October 31, October 31,
 2009 2008

Accounts receivable sold  $ 240.3 $ 291.0
Retained interest   128.4  42.0

Net consideration  $ 111.9 $ 249.0

Net consideration in Canadian dollars  $ 77.3 $ 210.0
Net consideration in U.S. dollars (US$32 million in 2009 and 2008)  $ 34.6 $ 39.0

As at October 31, 2009, the maximum net consideration that the Corporation could have obtained in accordance with the agreement terms and conditions was  
$202.3 million ($249.0 million as at October 31, 2008).

9. Inventories

      2009  2008

Raw materials  $ 40.9 $ 58.4
Work in progress and finished goods   37.3  40.9

     $ 78.2 $ 99.3
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10. Property, plant and equipment

  Accumulated Net book  
2009 Cost amortization value

Land   $ 49.9 $ — $ 49.9
Buildings  326.9  85.4  241.5
Machinery and equipment  1,262.3  757.4  504.9
Machinery and equipment under capital leases  28.6  11.6  17.0
Other equipment  197.7  138.0  59.7
Leasehold improvements  42.2  25.3  16.9
Assets under construction and deposits on equipment  88.8  —  88.8

    $ 1,996.4 $ 1,017.7 $ 978.7

2008

Land   $ 50.8 $ — $ 50.8
Buildings  210.1  82.1  128.0
Machinery and equipment  1,201.2  793.5  407.7
Machinery and equipment under capital leases  34.3  10.6  23.7
Other equipment  199.3  140.5  58.8
Leasehold improvements  50.7  35.9  14.8
Assets under construction and deposits on equipment  252.9  —  252.9

    $ 1,999.3 $ 1,062.6 $ 936.7

For the year ended October 31, 2009, capitalized interest on property, plant and equipment amounted to $3.1 million ($4.7 million in 2008).
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11. Goodwill

The changes in book value of goodwill are as follows:

  Marketing  Other activities 
  Communications  and unallocated Total 
2009 Printing sector sector Media sector amounts Corporation

Balance, beginning of year $ 131.5 $ 202.8 $ 507.4 $ 0.9 $ 842.6
 Acquisitions (Note 23)  —  (1.3)  0.5  —  (0.8)
 Impairment  —  (166.5)  —  —  (166.5)
 Foreign currency translation adjustment  (0.3)  (1.6)  —  —  (1.9)

Balance, end of year $ 131.2 $ 33.4 $ 507.9 $ 0.9 $ 673.4

2008

Balance, beginning of year $ 281.5 $ 147.9 $ 504.3 $ 0.9 $ 934.6
 Acquisitions (Note 23)  —  49.0  3.1  —  52.1
 Impairment  (192.1)  —  —  —  (192.1)
 Foreign currency translation adjustment  42.1  5.9  —  —  48.0

Balance, end of year $ 131.5 $ 202.8 $ 507.4 $ 0.9 $ 842.6

During fiscal year 2009, the Corporation has conducted its annual impairment test of goodwill. In assessing whether or not there is an impairment, the Corporation uses 
a combination of approaches to determine the fair value of a reporting unit, including both the discounted cash flows and the market approaches. Under the market 
approach, the Corporation estimates the fair value of the reporting unit by multiplying normalized earnings before amortization, interest and income taxes by multiples 
based on market inputs. If there is an indication of impairment, the Corporation uses a discounted cash flow model in estimating it. The future cash flows are based on 
the Corporation’s estimates and include consideration for expected future operating results, economic conditions, savings associated with the restructuring plans and a 
general outlook for the industry in which the reporting unit operates.

Due to difficult economic conditions, the Corporation recorded, for the year ended October 31, 2009 an amount of $166.5 million as impairment of goodwill in the Marketing 
Communications sector, mostly related to commercial printing activities. For the year ended October 31, 2008, an amount of $192.1 million as impairment of goodwill has 
been recorded in the Printing sector, related to direct mail activities.
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12. Intangible assets

  Accumulated Net book  
2009 Cost amortization value

Amortizable intangible assets
 Customer relationships $ 35.2 $ 6.8 $ 28.4
 Educational books prepublication costs  51.9  34.0  17.9
 Educational book titles  20.0  10.9  9.1
 Acquired printing contracts  14.6  5.5  9.1
 Non-compete agreements  6.0  5.1  0.9
 Long-term technology project costs  12.7  7.8  4.9
 Other  2.6  2.1  0.5

     143.0  72.2  70.8

Non-amortizable intangible assets
 Trade names and circulation  110.4  —  110.4

    $ 253.4 $ 72.2 $ 181.2

2008

Amortizable intangible assets (Note 2)
 Customer relationships $ 26.8 $ 5.0 $ 21.8
 Educational books prepublication costs  44.1  28.2  15.9
 Educational book titles  20.1  7.5  12.6
 Acquired printing contracts  14.6  4.7  9.9
 Non-compete agreements  5.4  3.6  1.8
 Long-term technology project costs  4.4  3.1  1.3
 Other  9.6  8.9  0.7

     125.0  61.0  64.0

Non-amortizable intangible assets
 Trade names and circulation  120.1  —  120.1

    $ 245.1 $ 61.0 $ 184.1

During fiscal year 2009, the Corporation recorded an impairment of trade names of $9.9 million related to Business and Consumers Solutions Group in the Media sector, 
including $3.8 million resulting of restructuring initiatives presented in Note 5. During fiscal 2008, an impairment of intangible assets of $3.6 million was recorded in  
impairment of assets and restructuring costs related to direct mail activities in the Printing sector and is presented in Note 5.
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13. Other assets

      2009  2008
        (Note 2)

Contracts acquisition costs  $ 45.8 $ 52.7
Investments   1.0  0.6
Accrued pension benefit asset (Note 24)   6.1  4.8
Fair value of derivative financial instruments   7.7  0.3
Other    7.4  6.4

     $ 68.0 $ 64.8

14. Operating line of credit

Lenders of the Corporation and its subsidiaries are unsecured and rank equally. As at October 31, 2009, in addition to the term revolving credit facility disclosed in Note 
15, the Corporation had an authorized operating line of credit that amounted to $4.5 million. As at that date, the operating line of credit was not drawn. The line of credit 
bears interest at the bank prime rate, is payable on demand, not subject to any restrictive covenant and requires no commitment fee.
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15. Long-term debt

 Effective interest rate  
 as of October 31, 2009 Maturity 2009 2008

Unsecured Senior Notes
 Series 2002 A - Tranche 1 - 5.62% (US$75.0) 5.69% 2013 $ 81.1 $ 90.3
 Series 2002 A - Tranche 2 - 5.73% (US$50.0) 5.80% 2015  54.1  60.2
 Series 2004 A - LIBOR + 0.70% (US$37.5) 1.10% 2012  40.6  45.2
 Series 2004 B - LIBOR + 0.70% (US$37.5) 1.10% 2012  40.6  45.2
 Series 2004 C - LIBOR + 0.80% (US$15.0) 1.19% 2014  16.2  18.1
 Series 2004 D - LIBOR + 0.90% (US$10.0) 1.28% 2016  10.8  12.0
Unsecured Senior Debentures Series I - 6.05% —% —  —  100.0
Loans secured by property, plant and equipment having a net book value of $4.2 5.69% to 6.54% 2011-2014  4.3  5.6
Obligations under capital leases secured by property, plant and equipment  
 having a net book value of $19.1 3.30% to 8.00% 2010-2014  10.7  16.4
Revolving credit facility in Canadian dollars 2.68% 2012  170.0  210.0
Revolving credit facility in U.S. dollars (2009 - US$103.0; 2008 - US$157.0) 0.98% 2012  111.4  189.1
Unsecured Debentures - Solidarity Fund QFL
 Series 1 - 8.06% 8.21% 2014  50.0  —
 Series 2 - 6.77% 6.92% 2011  50.0  —
Term loan - SGF Rexfor Inc. - 8.25% 8.60% 2014  50.0  —
Term credit facility - Caisse de dépôt et placement du Québec
 Banker’s acceptance rate + 6.375% 7.21% 2014  100.0  —
Term loan - HypoVereinsbank - EURIBOR + 1.60% (€23.7 million) 3.99% 2015  37.7  —
Other loans at contractual rates of 0.00% to 8.00% 3.27% to 8.00% 2011-2016  6.2  6.9

       833.7  799.0
Issuance costs of long-term debt at amortized cost    6.9  2.6

Total long-term debt    826.8  796.4
Current portion    7.8  194.3

      $ 819.0 $ 602.1

The Series 2002 A Unsecured Senior Notes are redeemable at the greater of par value and the discounted value of future cash flows using an interest rate based on U.S. 
Treasury Securities, having similar maturities. Series 2004 A, 2004 B, 2004 C and 2004 D Unsecured Senior Notes are redeemable at their nominal value, except for Series 
2004 D, which is redeemable at a premium of 0.5% as of October 31, 2009. Under the Note Purchase Agreement, the Corporation must maintain certain financial ratios.

During the third quarter of fiscal 2009, Unsecured Senior Debentures totalling $ 100.0 million matured and were repaid out of the revolving term credit facility.
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15. Long-term debt (continued)

As at October 31, 2009, the Corporation had a committed line of credit in the form of a term revolving credit facility, totalling $550.0 million or the US dollar equivalent, 
divided in two tranches, A and B, of $400.0 million and $150.0 million, respectively. As at October 31, 2009, the Corporation had borrowed $131.4 million on Tranche A, 
including C$20.0 million and US$103.0 million, and $150.0 million on Tranche B. On December 4, 2009, the Corporation repaid and cancelled the Tranche B revolving 
credit facility of $150.0 million. The maturity of Tranche B was May 14, 2010. Henceforth, the term revolving credit facility of the Corporation will consist solely of Tranche A 
which matures in September 2012.

The applicable interest rate on Tranche A is based on the credit rating assigned by Standard & Poor’s. Depending on the form of borrowing chosen by the Corporation, it 
is currently either, bank prime rate, bankers’ acceptance rate + 0.615% or LIBOR + 0.615%. Facility fees of 0.135% are applicable on Tranche A, whether it is drawn or not, 
and utilization fees of 0.10% are applicable if the amount drawn is over 66 2/3% of Tranche A. This tranche may be renewed on an annual basis and, if not renewed, it 
matures five years after its issuance or the last renewal, as the case may be. The last renewal request sent by the Corporation has been approved by the bank syndicate 
and has been in force since August 30, 2007.

During the third quarter of fiscal 2009, the Corporation extended its revolving credit facility (‘’Tranche B’’) by 364 days. The renewal of a portion of $125.3 million was  
executed on May 5, 2009 and another portion of $24.7 million on July 14, 2009, for a total of $150 million. The applicable interest rate on Tranche B is based on the 
credit rating assigned by Standard & Poor’s. Depending on the form of borrowing chosen by the Corporation, the interest rate applicable as at October 31, 2009 was, 
either prime rate + 1.40%, bankers’ acceptance rate + 2.40% or LIBOR + 2.40%. Facility fees of 0.85% are applicable on Tranche B, whether it is drawn or not.

Under the terms and conditions of the credit agreement, the Corporation must comply with certain restrictive covenants, including the requirement to maintain certain 
financial ratios.

As of October 31, 2009, letters of credit amounting to C$0.5 million and US$4.1 million were drawn on the committed line of credit in addition to the amount presented 
above.

During the second quarter of fiscal 2009, the Corporation closed a private placement offering of $100.0 million comprised of two unsecured debentures of $50.0 million, 
with the Solidarity Fund QFL. The first has a term of five years and bears interest at a rate of 8.06%, payable every six months. The second has a term of 10 years and bears 
interest at a rate of 6.77%, payable every six months, for the first two years. The Solidarity Fund QFL may request that the Corporation repurchase the second debenture 
on its second anniversary. The rate for the last eight years will be negotiated in the six months preceding the second anniversary of the second debenture. The rate will 
be based on the Canada bonds rate for the same term plus a premium based on the Corporation’s credit rating. On August 5, 2009, the Corporation entered into a bond 
forward contract of $50.0 million, which matures on November 5, 2010, to lock the portion of the rate of the second debenture based on the Canada bonds rate at 4.34% 
for the last eight years of its 10-year term, beginning on its second anniversary.

During the third quarter of fiscal 2009, the Corporation concluded a five-year term loan of $50.0 million with SGF Rexfor Inc. The loan bears interest at 8.25%, payable 
every three months, based on the Corporation’s current credit rating assigned by Standard & Poor’s.

During the third quarter of fiscal 2009, the Corporation concluded a five-year credit facility of $100.0 million with Caisse de dépôt et placement du Québec. The facility 
bears interest at bankers’ acceptance rate + 6.37%, based on the Corporation’s current credit rating assigned by Standard & Poor’s. The Corporation has subsequently 
entered into two interest rate swaps of $50.0 million each to lock the rate for five years at 8.39%.

In the case of a change of control of the Corporation, the terms of conditions of the loans received from Solidarity Fund QFL, SGF Rexfor Inc. and Caisse de dépôt et  
placement du Québec, state that the principal and accrued interest could become due.

The term loan with SGF Rexfor Inc. and the credit facility from Caisse de dépôt et placement du Québec are redeemable after their second anniversary, at a penalty of 2% 
of the principal repaid on the third year, 1% on the fourth year and without any penalty thereafter. The two unsecured debentures of the Solidarity Fund QFL are redeemable 
following their second anniversary, at the higher of par value or the discounted value of future cash flows using an interest rate based on the yield of Canadian government 
bonds for a similar term.

During the third quarter of fiscal 2009, the Corporation concluded a six-year financing of €55.6 million ($88.4 million) with European bank HypoVereinsbank, to acquire 
various production equipment over the next two years. This financing will be drawn in tranches, based on equipment delivery dates. This financing is payable in equal 
instalments including principal plus interests, every six months from the date of the last payment, which cannot be later than July 2010 and it bears interest at EURIBOR + 
1.60%. On December 1st, 2009, the Corporation entered into a six-year cross currency swap agreement, to lock the exchange rate at 1.5761 and to convert the interest 
rate to banker’s acceptance rate plus 2.55%.
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15. Long-term debt (continued)

For the years ended October 31, 2009 and 2008, the Corporation has not been in default under any of its obligations.

Principal payments to be made by the Corporation in forthcoming years are as follows:

       Principal payments

2010      $ 7.8
2011       64.0
2012       372.4
2013       90.7
2014       226.0
2015 and thereafter     72.8

       $ 833.7

Minimum payments required under capital leases, included in the amounts presented above, are as follows:

 Principal Interest Minimum payments

2010   $ 4.9 $ 0.5 $ 5.4
2011    2.5  0.3  2.8
2012    1.2  0.1  1.3
2013    0.8  0.1  0.9
2014    1.3  —  1.3

    $ 10.7 $ 1.0 $ 11.7

16. Other liabilities

      2009  2008

Deferred subscription revenues  $ 4.3 $ 8.0
Long-term accrued liabilities   20.0  21.6
Accrued pension benefit liability (Note 24)   18.7  24.8
Asset retirement obligations   1.0  1.2
Fair value of derivative financial instruments   4.3  9.9

     $ 48.3 $ 65.5
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17. Share capital

Authorized (unlimited number)

Class A Subordinate Voting Shares: subordinate participating voting shares carrying one vote per share, no par value;

Class B Shares: participating voting shares carrying 20 votes per share, convertible into Class A Subordinate Voting Shares, no par value;

Preferred Shares:  first and second preferred shares, issuable in series in numbers limited by the Articles of Incorporation, carrying no voting rights 
except as provided by law or in the Corporation’s Articles of Incorporation, entitling the holder to cumulative dividends.

 2009 2008
Issued and paid Number of shares Amount Number of shares Amount

Participating shares
 Class A Subordinate Voting Shares 64,749,030 $ 357.9 64,243,743 $ 357.0
 Class B Shares 16,045,707  21.8 16,534,638  22.5

    80,794,737  379.7 80,778,381  379.5
Preferred Shares
 Cumulative 5-Year Rate Reset First Preferred Shares, Series D 4,000,000  96.8 —  —

     $ 476.5  $ 379.5

During fiscal years 2009 and 2008, the share capital of the Corporation changed as follows:

 2009 2008
 Number of shares Amount Number of shares Amount

Class A Subordinate Voting Shares
 Balance, beginning of year 64,243,743 $ 357.0 66,704,849 $ 372.1
  Conversion of Class B Shares into Class A Subordinate Voting Shares 488,931  0.7 367,034  0.5
  Redemption of shares —  — (2,894,100)  (16.2)
  Exercise of stock options 16,356  0.2 65,960  0.6

 Balance, end of year 64,749,030 $ 357.9 64,243,743 $ 357.0

Class B Shares
 Balance, beginning of year 16,534,638 $ 22.5 16,909,672 $ 23.0
  Conversion of Class B Shares into Class A Subordinate Voting Shares (488,931)  (0.7) (367,034)  (0.5)
  Redemption of shares —  — (8,000)  —

 Balance, end of year 16,045,707 $ 21.8 16,534,638 $ 22.5

Cumulative 5-Year Rate Reset First Preferred Shares, Series D
 Balance, beginning of year — $ — — $ —
  Issuance of shares 4,000,000  96.8 —  —

 Balance, end of year 4,000,000 $ 96.8 — $ —
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17. Share capital (continued)

On October 2, 2009, the Corporation issued 4,000,000 Cumulative 5-Year Rate Reset First Preferred Shares, Series D (the “Series D Preferred Shares”) for a gross amount 
of $100.0 million. The Series D Preferred Shares have a fixed cumulative annual dividend of 6.75% for the first five years, payable quarterly in January, April, July and  
October. As of October 15, 2014, the cumulative annual dividend will be equivalent to the 5-Year Government of Canada Bond Yield, plus 4.16% for the next five years. These 
Series D Preferred Shares are redeemable by the Corporation every five years and convertible (under certain conditions), to the holder’s option, in Cumulative Floating Rate 
First Preferred Shares (the “Series E Preferred Shares”), effective October 15, 2014, and every five years thereafter on that date. The Series E Preferred Shares will have a 
cumulative quarterly dividend equivalent to the yield of Treasury Bills of the Government of Canada maturing within three months plus 4.16%. These Series E Preferred 
Shares will be redeemable by the Corporation after five years and will be convertible (under certain conditions), to the holder’s option, into Series D Preferred Shares, as 
of October 15, 2019, and every five years subsequently at that date.

Redemption of shares
The Corporation was authorized to purchase for cancellation on the open market, between December 20, 2007 and December 19, 2008, up to 3,333,994 of its Class A 
Subordinate Voting Shares, representing 5% of the 66,679,889 issued and outstanding Class A Subordinate Voting Shares as at December 10, 2007, and up to 845,271 
of its Class B Shares, representing 5% of the 16,905,432 issued and outstanding Class B Shares as at December 10, 2007.

The Corporation was authorized to purchase for cancellation on the open market, between November 21, 2006 and November 20, 2007, up to 3,448,698 of its Class A 
Subordinate Voting Shares, representing 5% of the 68,973,966 issued and outstanding Class A Subordinate Voting Shares as at November 7, 2006, and up to 852,907 
of its Class B Shares, representing 5% of the 17,058,145 issued and outstanding Class B Shares as at November 7, 2006.

The purchases were made in the normal course of business at market prices through the facilities of the Toronto Stock Exchange in accordance with the requirements of 
the exchange.

During the fiscal years 2009 and 2008, the following redemptions have been made:

 2009 2008
 Number of Weighted  Number of Weighted
 shares average Total shares average Total
 purchased price consideration purchased price consideration

Class A Subordinate Voting Shares  — $ — $ — 2,894,100 $ 16.77 $ 48.5
Class B Shares  — $ —  — 8,000 $ 18.34  0.2

        $ —    $ 48.7

Book value     $ —    $ 16.2
Premium paid      —     32.5

        $ —    $ 48.7

Exercise of stock options
When officers and senior executives exercise their stock options, the amounts received from them are credited to share capital. For stock options granted since  
November 1, 2002, the amount previously accounted for as an increase to contributed surplus is also transferred to share capital. For the year ended October 31, 2009, 
the amount received was $0.2 million, and no amount was transferred from contributed surplus to share capital. For the year ended October 31, 2008, the amount  
received was $0.6 million and no amount was transferred from contributed surplus to share capital.
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18. Net income (loss) per share

The table below shows the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended October 31:

      2009  2008
        (Note 2)

Numerator
 Net income (loss) applicable to participating shares  $ (82.3) $ 6.6

Denominator (in millions)
 Weighted average number of participating shares - basic   80.8  81.7
 Weighted average number of dilutive options   —  0.1

 Weighted average number of participating shares - diluted   80.8  81.8

Net income (loss) per share - basic  $ (1.02) $ 0.08

Net income (loss) per share - diluted  $ (1.02) $ 0.08

In the calculation of the diluted earnings per share, 1,566,045 stock options were considered anti-dilutive as at October 31, 2009 (1,545,195 in 2008), since their exercise 
price was greater than the average value of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares during the period. Therefore, these stock options were excluded from the calculation.

19. Stock-based compensation plans

Stock option plan
The Corporation offers a stock option plan for the benefit of certain of its officers and senior executives. The number of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares authorized for 
issuance and the balance of shares that could be issued under this plan as at October 31, 2009 were 6,078,562 and 4,802,158, respectively. The stock options granted 
before March 31, 2005 start to vest after one year at a rate of 20% per year and must be exercised no later than ten years after the grant date. The stock options granted 
after March 30, 2005 start to vest after one year at a rate of 25% per year and must be exercised no later than seven years after the grant date. Under the plan, each 
stock option entitles its holder to receive one share upon exercise and the exercise price is determined using the weighted average price of all trades for the five days 
immediately preceding the grant of the stock option.

Stock-based compensation costs of $1.6 million and $2.1 million were charged to income and as an increase to contributed surplus of shareholders’ equity for fiscal 2009 
and 2008, respectively.
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19. Stock-based compensation plans (continued)

The table below summarizes the changes in outstanding stock options for the years ended October 31:

 2009 2008
  Weighted  Weighted  
 Number of average  Number of average 
 options exercise price options exercise price

Balance, beginning of year    1,820,621 $ 18.61 1,865,306 $ 18.79
 Granted    317,700  9.64 159,700  15.51
 Exercised    (16,356)  9.88 (65,960)  9.76
 Cancelled    (115,390)  19.15 (138,425)  21.64

Balance end of year    2,006,575 $ 17.23 1,820,621 $ 18.61

Options exercisable as at October 31    1,415,620 $ 18.65 1,219,691 $ 18.31

As at October 31, 2009, the balance of stock options available for grant under the plan was 2,795,583.

The table below summarizes the attributes of the outstanding stock options as at October 31:

 Options outstanding Options exercisable

 
   Weighted 
   average 
   remaining Weighted  Weighted 
 Exercise price Number of contractual life average Number of average 
 range  options (years) exercise price options exercise price

2009

    $ 8.85 -  11.13 570,700 4.1 $ 9.83 257,050 $ 10.06
    $ 15.51 -  24.01 1,435,875 3.9  20.17 1,158,570  20.55

        2,006,575 4.0 $ 17.23 1,415,620 $ 18.65

2008

    $ 8.85 -  11.13 275,426 2.6 $ 10.06 275,426 $ 10.06
    $ 15.51 -  24.01 1,545,195 5.0  20.14 944,265  20.72

        1,820,621 4.6 $ 18.61 1,219,691 $ 18.31
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19. Stock-based compensation plans (continued)

The table below summarizes the assumptions used to calculate the weighted average fair value of stock options granted on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes 
model as at October 31:

      2009  2008

Fair value of stock options  $ 3.90 $ 4.04
Assumptions:
 Dividend rate   1.4%  1.2%
 Expected volatility   32.2%  26.0%
 Risk-free interest rate   2.09%  3.65%
 Expected life   5 years  5 years

Share unit plan for senior executives
The Corporation offers a share unit plan to its senior executives under which deferred share units (“DSU”) and restricted share units (“RSU”) are granted. A portion of share 
units will vest based on performance targets and another portion of share units will vest based on tenure. DSUs and RSUs are recognized as a compensation expense 
on a straight-line basis, over the three-year vesting period based on forecasted attainment of targets. DSUs and RSUs are remeasured at intrinsic value at each reporting 
period, until settlement in the case of DSUs or until the vesting date in the case of RSUs, which corresponds to the settlement date, using the trading price of the Corporation’s 
Class A Subordinate Voting Shares. Intrinsic value variations are accounted for as compensation expense with a corresponding credit to accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet. Vested DSUs and RSUs will be paid, at the Corporation’s option, in cash or with Class A Subordinate Voting Shares of the 
Corporation purchased on the open market.

 DSU RSU
Number of units 2009 2008 2009 2008

Balance, beginning of year 103,282 165,592 221,357 26,507
 Units granted 44,081 — 384,865 194,850
 Units cancelled (20,674) (41,119) (57,414) —
 Units paid — (21,360) — —
 Dividends paid in units 1,181 169 — —

Balance, end of year 127,870 103,282 548,808 221,357

The expense recorded in the consolidated statement of income for the year ended October 31, 2009 and 2008 was $1.9 million and $1.0 million, respectively. No amount 
has been paid under the plan for the year ended October 31, 2009 ($0.4 million for the year ended October 31, 2008).
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19. Stock-based compensation plans (continued)

Share unit plan for directors
The Corporation offers a deferred share unit plan for its directors. Under this plan, directors may elect to receive either cash, deferred share units, or a combinaison  
of both for their compensation. When a director chooses to receive deferred share units, the Corporation credits the account of the director for a number of units equal  
to the deferred compensation divided by the fair value of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares at the date of grant. When the Corporation pays dividends on Class A  
Subordinate Voting Shares, the accounts of the directors are credited for the amount in the form of additional units. The variation in intrinsic value is recorded as a  
compensation expense with the counterpart in accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet. Following departure of a director of the  
Corporation, a cash payment equal to the intrinsic value of the accumulated deferred share units will be made.

Number of units 2009 2008

Balance, beginning of year 108,621 79,938
 Directors compensation 54,521 36,545
 Units paid — (9,627)
 Dividends paid in units 4,641 1,765

Balance, end of year 167,783 108,621

The expense (reversal) recorded in the consolidated statements of income for the year ended October 31, 2009 and 2008 was $0.8 million and $(0.2) million, respectively. 
No amount has been paid under the plan for the year ended October 31, 2009 ($0.2 million for the year ended October 31, 2008).

20. Contributed surplus

      2009  2008

Balance, beginning of year  $ 11.3 $ 9.2
Compensation costs relating to stock option plan (Note 19)   1.6  2.1

Balance, end of year  $ 12.9 $ 11.3
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21. Accumulated other comprehensive loss

 Foreign  Accumulated
 Currency Cash Other
 Translation Flow Comprehensive
 Adjustment Hedges Loss

Balance as at November 1, 2007 $ (42.3) $ 9.2 $ (33.1)
 Net change in unrealized gains (losses), net of income taxes  17.4  (25.0)  (7.6)

Balance as at October 31, 2008 $ (24.9) $ (15.8) $ (40.7)

 Change in accounting policies - Goodwill and intangible assets (Note 2)  (0.6)  —  (0.6)

Balance as at October 31, 2008 - restated  (25.5)  (15.8)  (41.3)
 Change in accounting policies - Credit risk and fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities (Note 2)  —  0.6  0.6

Balance as at November 1, 2008 - restated  (25.5)  (15.2)  (40.7)
 Net change in unrealized gains, net of income taxes  4.7  15.9  20.6

Balance as at October 31, 2009 $ (20.8) $ 0.7 $ (20.1)

As at October 31, 2009, the amounts expected to be reclassified to net income are as follows:

 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Total

Gains (losses) on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges $ (2.6) $ (0.2) $ 0.5 $ 1.6 $ 1.5 $ 0.8
Income taxes recovered (expensed)  0.7  0.1  (0.1)  (0.4)  (0.4)  (0.1)

    $ (1.9) $ (0.1) $ 0.4 $ 1.2 $ 1.1 $ 0.7

22. Cash flows

The changes in non-cash operating items are as follows:

             2009  2008

Accounts receivable         $ (143.6) $ 14.5
Income taxes receivable          0.4  (2.9)
Inventories          18.7  (4.5)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets          (4.1)  4.0
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities          (12.8)  (29.5)
Income taxes payable          (21.5)  12.4
Deferred subscription revenues and deposits          (5.8)  (6.9)

            $ (168.7) $ (12.9)

Additional Information
Interest paid         $ 38.8 $ 32.0
Income taxes paid         $ 43.8 $ 26.6
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23. Business acquisitions and disposals

2009

During the year ended October 31, 2009, the Corporation made the following acquisitions:

Operating sector Acquisitions Date of acquisition

Marketing Communications 100% of the shares of Conversys, first Canadian provider of electronic flyers. January 21, 2009

 75% of the shares of Redwood Custom Communications, North America’s leading November 18, 2008 
 custom communications provider.

Media 100% of the shares of That’s the spirit.com, marketing and promotions consulting company. December 12, 2008

Rastar, Inc.
During fiscal year 2009, adjustments were made to the purchase price allocation of Rastar, Inc., acquired September 4, 2008, to reflect the final valuation of the assets 
acquired and the final determination of the costs related to this acquisition. The table below presents these adjustments.

ThinData
During fiscal year 2009, adjustments were made to the purchase price allocation of ThinData, acquired March 11, 2008, to reflect the final valuation of the assets acquired 
and the final determination of the costs related to this acquisition. The amount of these adjustments is negligible.

The fair value of net assets acquired is summarized as follows:

 Rastar Other Total

Assets acquired
 Working capital $ (0.3) $ 2.6 $ 2.3
 Property, plant and equipment  (6.8)  2.0  (4.8)
 Goodwill (tax basis adjustment of $(7.1))  (7.1)  6.3  (0.8)
 Amortizable intangible assets  13.8  0.8  14.6
 Future income taxes  0.7  0.3  1.0

    $ 0.3 $ 12.0 $ 12.3

Liabilities assumed
 Long-term debt $ — $ 0.4 $ 0.4
 Other liabilities  1.3  0.3  1.6
 Future income taxes  (1.2)  0.6  (0.6)

     0.1  1.3  1.4

    $ 0.2 $ 10.7 $ 10.9

Consideration
 Cash paid $ 0.2 $ 10.8 $ 11.0
 Cash in acquired operations  —  (0.4)  (0.4)

     0.2  10.4  10.6

 Short-term liabilities  —  0.3  0.3

    $ 0.2 $ 10.7 $ 10.9
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23. Business acquisitions and disposals (continued)

Other
The purchase price allocation of all other acquisitions are preliminary and could change once the valuation of the assets acquired is completed and the final determination 
of the costs related to the acquisitions has been made.

PLM Group Ltd.
During fiscal year 2009, the Corporation paid an amount of $3.8 million, which was included in the short-term liabilities as at October 31, 2008.

2008

During the year ended October 31, 2008, the Corporation made the following acquisitions:

Operating sector Acquisitions Date of acquisition

Marketing Communications 100% of the shares of Rastar, Inc., a US-based direct marketing company that specializes in  
 interactive database marketing and variable data digital printing. September 4, 2008

 90% of the shares of ThinData, Canada’s leading permission-based email marketing services firm. March 11, 2008

Media 100% of the shares of L’express le journal d’ici, a French-language bi-monthly newspaper  
 serving the city of Saint-Lin-Laurentides, in Quebec. June 13, 2008

 Assets of Acquizition.biz, Canada’s largest Web-based platform for buying and selling businesses. May 7, 2008

 Assets of L’Autre Voix, weekly newspaper in the eastern Quebec City area. December 21, 2007

 Assets of Corriere Italiano, weekly newspaper serving the Italian community in Montreal area. December 18, 2007

 Assets of The Springhill-Parrsboro Record, weekly newspaper in Nova Scotia. November 23, 2007
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23. Business acquisitions and disposals (continued)

The fair value of net assets acquired is summarized as follows:

 Rastar PLM Other Total

Assets acquired
 Working capital $ (0.1) $ 2.5 $ 0.8 $ 3.2
 Property, plant and equipment  17.2  (0.4)  0.6  17.4
 Goodwill (tax basis of $40.6)  38.4  (3.4)  17.1  52.1
 Amortizable intangible assets  —  3.5  1.8  5.3
 Future income taxes  —  0.9  —  0.9
 Other assets  0.1  —  0.2  0.3

    $ 55.6 $ 3.1 $ 20.5 $ 79.2

Liabilities assumed
 Notes payable $ — $ — $ 1.2 $ 1.2
 Long-term debt  9.8  —  0.5  10.3
 Other liabilities  —  1.9  —  1.9
 Future income taxes  —  2.0  0.8  2.8

     9.8  3.9  2.5  16.2

    $ 45.8 $ (0.8) $ 18.0 $ 63.0

Consideration
 Cash paid $ 46.8 $ 3.3 $ 18.2 $ 68.3
 Cash in acquired operations  (1.1)  —  (1.8)  (2.9)

     45.7  3.3  16.4  65.4

 Short-term liabilities  0.1  (4.1)  0.1  (3.9)
 Long-term liabilities (bearing no interest)  —  —  1.5  1.5

    $ 45.8 $ (0.8) $ 18.0 $ 63.0

PLM Group Ltd.
During fiscal year 2008, adjustments were made to the purchase price allocation of PLM Group Ltd., acquired October 16, 2007, to reflect the final valuation of the  
assets acquired and the final determination of the costs related to this acquisition. The table above presents these adjustments. In addition, during fiscal year 2008, the 
Corporation acquired an additional 2% of the shares of PLM Group Ltd. for $1.9 million, which was included in non-controlling interest as at October 31, 2007.
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24. Pension plans

The Corporation offers various contributory and non-contributory defined benefit pension plans and defined contribution pension plans to its employees and those of its 
participating subsidiaries. For defined benefit pension plans, retirement benefits are generally based on years of service and employees’ compensation. Pension funding 
is based on actuarial estimates and is subject to limitations under applicable income tax and other regulations. Actuarial estimates prepared during the year were based 
on assumptions related to projected employee compensation levels to the time of retirement and the anticipated long-term rate of return on pension plan assets.

Accrued benefit obligation, fair value of plan assets and plan asset composition are measured at the date of the annual financial statements. The most recent actuarial 
valuation of the pension plans for funding purposes was made as of December 31, 2007. The next required valuation will be as of December 31, 2010, at the latest.

The composition of the pension plan assets is as follows:

      2009  2008

Canadian and foreign stocks   67%  57%
Government and corporate bonds   31  32
Cash and temporary investments   2  11

      100%  100%

The following table presents the changes in the accrued benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets, as well as the funded status of the defined benefit plans for 
the years ended October 31:

      2009  2008

Accrued benefit obligation
Balance, beginning of year  $ 297.8 $ 350.1
 Change in exchange rate   (0.3)  1.3
 Current service cost   12.9  19.0
 Interest on accrued benefit obligation   22.4  19.4
 Actuarial losses (gains)   20.3  (93.1)
 Benefits paid   (13.6)  (11.0)
 Plan amendments   (0.2)  —
 Plans compression   0.3  —
 Employee contributions   9.3  9.3
 Transfers from (to) other plans   (5.7)  2.8

Accrued benefit obligation, end of year  $ 343.2 $ 297.8
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24. Pension plans (continued)

      2009  2008

Fair value of plan assets
Balance, beginning of year  $ 252.1 $ 294.3
 Change in exchange rate   (0.2)  1.3
 Actual return on plan assets   39.1  (66.5)
 Benefits paid   (13.6)  (11.0)
 Employer contributions   24.5  21.9
 Employee contributions   9.3  9.3
 Transfers from (to) other plans   (4.2)  2.8

Fair value of plan assets, end of year  $ 307.0 $ 252.1

Plan deficit  $ (36.2) $ (45.7)
Unamortized net actuarial losses   20.8  22.6
Unamortized past service costs   —  0.1
Unamortized transitional obligation   2.8  3.0

Accrued benefit liability  $ (12.6) $ (20.0)

The accrued benefit asset (liability) is included in the Corporation’s balance sheet as follows:

      2009  2008

Other assets  $ 6.1 $ 4.8
Other liabilities   (18.7)  (24.8)

     $ (12.6) $ (20.0)

Accrued benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets as at October 31 are as follows with respect to plans that are not fully funded:

      2009  2008

Accrued benefit obligation  $ 327.7 $ 259.4
Fair value of plan assets   289.0  213.4

Funded status - plan deficit  $ (38.7) $ (46.0)
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24. Pension plans (continued)

The major assumptions used are as follows:

      2009  2008

Accrued benefit obligation as at October 31
Discount rate, at year-end   6.5%  7.25%
Rate of compensation increase   3.5 - 4.5%  4.0 - 5.0%

Benefit cost for years ended October 31
Discount rate, at previous year-end   7.25%  5.75%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets   7.50%  7.50%
Rate of compensation increase   4.0 - 5.0%  4.0 - 5.0%

The cost of the defined benefit pension plans recorded for the years ended October 31, is as follows:

      2009  2008

Current service cost  $ 12.9 $ 19.0
Interest on accrued benefit obligation   22.4  19.4
Actual return on plan assets   (39.1)  66.5
Actuarial losses (gains) on accrued benefit obligation   20.3  (93.1)
Losses on plans compression   1.2  —

Cost of defined benefit pension plans before adjustments to recognize the long-term nature  
 of employee future benefit cost  $ 17.7 $ 11.8
Adjustments to recognize the long-term nature of employee future benefit cost
 Difference between expected return and actual return on plan assets for the year   19.6  (89.0)
 Difference between actuarial losses (gains) recognized for the year and actual actuarial losses (gains)  
  on accrued benefit obligation for the year   (20.4)  93.0
 Difference between amortization of past service costs for the year and actual plan amendments effective for the year  0.1  0.1
 Amortization of the transitional obligation   0.1  0.1

Defined benefit cost recognized  $ 17.1 $ 16.0

The cost and total cash amount paid for the defined contribution pension plans for the years ended October 31 is as follows:

      2009  2008

Employer contributions  $ 3.2 $ 2.9

71662_p72_116_Ang.indd   107 1/8/10   3:57:37 AM



108

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended October 31, 2009 and 2008

(in millions of dollars, except per share data)

25. Commitments, guarantees and contingent liabilities

Commitments
The Corporation is committed under various leases of premises and contracts to acquire a building, machinery and equipment, to make payments until 2028. Minimum 
payments required over the following years for these commitments are as follows:

         2015
    2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 and thereafter Total

Premises lease contracts $31.8 $29.2 $25.5 $21.3 $17.6 $82.5 $207.9
Building, machinery and  
 equipment acquisition contracts 66.8 11.5 — — — — 78.3

    $98.6 $40.7 $25.5 $21.3 $17.6 $82.5 $286.2

Guarantees
In the normal course of business, the Corporation has provided the following significant guarantees to third parties:

a) Sub-lease agreements
The Corporation has entered into sub-lease agreements, for some of its locations under operating leases, with expiry dates between 2010 and 2014. If the sub-lessee 
defaults under any of these agreements, the Corporation must compensate the lessor for the default. The maximum exposure in respect of these guarantees is estimated 
at $1.9 million. As at October 31, 2009, the Corporation has not recorded any liability associated with these guarantees, since it is not probable that the sub-lessee will 
default under the agreement.

b) Indemnification of third parties
Under the terms of its debt agreements, the Corporation has agreed to indemnify the holders of such debt instruments against any increase in their costs or reduction in 
the amounts otherwise payable to them resulting from changes in laws and regulations. Furthermore, the Corporation provides certain indemnifications to third parties 
under the terms of its securitization agreement. These indemnifications require the Corporation to make payments to third parties in the event of (i) changes to certain 
laws and regulations, (ii) any collection shortfalls resulting from negative changes in foreign currency rates, and (iii) any litigation matters relating to the arrangement  
and/or underlying receivables sold. These indemnification agreements extend for the term of the agreements and do not have any limit. Given the nature of these  
indemnifications, the Corporation is unable to reasonably estimate its maximum potential liability payable to third parties. Historically, the Corporation has never made 
any indemnification payments and as at October 31, 2009, the Corporation has not recorded a liability associated with these indemnifications.

c) Business disposals
As a result of the sale of business operations or assets, the Corporation may occasionally agree to provide indemnity against claims from previous business activities. 
The nature of these indemnification agreements prevents the Corporation from estimating the maximum potential liability that it could be required to pay to guarantee 
parties. Historically, the Corporation has not made any significant indemnification payments, and, as at October 31, 2009, the Corporation has not recorded any liability 
associated with these indemnifications.

Contingent liabilities
In the normal course of business, the Corporation is involved in various claims and legal proceedings. Although the resolution of these various cases pending as at  
October 31, 2009, cannot be determined with certainty, the Corporation believes that their outcome would not likely have a material adverse effect on its financial position 
and operating results, given the provisions on its books or insurance covering a number of these items.
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26. Financial instruments

Credit risk
The Corporation is exposed to credit risk with respect to trade receivables. It is also exposed to credit risk as part of its ongoing activities relative to its cash and cash 
equivalents and derivatives assets.

The Corporation analyzes and reviews the financial health of its current customers on an ongoing basis and applies rigorous evaluation procedures to all new customers. 
A specific credit limit is established for each customer and reviewed periodically by the Corporation.

Due to the diversification of its products, its customers and its geographic coverage, the Corporation is protected against any concentration of credit risk. As at  
October 31, 2009, no single customer accounts for more than 5% of consolidated accounts receivable, and the Corporation’s 20 largest customers accounts for less than 
25% of its consolidated accounts receivable. As at October 31, 2009, the maximum credit risk exposure for receivables corresponds to their carrying value. The Corpora-
tion also has a credit insurance policy covering most of its major customers, for a maximum amount of $29.0 million. The policy contains the usual clauses and limits 
regarding the amounts that can be claimed by event and year of coverage. The Corporation did not file any claim against this credit insurance policy for the year period 
ended October 31, 2009.

The Corporation determines past due receivables by considering the type of clients, historical payment terms and in which sector the clients conduct business. On a 
quarterly basis, allowance for doubtful accounts and past due receivables are reviewed by management. The Corporation records impairment only on receivables for 
which the recoverability is not reasonably certain.

The Corporation is exposed to credit risk arising from derivative financial instruments if a counterparty fails to meet its obligations; however, it does not foresee such an 
occurrence since it deals only with recognized financial institutions with superior credit ratings. As at October 31, 2009, the maximum exposure to credit risk is $11.9 million 
($0.3 million as at October 31, 2008) which represents the carrying value of the financial instruments representing assets on the balance sheet of the Corporation.

    As at As at
    October 31 October 31
Past due accounts receivable 2009 2008

Not past due  $ 274.2 $ 155.8
Past due 1-60 days   19.6  17.8
Past due 61-90 days   5.2  4.9
Past due more than 90 days   13.4  12.5

      312.4  191.0
Allowance for doubtful accounts   (12.2)  (10.4)
Other receivables   30.5  26.5

     $ 330.7 $ 207.1

Allowance for doubtful accounts
Balance, beginning of year  $ 10.4 $ 10.1
 Bad debt expense   8.2  4.3
 Amounts written off and recoveries   (6.4)  (4.0)

Balance, end of year  $ 12.2 $ 10.4

Based on the historical payment trend of the customers, the Corporation believes that this allowance for doubtful accounts is sufficient to cover the risk of default.
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26. Financial instruments (continued)

Liquidity risk
The Corporation is exposed to liquidity risk with respect to accounts payable, long-term debt, derivatives and contractual obligations.

The table below presents the contractual maturities of financial liabilities as at October 31, 2009.

 Carrying Contractual 1 year   More than
 amount cash flows or less 1 - 3 years 3 - 5 years 5 years

Non-derivative financial liabilities
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (1) $ (373.7) $ (373.7) $ (373.7) $ — $ — $ —
 Long-term debt  (826.8)  (964.5)  (42.2)  (498.3)  (349.4)  (74.6)
 Long-term accounts payable (2)  (9.3)  (9.3)  —  (8.5)  (0.8)  —

    $ (1,209.8) $ (1,347.5) $ (415.9) $ (506.8) $ (350.2) $ (74.6)

Derivative financial liabilities
 Foreign exchange forward contracts
  Outflow $ — $ (128.2) $ (63.3) $ (64.9) $ — $ —
  Inflow  6.6  134.6  65.5  69.1  —  —
 Commodity swap agreements  (0.8)  (0.8)  (0.8)  —  —  —
 Interest rate swaps  (3.6)  (4.7)  (5.5)  (2.2)  3.0  —
 Bond forward  (1.3)  (1.3)  —  (1.3)  —  —
 Total return swap agreement  (0.1)  (0.1)  (0.1)  —  —  —

     0.8  (0.5)  (4.2)  0.7  3.0  —

    $ (1,209.0) $ (1,348.0) $ (420.1) $ (506.1) $ (347.2) $ (74.6)

(1) Excludes derivatives
(2) Excludes non-financial liabilities

The Corporation believes that future cash flows generated by operations and access to additional liquidity through capital and banking markets will be adequate to meet 
its financial obligations. In addition, the Corporation has concluded long-term contracts with most of its major customers. These contracts contain cost-escalation clauses 
equivalent to those required by the Corporation’s suppliers.

Interest rate risk
The Corporation is exposed to market risks related to interest-rate fluctuations. In order to mitigate this risk, the Corporation aims to maintain an adequate balance of 
fixed versus floating rate debt. As at October 31, 2009, the floating rate portion of long-term debt represented 63% (65% as at October 31, 2008) of the total while the fixed 
rate portion represented 37% (35% as at October 31, 2008).

The Corporation is also exposed to interest rate fluctuations through its securitization program, since the discount on the sale of accounts receivable is based on the rate 
of the commercial paper issued by the trust. The trust generally issues its commercial paper on a monthly basis.

As at October 31, 2009, in order to mitigate the interest rate risk, the Corporation entered into interest rate swap agreements on long-term debt denominated in Canadian 
dollars, on a notional amount of $225.0 million, including $125.0 million maturing in September 2012 and $100.0 million maturing in May 2014. These swap agreements 
convert the variable interest rate, based on bankers’ acceptance rate, into an average fixed interest rate of 6.16% including the applicable margin. Considering the effect 
of these derivative financial instruments, the floating rate portion of long-term debt represented 36% of the total while the fixed portion represented 64%. Hedging  
relationships were effective and in accordance with the risk management objectives and strategies throughout fiscal year 2009.
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26. Financial instruments (continued)

During fiscal 2009, the Corporation entered into a bond forward contract of $50.0 million, which matures on November 5, 2010, to fix the portion of the rate of the second 
debenture issued to Solidarity Fund QFL based on the Canada bonds rate at 4.34% for the last eight years of its 10-year term, beginning on its second anniversary.

For the years ended October 31, 2009 and 2008, all things being equal, the following variation in interest rates would have had the following impact on net income and 
on other comprehensive loss:

 Year ended Year ended
 October 31, 2009 October 31, 2008

  Other  Other
 Net  comprehensive Net  comprehensive
 income loss income loss

Increase of 1.00% in interest rate $ (2.8) $ 8.3 $ (4.4) $ 3.2
Decrease of 0.25% in interest rate 0.7 (2.1)  1.1  (0.8)

Foreign exchange risk
The Corporation has operations in the United States and Mexico, exports its products to the United States and purchases machinery and equipment in U.S. dollars  
and Euros. In addition, as at October 31, 2009, the Corporation has long-term debt in U.S. dollars and Euros for a total amount of US$331.9 million and €23.7 million 
(US$388.0 million and no amount in euros as at October 31, 2008) . The Corporation is therefore exposed to foreign exchange risk.

To mitigate the foreign exchange risk related to its exports to the United States, the Corporation enters into foreign exchange forward contracts. As at October 31, 2009, 
the Corporation entered into foreign exchange forward contracts to sell US$118.0 million, (US$136.0 million as at October 31, 2008) of which US$64.0 million, US$39.0 million 
and US$15.0 million will be sold in fiscal years 2010, 2011 and 2012, respectively. The terms of these forward contracts range from one month to 25 months, with rates 
varying from 1.0156 to 1.2946. As at October 31, 2009, the Corporation was not party to any collar (US$6.0 million as at October 31, 2008). Hedging relationships were 
effective and in accordance with the risk management objectives and strategies throughout the year 2009.

For the years ended October 31, 2009 and 2008, all things being equal, an hypothetical strengthening of 10.0% of the U.S. dollar and Euro against the Canadian dollar 
would have had the following impact on net income and on other comprehensive loss:

 Year ended Year ended
 October 31, 2009 October 31, 2008

  Other  Other
 Net  comprehensive Net  comprehensive
 income loss income loss

U.S. dollar $ 1.5 $ (8.7) $ 7.4 $ (10.8)
Euro    (3.2)  —  —  (0.1)

A hypothetical weakening of 10.0% of the U.S. dollar and Euro against the Canadian dollar would have the opposite impact on net income and other comprehensive loss.
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26. Financial instruments (continued)

Stock-based compensation costs risk
The Corporation is exposed to a financial risk related to stock-based compensation costs. Potential fluctuations in its Class A Subordinate Voting Share price would have 
an impact on the charge related to its share unit plan as described in Note 19. During the first quarter of fiscal 2007, the Corporation entered into a total return swap 
agreement with a financial institution in order to minimize this financial risk. The Corporation now receives or pays, on a quarterly basis, the difference between the fixed 
share price of the total return swap and the Class A Subordinate Voting Share price, less any amount previously received or paid. During the second quarter of fiscal 2008, 
the Corporation modified the total return swap to increase the total number of share units covered by the total return swap. As at October 31, 2009, the total return swap 
agreement covered 154,000 Class A Subordinate Voting Shares at an average fixed price of $20.01. The remaining term of this total return swap agreement is 27 months, 
with an option to terminate it before its maturity date without any penalty. 

The fair value of the swap agreement is recorded in the Corporation’s consolidated balance sheet with changes in fair value recognized in net income.

For the years ended October 31, 2009 and 2008, all things being equal, an hypothetical strengthening or weakening of 5.0% of the Class A Subordinate Voting Share price 
would have had a negligible impact on net income and other comprehensive income (loss).

Fair value
The book value of certain financial instruments maturing in the short-term approximates their fair value. These financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, 
accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The table below shows the fair value and the book value of other financial instruments as at October 31, 
2009 and 2008. The fair value is determined essentially by discounting cash flows or quoted market prices. The fair values calculated approximate the amounts for which 
the financial instruments could be settled between consenting parties, based on current market data for similar instruments. Consequently, as estimates must be used 
to determine fair value, they must not be interpreted as being realizable in the event of an immediate settlement of the instruments.

 2009 2008
 Fair value Book value Fair value Book value

Long-term debt $ 838.6 $ 826.8 $ 788.6 $ 796.4
Foreign exchange forward contracts  6.6  6.6  16.9  16.9
Commodity swap agreements  (0.8)  (0.8)  (0.2)  (0.2)
Interest rate swap agreements  (3.6)  (3.6)  (4.7)  (4.7)
Bond forward  (1.3)  (1.3)  —  —
Total return swap agreement  (0.1)  (0.1)  (0.1)  (0.1)

Fair value hierarchy
The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have been defined as follows:

Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 -  Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived  

from prices)
Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data

2009 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Foreign exchange forward contracts $ — $ 6.6 $ — $ 6.6
Commodity swap agreements  —  (0.8)  —  (0.8)
Interest rate swap agreements  —  (3.6)  —  (3.6)
Bond forward  —  (1.3)  —  (1.3)
Total return swap agreement  —  (0.1)  —  (0.1)

    $ — $ 0.8 $ — $ 0.8

71662_p72_116_Ang.indd   112 1/8/10   3:57:56 AM



113

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended October 31, 2009 and 2008

(in millions of dollars, except per share data)

27. Capital management

The Corporation’s primary objectives in managing capital are to: 

    Optimize leverage position by targeting a net debt (including utilization of the securitization program) to operating income before amortization, impairment of 
assets, restructuring costs and impairment of goodwill and intangible assets ratio between 2.0 and 2.5;

    Maintain an investment grade credit rating;

    Preserve its financial flexibility in order to benefit from potential opportunities as they arise.

The Corporation manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.

The Corporation now uses as a main indicator to measure leverage the net debt (including utilization of the securitization program) to operating income before  
amortization, impairment of assets, restructuring costs and impairment of goodwill and intangible assets ratio. For calculation purposes, net debt refers to long-term 
debt, current portion of long-term, debt plus bank overdraft and utilization of the securitization program, less cash and cash equivalents.

As at October 31, 2009, the net debt (including utilization of the securitization program) to operating income before amortization, impairment of assets, restructuring costs 
and impairment of goodwill and intangible assets ratio was 2.59. As at October 31, 2008, the same ratio was 2.64. The variation of this ratio was mainly due, first, by the 
reduction of net debt related to the issuance of preferred shares and the Canadian dollar appreciation, which offset the increase in debt from the important program of 
capital investments and, secondly, the decrease in operating income before amortization, impairment of assets, restructuring costs and impairment of goodwill and  
intangible assets.

For the year ended October 31, 2009, the Corporation has not been in default under any of its obligations regarding the term revolving credit facility, the securitization 
program and other financial obligations.

28. Segmented information

At the beginning of the fiscal year, the Corporation announced the implementation of a new operating structure to support its growth strategy by creating the Marketing 
Communications sector. The operating sectors were modified to reflect the implementation of this new operating structure. The comparative figures have been reclassified 
in order to present the information in accordance with the new operating structure.

Sales between sectors of the Corporation are measured at the exchange amount. Transactions, other than sales, are measured at carrying value.

      2009  2008
Operating sectors     (Note 2)

Revenues
 Printing sector  $ 1,405.6 $ 1,536.7
 Marketing Communications sector   373.5  341.7
 Media sector   607.0  645.3
 Other activities and unallocated amounts   7.7  13.1
 Inter-segment sales
  Printing sector   (71.3)  (80.5)
  Marketing Communications sector   (9.6)  (7.8)
  Media sector   (18.3)  (19.2)

 Total inter-segment sales   (99.2)  (107.5)

     $ 2,294.6 $ 2,429.3
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28. Segmented information (continued)

      2009  2008
Operating sectors     (Note 2)

Operating income before amortization, impairment of assets,
 restructuring costs and impairment of goodwill and intangible assets
 Printing sector  $ 224.2 $ 230.5
 Marketing Communications sector   24.0  33.1
 Media sector   110.4  118.2
 Other activities and unallocated amounts   (9.3)  (20.3)

     $ 349.3 $ 361.5

Operating income (loss)
 Printing sector  $ 88.8 $ (67.3)
 Marketing Communications sector   (186.1)  9.4
 Media sector   76.7  98.7
 Other activities and unallocated amounts   (18.1)  (26.5)

     $ (38.7) $ 14.3

Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment (1)

 Printing sector  $ 210.4 $ 237.1
 Marketing Communications sector   14.0  15.0
 Media sector   10.5  14.9
 Other activities and unallocated amounts   7.0  6.1

     $ 241.9 $ 273.1

Amortization of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
 Printing sector  $ 86.1 $ 82.6
 Marketing Communications sector   26.7  23.6
 Media sector   17.1  15.6
 Other activities and unallocated amounts   7.5  5.9

     $ 137.4 $ 127.7

(1) These amounts represent total expenditures made to acquire property, plant and equipment, whether they are paid or not
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28. Segmented information (continued)

      As at  As at
      October 31,  October 31,
      2009  2008
Operating sectors     (Note 2)

Assets
 Printing sector  $ 1,470.2 $ 1,277.3
 Marketing Communications sector   301.6  479.2
 Media sector   763.9  774.1
 Other activities and unallocated amounts   14.0  84.4

     $ 2,549.7 $ 2,615.0

      2009  2008
Geographical regions     (Note 2)

Revenues
 Canada
   Within Canada  $ 1,744.9 $ 1,836.8
   Exports   207.3  215.0

      1,952.2  2,051.8

 United States and Mexico   342.4  377.5

     $ 2,294.6 $ 2,429.3

Operating income before amortization, impairment of assets,
 restructuring costs and impairment of goodwill and intangible assets
 Canada  $ 326.5 $ 338.7
 United States and Mexico   22.8  22.8

     $ 349.3 $ 361.5

Operating income (loss)
 Canada  $ 3.5 $ 231.6
 United States and Mexico   (42.2)  (217.3)

     $ (38.7) $ 14.3
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      As at  As at
      October 31,  October 31,
      2009  2008
Geographical regions     (Note 2)

Assets
 Canada  $ 2,097.1 $ 2,106.3
 United States and Mexico   452.6  508.7

     $ 2,549.7 $ 2,615.0

Property, plant and equipment
 Canada  $ 648.9 $ 710.8
 United States and Mexico   329.8  225.9

     $ 978.7 $ 936.7

Goodwill
 Canada  $ 670.0 $ 795.1
 United States and Mexico   3.4  47.5

     $ 673.4 $ 842.6

29. Subsequent events

Reorganization of operating structure
On November 1st, 2009, following a strategic review conducted with senior managers to consolidate Transcontinental’s leading position in the printing, media and  
marketing communications markets, management has decided to transfer all of its Canadian commercial printing activities from the Marketing Communications Sector 
to the Printing Sector. This consolidation of the printing activities in one sector and the concentration of the marketing communications multiplatform integrated solutions 
in another sector will accelerate the development of Transcontinental’s new products and services for customers and strengthen its position in its core activities.

Ontario Corporate income tax rate reduction
On November 16, 2009, the Ontario Tax Plan for More Jobs and Growth Act (2009), Bill 218 received first reading in the Legislative Assembly of Ontario. Accordingly, the 
corporate tax rate reductions announced in the March 26, 2009 Ontario budget became substantively enacted for the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian GAAP. This future decrease in provincial tax rate will reduce both the income tax expense and net future income tax liabilities 
by approximately $2.4 million during the first quarter of fiscal 2010.

Hedging on debt in euro currency
On December 1st, 2009, the Corporation entered into a cross currency swap agreement, with a maturity of six years, to lock the exchange rate and convert the interest 
rate on a term loan of €55.6 million concluded with European bank HypoVereinsbank, bearing interest at EURIBOR plus 1.60%. This instrument locks the exchange rate 
at 1.5761 and converts the interest rate to the bankers’ acceptance rate plus 2.55%.

Repayment of the Tranche B of the revolving credit facility
On December 4, 2009, the Corporation reimbursed and cancelled Tranche B of the term revolving credit of $150.0 million. This tranche would have matured on May 14, 
2010. Henceforth, the Corporation’s term revolving credit now consists of Tranche A of $400 million which matures in September 2012

30. Comparative figures

Certain prior year figures have been reclassified to conform with the current year presentation.
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François R. Roy 1 

Vice Principal (Administration and Finance), McGill University

Lino A. Saputo, Jr. 3 

President and Chief Executive Officer, Saputo Inc. 

André Tremblay 2 

Managing Partner, Trio Capital Inc. 

1 Member of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors  
2  Member of the Human Resources and Compensation Committee of   

the Board of Directors
3 Member of the Corporate Governance Committee of the Board of Directors  
4 Lead Director of the Board of Directors  

Corporate Senior Management

François Olivier 

President and Chief Executive Officer

André Bolduc 

Director of Internal Audit

Jean Denault 

Vice President, Procurement and Technology

Christine Desaulniers 

Vice President, Chief Legal Officer and Secretary

Julien Houle 

Vice President, Human Resources

Benoît Huard 

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Isabelle Lamarre 

Director, Legal Affairs and Assistant Corporate Secretary

Natalie Larivière 

President, Media Sector

Donald LeCavalier 

Treasurer

Isabelle Marcoux 

Vice Chair of the Board and Vice President,  

Corporate Development

Jennifer F. McCaughey 

Director, Investor Relations

Sylvain Morissette 

Vice President, Corporate Communications

Brian Reid 

President, Printing Sector

Christian Trudeau 

President, Marketing Communications Sector
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Mission

To develop value-added products and services along with multiple delivery channels in order to 

reach consumers and build loyalty more effectively. To optimize the interests of our employees, our 

customers and our shareholders.

Guiding Principles

To listen to our customers, anticipate their needs and exceed their expectations. 

To make innovation central to our business practices while remaining in the forefront of trends and 

new technologies. 

To promote the development of our employees, their ability to adapt to change and their commit-

ment to continually improving our processes and practices. 

To pursue our development through acquisitions and organic growth while creating value for 

shareholders and maintaining a disciplined approach to financial management. 

To be in the vanguard in matters of social responsibility and corporate governance.

Corporate Governance

Transcontinental believes that sound corporate governance is important to running an efficient  

operation. For a detailed description of the Corporation’s governance practices, see the Manage-

ment Proxy Circular.

MAIN ADDRESSES

Head Office
Transcontinental Inc.

1 Place Ville Marie, Suite 3315

Montreal, Quebec, Canada  H3B 3N2

Telephone: 514 954-4000

Fax: 514 954-4016

www.transcontinental.com

Sector General Management Offices
Transcontinental Printing

8 Tidemore Avenue

Etobicoke, Ontario, Canada  M9W 5H4

Telephone: 416 741-1900

Fax: 416 401-2220

Transcontinental Marketing Communications

1 Place Ville Marie, Suite 3315

Montreal, Quebec, Canada  H3B 3N2

Telephone: 514 954-4000

Fax: 514 954-4016

Transcontinental Media

1100 Rene-Levesque Blvd. West, 24th Floor

Montreal, Quebec, Canada  H3B 4X9

Telephone: 514 392-9000

Fax: 514 392-1489
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ReseaRch & Development 

Printing
In light of the economic situation, considerable R&D has been initiated in Printing Sector business units. Our technical staff are working 

with prepress technologies, printing plates, papers, inks, fountain solutions, blankets and the mechanical and electrical components 

of our presses and peripherals to improve overall performance and reduce operating costs. Major experimental development projects 

have also been taking shape during the year. We are developing new hybrid printing processes using technologies that in the past 

have been quite separate. We are also introducing new capabilities that will significantly enhance the quality of our newspapers and 

weekly publications through the use of UV curable inks.

Media
In the Media sector we are developing the business strategies and technologies required to profit from emerging Internet concepts, 

such as Web 2.0. These new approaches enable us to include the Internet, as well as new distribution channels such as direct  

marketing, in a comprehensive strategy to attract readers and achieve appropriate advertising positioning for our customers. And we 

are now ramping up technologies that will combine geolocation federation and advertising content in a new and friendly way that 

goes far beyond usual practices in this area.

Marketing Communications
The Marketing Communications Sector is a beehive of activity. We are further developing the technologies required to offer our  

customers Web-to-print functions and innovative variable print capabilities. We are also refining applications for the mass mailing of 

personalized emails to reach target consumers through the Web. Plus, we are deploying state-of-the-art technologies that will enable 

our customers to multiply the channels they can use to deliver their content, starting with a single basic advertising item. A concrete 

example of this is reusing the contents of a flyer and posting the material “as is” on a website, with a minimum of human intervention. 

We are also working on ways to use the new social networks as channels for reaching consumers. 
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Duplicate Communications

Some shareholders may receive more than one copy of 

publications such as quarterly financial statements and the 

Annual Report. Every effort is made to avoid such duplication. 

Shareholders who receive duplicate mailings should advise  

CIBC Mellon Trust Company at 1 800 387-0825.

Shareholders, Investors  
and Analysts

For further financial information or to order supplementary 

documentation about the Corporation, please contact the 

Investor Relations Department or visit the “Investors” section of 

Transcontinental’s web site at www.transcontinental.com

Information

This annual report is also available in the “Investors” section of 

Transcontinental’s Web site. The list of Transcontinental’s business 

units is available on the Corporation’s Web site.

Des exemplaires en français du rapport annuel, de la notice 

annuelle, des rapports de gestion et des états financiers 

trimestriels sont disponibles sur demande en communiquant 

avec le Service des relations avec les investisseurs ainsi qu’au 

www.transcontinental.com

Notice of Annual Meeting of 
Shareholders

Transcontinental Inc.’s Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be 

held at 10:00 a.m. on February 18, 2010, at Salon Windsor of 

the Le Windsor building, 1170 Peel Street, Montreal, Quebec, 

Canada.

Media

For general information about the Corporation, please contact 

the Corporate Communications Department.

Fiscal year-end: October 31

Fiscal quarter-end: January 31, April 30, July 31 and October 31

Stock listing: Class A Subordinate Voting Shares, Class B Shares 

and Cumulative 5-Year Rate Reset First Preferred Shares, Series D 

are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the trading 

symbols TCL.A, TCL.B and TCL.PR.D, respectively.

Investor Relations Department: 514 954-4000,  

investorrelations@transcontinental.ca

Transfer agent and registrar: CIBC Mellon Trust Company,  

2001 University Street, Suite 1600, Montreal, Quebec  H3A 2A6,  

1 800 387-0825

This annual report is printed on Classic 

Crest and Classic Laid, 100% post consumer 

recycled papers that are certified by the 

Forest Stewardship Council (FSC). The inks 

used do not contain any solvents and the 

water-based dampening solution is alcohol-

free. Note also that the Transcontinental 

Litho Acme printing plant is FSC certified.

Printed in Canada

Production of 

Annual Report

Project management: 
Corporate  

Communications 

Department of 

Transcontinental

Graphic design and 
artistic direction: 
Susan Séguin

Photography: 

Pierre Charbonneau

Writing: 
Jean Blouin  

Strategic  

Communications Inc. 

Translation: 
Lucille Nelson

Printing: 
Transcontinental  

Litho Acme
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